Ton Langeveld

# Adductor Spasmodic Dysphonia

Ton Langeveld

Adductor Spasmodic Dysphonia

# Adductor Spasmodic Dysphonia

## Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Dr. D.D. Breimer, hoogleraar in de faculteit der Wiskunde en Natuurwetenschappen en die der Geneeskunde, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 21 maart 2001 te klokke 16.15 uur

doo

Antonius Petrus Maria Langeveld geboren te Leiden in 1962

# Promotiecommissie

Promotor: Prof. Dr. R.J. Baatenburg de Jong

Referent: K. Izdebski, F.K., M.A., Ph.D., C.C.C., FASHA

Overige leden: Prof. Dr. J.J. Grote Prof. Dr. H. Beukers Dr. J.G. van Dijk

# Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction	9
1.1 General introduction	9
1.2 Spasmodic dysphonia: a review	
1.3 Outline of the thesis	59
Chapter 2	
Perceptual characteristics of adductor spasmodic dysphonia	
Chapter 3 ·····	
Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in	
adductor spasmodic dysphonia	
Chapter 4	
Evaluation of voice quality in adductor spasmodic dysphonia	
before and after botulinum toxin treatment	
Chanter 5	
Adductor spasmodic dysphonia and botulinum toxin treatment	113
the effect on well-being	
Chapter 6	129
Transcranial magnetic stimulation in adductor spasmodic dysphonia	
Chapter 7	139
Summary and conclusions / Samenvatting en conclusies	
Chapter 8	
Final comments	
Acknowledgements	······ 1 <b>5</b> 5
Curriculum Vitae	

# General introduction

1.1

.11

gesture and facial expression constitutes an integral part of the communication process. Thus, the total communication process consists of a number of modules, both on the speaker's side (initial concept, linguistic processing, and eventual production) and the listener's side (reception, recognition, and comprehension of the message).

As was already pointed out, speech and language functions are of fundamental human significance, both in social interaction and in private intellectual life. When they are disturbed, the resultant functional loss exceeds all others in gravity – even blindness, deafness, and paralysis.<sup>3</sup> Trauma, disease, or defect can have a devastating effect on one or more of the aforementioned modules. For example, aphasia or dysphasia can lead to a loss or impairment of the production and/or the comprehension of spoken or written language due to an acquired lesion of the brain. Another example is dysarthria, a defect in articulation, which is a pure motor disorder of the muscles of articulation and may be due to flaccid or spastic paralysis, rigidity, repetitive spasms, or ataxia. In contrast, articulation in head and neck cancer patients is often largely and irreversibly affected by the tumor and/or treatment.

Similarly, a disorder of the larynx or its innervation can result in aphonia or dysphonia. Articulation and language are unaffected, but the soundsource is. How seriously this can disturb speech, communication, and ultimately one's life, is illustrated most clearly by adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD), in which vocal function becomes both unpredictable and unreliable. The impaired communication of patients with ADSD often results in withdrawal from social life and isolation. On top of this, many patients are initially diagnosed as having a psychogenic voice disorder, with social stigmatization as a consequence. Moreover, due to this misdiagnosis, therapy fails and many patients resort to alternative treatment modalities and "medical shopping". Depression and anxiety, feelings of frustration and negative attitudes towards communication, often accompanied with somatic complaints, are frequently observed in patients with spasmodic dysphonia.

In the late 1980's at the ENT-department of the Leiden University Medical Center a new treatment modality was developed for genuine psychogenic voice disorders: visualization.<sup>4</sup> The favorable results of this newly employed method were spread by word of mouth. As the effect was so spectacular, some cases were reported in the popular press. This media exposure elicited a stream of patients to our department. From 1992 until 1997 about 600 patients with a presumed psychogenic voice disorder were seen for a second opinion. In more than 500

10

Communication cannot occur in isolation. It is essentially a dynamic process of interaction between two or more people, in which thoughts, ideas and feelings are exchanged. For the exchange to be effective each participant has to conform to the rules which govern communicative 'competence' and 'performance'.<sup>2</sup> 'Competence' presumes that the speaker 'knows' what he or she wishes to say (i.e. has access to an intact cognitive system). It also presumes that the speaker has access to a means of 'saying it', via intact phonological, lexical, syntactic, and prosodic processes. Successful 'performance' is dependent upon the relay of information in a manner which is intelligible to the listener. This depends on the fine motor coordi-

nation of respiration, phonation, and articulation. Non-verbal behavior such as

#### Chapter 1.1

In 1965, Bloch<sup>1</sup> wrote: "Man is distinguished among the other biological systems by the prodigious extension of his faculty of communication. Homo faber, homo loquens, homo sapiens, are the three essential qualifications that ethnology attributed to him. Man's primary means of communication is speech. He is unique among life forms in his ability to acquire and use speech." It is even more remarkable that he has derived this ability from a physiological apparatus primarily designed for other purposes: the vital functions of breathing and eating. patients the psychogenic nature of their disorder was confirmed. However, 86 patients were diagnosed as having adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Encouraging results were reported in literature on the effect of botulinum toxin treatment for spasmodic dysphonia. These findings initiated the research and treatment of this group in our department. The results of these observations and experiments are reported in this thesis.

## References

- 1. Bloch P. Neuro-psychiatric aspects of spastic dysphonia. Folia Phoniatrica 1965;17:301-64.
- Davies E, Powell J. Disorders of communication in the elderly. In: Pathy MSJ ed. Principles and Practice of Geriatric Medicine, 2nd Edition. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 1991:883-93.
- Adams RD. Disorders of speech and language. In: Adams RD, Victor M, Ropper AH eds.
   Principles of Neurology, 6th Edition. New York, McGraw-Hill, 1997:472-93.
- Drost HA. Psychogene stemstoornissen, een retrospectief onderzoek bij 330 patiënten met speciale aandacht voor de visualisatiemethode als een symptoom-gerichte stembehandeling. Proefschrift, Leiden, 1992.

You is a first of the second of the secon

In the late 1980's in the ENT department of the tolders University Medical Contenarrow leadingst modulity was devisoped for genance psychogenic volca alroaders, we not black on match is the affect was an inordipcular, come cases when ognined in the popular mark is the affect was an inordipcular, come cases when ognined in the popular mark is the affect was an inordipcular, come cases when ognined in departments from 1992 and 1997 about 600 patients with a presence department from 1992 and 1997 about 600 patients in mark a feature departments from 1992 and 1997 about 600 patients with a presence avertorem or when disorder were stars for a second content to mark than 500

# Spasmodic dysphonia: a review

1.2

krapfhaften Verschluss der Stimmritze, wobei die linke Cartilago Arythaenoidea sich vor die rechte schob und wahrscheinlich auch die Stimmbänder zum Theil sich deckten. Das verhalten dieser letzteren war deßhalb nicht zu eruiren, weil die Epiglottis stark nach hinten geneigt war. Auch in diesem Falle hatte der electrische inconstante Strom keine Wirkung."

He based his diagnosis on the short duration of the illness and assumed a hysterical etiology. This was the origin of psychogenic theories on SD. In the following decades a psychogenic etiology of SD was almost universally accepted. In the fifties and sixties this view was still so pervasive that Arnold<sup>122</sup> was moved to write that since the first description, "all authors agreed that spastic dysphonia represented a psychoneurotic disorder of pneumophonic coordination". Specifically, most clinicians<sup>123,41</sup> viewed the SD voice complex as a hysterical conversion reaction wherein some psychic conflict becomes somatized to the laryngeal sphincter. In neuropsychiatric terms, this process was described by Heaver<sup>123</sup> as a "regressive sequence of loss of cortical inhibition as it was replaced by the clinical ascendancy of medullary primitive phonatory mechanisms" (p.23). Working within this psychoanalytic tradition, Brodnitz<sup>53</sup> retrospectively reviewed 130 SD cases seen in the course of his career and reported that 41% could pinpoint SD onset following severe emotional trauma. An additional 22% were said to exhibit many of the symptoms of severe neuroses. Descriptive enumerations of such symptoms in association with SD frequently include anxiety, depression, and hypochondriasis or somatic preoccupation.<sup>123,41</sup> Interestingly, the psychoanalytically oriented researchers also concurred that psychotherapy had in general not proven effective in the treatment of spasmodic dysphonia. This was due, in their view, to the emotional disorder itself, which inhibits insight and leads to a resistive unwillingness by the patient to cooperate appropriately in the psychotherapeutic process, 2,41,53,123

#### An organic approach

Synchronically, several reports were published in which an organic etiology was postulated. The first was by Schnitzler<sup>4</sup> in 1875, who described two patients with "cramping of the vocal cords and forced voice". These patients were noted to have synkinesis of facial muscles and abnormal movements of the arms and legs. He called this organic disorder "aphonia spastica" or spastic dysphonia.<sup>5</sup> A more detailed description followed by Critchley<sup>6</sup> in 1939. He described three patients with SD-like symptoms and suggested cerebellar or basal ganglion pathology. He also reviewed several cases reported by Ramsay Hunt (1914), Schuster (1924), and Meige (1928) and concluded that this speech disorder in combination with

# History

#### Introduction

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) is primarily a disturbance of phonation. Patients with this bizarre voice disorder produce a strained-strangled, harsh voice with breaks in pitch and phonation (staccato-like catches), loudness bursts, and glottal fry.<sup>1</sup> In this effortful voice quality, volume is reduced and often a tremor can be perceived. Remarkably, these symptoms are reduced or absent during whispering, speaking or singing in falsetto register and nonspeech vocalizations like laughing, crying, and yawning. Spasmodic dysphonia is initially intermittent and task or situation specific. The marked intermittency and functional specificity of the symptoms have suggested a psychological basis for this enigmatic voice disorder.<sup>2</sup>

#### A Psychogenic Approach

Traube<sup>3</sup> is credited as the first who described a case of SD in 1871:

"Die spastische Form der nervösen Heiserkeit beobachtete Professor Traube bei einem hysterischen jungen Mädchen. Die sehr heisere, fast aphonische Patientin vermochte mit grosser Anstrengung nur zuweilen sehr hohe, fistulirende Töne anzuschlagen. Die larygoscopische Untersuchung ergab einen various head and neck clonic movements were part of an underlying neurologic disease rather than proof of psychiatric affliction.

In the fifties, Segré<sup>7</sup> described fifteen cases of SD, of which some appeared to be based on a neurological disorder (tabes dorsalis and multiple sclerosis). Many therapeutic options were described. Functional prognosis, however, was not favorable. Therefore, in some cases "recourse to surgery was necessary" (p.155). Segré proposed anaesthetizing the pharynx and the larvnx to determine which muscles might be transected to alleviate the symptoms of laryngeal spasm. In some cases this led to the disappearance of symptoms, which was useful for the confirmation of functional causes of aphonia. Segré7 describes the three operations by Réthi, Chevalier Jackson and King. The first was based on the concept that the hyperadduction of the ventricular bands and supraglottic closure depended above all on the hyperactivity of the stylopharyngeal muscles. Réthi had devised a simple external intervention to cut off those fibers, partly or entirely. A placebo effect, however, was thought of as Segré7 stated: "This intervention probably acts as suggestive psychotherapy". Chevalier Jackson proposed "the cutting of a central and symmetrical 'cuneus' (wedge) in both ventricular bands in cases of spastic dysphonia". In King's method the arytenoid was fixed laterally, to "neutralize the spasmodic dysphonia without converting it into a paretical dysphonia".

In 1960, Robe<sup>8</sup> published the results of an electroencephalographic study of ten SD patients. Four patients had a positive history of neurologic disease in the family. All patients had signs of central nervous system (CNS) disease and all but one of the electroencephalograms were abnormal. Robe concluded that spastic dysphonia is a "manifestation of disordered function of the central nervous system and is not a disease in sui generis". However, the variability of symptoms, signs, and course from patient to patient precluded a general statement. Besides, the author did not deny the existence of psychiatric abnormalities in spastic dysphonia, or that psychotherapy did not have a place in the treatment.

Although these findings were not duplicated by subsequent investigators, they clearly led the way for future challenges to the concept that all cases of SD were due to psychiatric disturbance.<sup>9</sup>

In 1968, Aronson<sup>10,11</sup> recognized the need for further investigation of both the symptoms and the causes of spastic dysphonia. In the late sixties it was still generally accepted<sup>10</sup> that "spastic dysphonia, being a vocal expression of psychoneurosis, should usually be classified as a conversion reaction. Neurasthenic neurosis and emotional trauma have been mentioned as causes, as well as, but to a lesser extent, vocal abuse in professional persons who use their voices extensively" (p.205). In this extensive work Aronson<sup>10</sup> described 1, the variations in quality and severity of the symptoms, 2, the neurologic characteristics; and 3, the psychiatric characteristics and results of a standardized psychometric test -Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) in 34 SD patients. Firstly, he found that "their voices showed excessively low pitch, monopitch, harshness, intermittent voice stoppage, and voice tremor occurred in more than 70% of the patients. Secondly, twenty-seven of the patients were examined neurologically and 20 had one or more neurologic signs, including tremor, hyperreflexia, reduced alternate motion rate, and faciolingual asymmetries. These signs occurred with a greater frequency than would be expected in a normal population. From this they hypothesized that spastic dysphonia had a neurologic substrate and might be related to the essential tremor syndrome. Thirdly, on the MMPI, no statistically significant differences occurred between the profiles of the SD patients and those of a large population of normal persons. Of the 29 patients given psychiatric interviews, 18 were judged to have some emotional problems and 11 none. Although as a group they gave the impression of being compulsive, of overcontrolling their anger, and of being quite unaggressive verbally, it is suggested that these traits are not exclusively characteristics of spastic dysphonia but are quite common in patients having a variety of emotional problems" (p.217).

Because of the hypothesized relation between spastic dysphonia and essential tremor, Aronson<sup>11</sup> undertook a consecutive study in which he focussed on the similarities and differences between the voice symptoms of these two disorders. Essential tremor was selected because it appeared to have more of the features of spastic dysphonia than did other neurologic dysphonias. In addition, he compared the voice symptoms of spastic dysphonia and essential tremor with the voice symptoms of pseudobulbar palsy, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, bulbar palsy, cerebellar ataxia, and parkinsonism. He concluded that pitch lowering, pitch breaks, voice tremor, and strain-strangled dysphonia were not exclusive symptoms of spasmodic dysphonia. He noted that SD symptoms tended to be present from the time of onset, while psychogenic voice disorders were episodic, a point that could be significant in differentiating SD from psychogenic dysphonias.

In Aronson's study<sup>11</sup> another interesting issue was touched upon. He proposed a change in the term 'spastic dysphonia'. 'Spastic' is commonly used to imply disease of corticobulbar or corticospinal (pyramidal) pathways. The neurologic evidence in his study was mainly an affection of the extrapyramidal system. He observed that the strained voice quality in this voice disorder waxes and wanes from moment to moment in a spasmodic fashion. Therefore, he proposed the term 'spasmodic dysphonia', to prevent the confusion that could arise from the use of the term 'spastic'. The many (historical) synonyms of spasmodic dysphonia are listed in the *Addendum*.

In 1971, McCall<sup>12</sup> and coworkers offered substantial evidence for considering spasmodic dysphonia as a neurologic disorder. By means of videofluoroscopic observations they provided evidence that spasmodic dysphonia might be symptomatic of isolated, phonatory-related laryngospasms or might appear in association with a more general problem that affects the behavior of the laryngeal and pharyngeal musculature during quiet respiration as well as during contextual speech. They concluded that patients with spasmodic dysphonia might exhibit atypical movement patterns in the larynx and pharynx that are tremor-related or apparent manifestations of muscular dystonia.

This view was endorsed by Aminoff<sup>13</sup> in 1978. In a clinical study of 12 patients with spasmodic dysphonia he found that the dysphonia was part of a more widespread neurological disorder (idiopathic torsion dystonia, blepharospasm, postural tremor). He concluded that the voice disorder is probably due to a focal dystonia of the laryngeal musculature. Moreover, it was hypothesized that its pathological basis is related to basal ganglia dysfunction as it is in idiopathic torsion dystonia.

In 1982, Marsden and Sheehy<sup>14</sup> reported the relationship between blepharospasmoromandibular dystonia (Meige syndrome, cranial dystonia), torsion dystonia, and spasmodic dysphonia. In their series they noted multiple presentations of the voice disturbances in these patients and hypothesized that isolated spasmodic dysphonia may be a sole manifestation of dystonia. These findings were in line with the study of Golper et al.<sup>15</sup> They analyzed the clinical findings and speech characteristics of a group of 10 persons with the diagnosis of Meige syndrome. They found that aside from the blepharospasm and oromandibular involvement, some patients also had involvement of platysma, soft palate, tongue, pharynx, esophagus and respiratory muscles. Half of the subjects had voice abnormalities. These included voice stoppages, inhalation phonation, strain-strangled voice, vocal tremor, and audible grunts at the end of phrases. The authors contended that most of these signs were suggestive of dystonia. In 1985, Blitzer and coworkers<sup>16</sup> performed an electromyographic study in 14 patients with 'spastic' / spasmodic dysphonia. Their findings were not indicative for spasticity of the laryngeal musculature, as was already suggested by Aronson.<sup>11</sup> Clinical observation and EMG data identified patients with tremor (2/14), pyramidal and extrapyramidal disease (1/14), and myoclonic disorder (1/14). The remaining 10 patients had clinical and EMG findings consistent with dystonia, a neurologic disorder characterized by abnormal, often action-induced, involuntary movements or uncontrolled spasms and concluded that these patients had 'focal laryngeal dystonia'. They classified spasmodic dysphonia as a type of dystonia (laryngeal dystonia) that may present focally or in association with other dystonic movements.

Dystonic movements may be either slow and sustained, or rapid turning movements that result in involuntary postures that interfere with smooth functioning. Patients may present with focal dystonia which involves one region or group of muscles. Examples are blepharospasm (forced, involuntary eye closure), oromandibular dystonia (involving facial, jaw, and tongue muscles), torticollis (neck muscles), and writer's cramp (action-induced involvement of hand muscles). When multiple regions are involved, the condition is classified as multifocal, unilateral, or generalized.

Primary (idiopathic) dystonia is typically action-induced. The symptom is enhanced with use of the affected body part, which usually appears normal at rest. According to the etiologic classification, primary or idiopathic disease is found in patients who have no personal history of neurologic illness or exposure to drugs known to cause acquired dystonia, e.g., phenothiazines, and who have normal intellectual, pyramidal, cerebellar, and sensory examinations, and normal diagnostic studies. Patients who have these abnormalities are classified as having secondary dystonia. Clinical phenomenology is often a clue as to etiology. Movement and resulting postures are often unusual and, therefore, dystonias are one of the most frequently misdiagnosed neurological conditions.<sup>17</sup>

Symptoms of dystonia usually begin as focal dystonia involving a single region of the body. Spread to other regions is commonly seen in childhood-onset dystonia, while the disorder tends to remain focal with adult-onset.<sup>18</sup> Some of these conditions were thought to have a psychogenic origin because they were triggered by specific actions, exacerbated during mental and social stress, and might have been associated with psychiatric disability without obvious cause. However, a central nervous system cause is supported in most cases.<sup>16</sup>

20

Several authors have described tremor activity in patients with spasmodic dysphonia.11,16,19-23 Blitzer16 noted that almost 25% had an irregular tremor of 4-8Hz on phonation. Aronson and Hartman<sup>19</sup> studied this tremor more closely in patients with dysphonia and noted that it was similar to that in persons with essential tremor. They also observed that several patients had synchronous pharyngeal, lingual, velar, mandibular, facial, thoracic, or diaphragmatic tremor. Ludlow<sup>20</sup> also observed a vocal tremor that affected vocal amplitude, and wrote of a possible link between essential tremor and spasmodic dysphonia. In a videoendoscopic study of 38 patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Woodson<sup>21</sup> noted tremor of the larynx or pharynx in 29 patients. Rosenfield<sup>22</sup> found essential tremor in 71 of 100 patients with spasmodic dysphonia, involving the larvnx or pharvnx in 59 subjects. In a recent review on laryngeal dystonia (spasmodic dysphonia) Brin and coworkers<sup>23</sup> found that many patients with spasmodic dysphonia present with a tremulous voice. The differential diagnosis between spasmodic vocal breaks due to essential tremor and those due to a dystonic tremor can be difficult. However, the frequent association between essential tremor and dystonia suggests that these two disorders may de pathogenically linked, or that physiologic mechanisms underlying one disorder predispose these patients to develop the other and vice versa.24

In 1992, Izdebski<sup>34</sup> published a physiologic model on the symptomatology of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. He wrote that in dystonia the amplitude, timing and coordination of contraction of groups of muscles are affected, and the pattern strongly suggests faulty coordination of afferent and efferent signals, possibly in the basal ganglia. The basal ganglia are thought to be responsible for automatic execution of motor programs, and influence the weighing and timing of movements. They take into account the desired movement (motor command), current activity and afferent signals, and may compare these in order to calculate the appropriate muscle activation. Giving too much emphasis to the motor command or reduced weight to arriving sensory signals could generate excessive muscle activation. This theory can explain why simple functions may be spared whilst specific and more complex motor programs are impaired. In other dystonias, such as torticollis, the primary involuntary movement may be overpowered by erratic or forceful antagonist contractions, or by the 'geste antagonistique' and sensory tricks. According to the author, in ADSD, the primary over-activity is of the vocalis adductor complex. The brain may misread the adductor state of the glottis and respond with inappropriate sudden efferent discharges. Many of the other features could be compensatory and involve conscious adjustments.

#### Spasmodic dysphonia: current opinion

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia is an uncommon, often severely disabling chronic voice disorder of unknown etiology. It is supposed that it is a focal (laryngeal) dystonia. Dystonia is a neurological disorder of central motor processing characterized by abnormal, often action-induced, involuntary movements or uncontrolled spasms, probably related to basal ganglia dysfunction. Therefore, spasmodic dysphonia can be considered as an action-induced laryngeal movement disorder.

# Symptomatology

#### Introduction

Spasmodic dysphonia, a focal laryngeal dystonia, is a chronic neurological disorder of central motor processing characterized by action-induced spasms of the vocal folds. The vocal folds are normal at rest, but with an action-induced task-specific movement, the muscles contract inappropriately, causing abnormal movements and muscle spasms, typically resulting in dysphonia during speaking.<sup>25</sup> In 1973, Aronson<sup>1</sup> described two major types of spasmodic dysphonia, based on these perceptual voice characteristics: an adductor (ADSD) and an abductor (ABSD) type.

#### Adductor spasmodic dysphonia

ADSD, the more common form, typically presents insidiously during middle age. Symptom onset is usually gradual, beginning with uncontrolled voice breaks, hoarseness, and increased effort associated with speaking. Like other focal dystonias, it is initially intermittent and task or situation specific, and gradually becomes more intrusive, more frequent and severe. The symptoms typically progress over 1 to 2 years and then remain chronic. Patients report that onset may have been associated with an upper respiratory infection, a stressful period in their life, or no apparent cause.

There is no single characteristic that defines ADSD, and each patient has a different combination of features. Generally, however, the voice is characterized by pitch and/or voice breaks during vowels, difficulties initiating voice, and a harsh, strained-strangled voice quality.<sup>26</sup> Some patients attempt to overcome their speech difficulties by whispering or by raising the pitch of their voice or using inspiratory speech. However, when asked to try to speak 'normally' or without compensating, a typical adductor speech pattern is evident. Many patients find that speaking involves undue physical effort and is very tiring.<sup>27</sup> Moments of improved speech are noted during emotional or physiological states, such as joy, anger or intoxication, or following

yawning, and may occur during ingressive speech, in non-speech vocalization and during paralinguistic utterances, such as 'uh-uh'. Although some patients may improve, shouting and stress usually make the speech worse. Patients may use any of these maneuvers to compensate for, or mask, SD, and it can be difficult to distinguish between compensatory strategies and the primary vocal symptoms.<sup>31</sup>

#### Abductor spasmodic dysphonia

The less common abductor type is characterized by spasms of the posterior cricoarytenoid muscles, producing a breathy, effortful hypophonic voice with abrupt termination of voicing, causing aphonic or whispered segments of speech.<sup>25</sup> Originally, the term abductor spasmodic dysphonia was used in reference to a perceptually distinctive voice in which normal or hoarse voice is suddenly interrupted by brief moments of breathy or whispered (unphonated) segments. As described to Aronson<sup>28</sup>: "The term abductor spasmodic dysphonia was chosen because it appeared as if the vocal fold physiology responsible for the voice disorder was the opposite of that which occurs in adductor spasmodic dysphonia, i.e. instead of spasmodic hyperadduction of the vocal folds producing moments of strained voice or voice arrest, the vocal folds spasmodically hyperabduct, releasing bursts of unphonated air. Although the disorder has not long been recognized, evidence is beginning to show that, as with the adductor forms, abductor spasmodic dysphonia may not be due to a single cause, but may have either psychogenic or neurologic substrates".

#### Adductor and abductor spasmodic dysphonia: a continuum disorder?

Both the adductor and abductor type are believed to be due to hypertonia in different sets of laryngeal muscles. Cannito and Johnson<sup>29</sup> proposed that both adductor and abductor abnormalities exist in all patients and that the symptoms depend on whether there is more adductor or abductor activity. Their view was endorsed by the findings of Hanson<sup>30</sup> et al who performed a kinematic analysis of video-documented laryngeal examinations in spasmodic dysphonia patients. They believed that the relative balance of abductor versus adductor on perceptual symptoms results from the relative imbalance of muscle tone between adductor and abductor and abductor and abductor symptoms in SD result from different basic pathophysiologies. Moreover, they supported the view that spasmodic dysphonia is a heterogeneic symptom complex, that may result from a variety of CNS lesions, neuromuscular diseases, and movement disorders when these diseases affect control of laryngeal muscles.

# Epidemiology

The incidence and prevalence of adductor spasmodic dysphonia in the general population is unknown.<sup>28</sup> The consensus, however, is that ADSD is rare. The best guess as to its prevalence is based upon a survey of cases at the Mayo Clinic from the records of people residing within the limits of Rochester, Minnesota.<sup>32,33</sup> The prevalence of diagnosed generalized dystonia within this community was estimated at 34 per million and of the various focal dystonias at 296 per million. The total prevalence of all forms of dystonia being 330 per million. The authors commented that the estimates of the incidence and prevalence of focal dystonia might be low. These syndromes are often not brought to medical attention, and if so, are frequently not recognized and documented. Extrapolating these figures for the Netherlands, it would yield an incidence of 45 and a prevalence of approximately 750.

Of 2556 cases of dystonia registered at the Dystonia Clinical Research Center at Columbia-Presbyterian Medical Center, New York City, 562 (22%) had laryngeal involvement.<sup>17</sup> Of these 562 patients, 464 (82.5%) had primary (idiopathic) dystonia and 98 (17.5%) had secondary (acquired) dystonia. Of the group with primary dystonia, 273 (59%) were women and 191 (41%) were men. Of those with primary laryngeal involvement, 15% had involvement of other parts of their body. Twenty percent of patients with primary laryngeal dystonia had a family history of dystonia.

In a recent study of Brin<sup>23</sup> the demographic data of 901 patients with laryngeal dystonia were described (Table 2).

Table 1. Incidence and prevalence of dystonia (Nutt<sup>33</sup>).

Incidence*	Prevalence <sup>†</sup>
2	34
25	296
8	86
3	52
11 000 00 000	89 89 89
3	69
27	330 000 100000
	Incidence* 2 25 8 3 11 3 27

\* crude incidence per 106 person-years

<sup>T</sup> crude prevalence per 10<sup>6</sup> persons

#### Table 2. Laryngeal dystonia in 910 patients (Brin<sup>23</sup>).

	Dystonia		Number	%	
	Primary	Secondary			
N	744	157	901		
Age onset	39	40			
Female	471	109	580	64.4	
Focal	492	83	575	63.8	
Segmental cranial	161	32	193	21.4	
Multi-segmental	51	17	68	7.5	
Generalized	40	25	65	7.2	
% Adductor	83	73			

## Diagnostic assessment

#### Introduction

Actually, it is not hard to diagnose ADSD: often there is a typical history and voice. However, a number of difficulties are encountered in the diagnostic workup of patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Objective 'gold-standard' tests are lacking. Dystonic symptoms vary considerably over time, during different tasks and in different situations. Patients may whisper or speak in falsetto in an attempt to escape from the strain-strangled, staccato voice, thus masking their dystonia and hampering diagnosis. Finally, spasmodic dysphonia is a relatively rare voice disorder that is not familiar to many clinicians.

For adequate evaluation of patients with spasmodic dysphonia a team consisting of an otolaryngologist, neurologist, and speech-language pathologist is necessary to exclude pathologies other than spasmodic dysphonia. Team evaluation rests on the identification of characteristic clinical phenomenology.<sup>35</sup> The diagnosis is based on history, physical examination, perceptual evaluation of voice, laryngological and general neurologic examination.

#### **Medical history**

The history of a patient with ADSD is rather typical. With rare exception, adductor spasmodic dysphonia begins insidiously as a non-specific hoarseness, at first fluctuating in severity, with intervening periods of normal voice. Then, gradually, the strained adductor laryngospasms intrude, breaking up the hoarseness. The

disorder may plateau or continue to worsen until phonation during speech is all but impossible.<sup>28</sup> Moments of improved speech may be triggered by either intoxication (e.g. alcohol) or, by different psychologic states such as anger or joy.<sup>34</sup> Improved speech has also been observed during choral reading, ingressive speech, during or immediately following yawning, and in non-speech vocalizations.<sup>31,34,40</sup> Many patients have an acceptable singing voice. Poor symptom control and exacerbation of symptom severity by stress has also been reported as typical in ADSD patients.<sup>41,42</sup>

#### Perceptual analysis

The analysis of perceptual symptoms is one of the mainstays in the diagnostic work-up of spasmodic dysphonia. There is universal agreement that the strained-strangled (overpressured) voice quality is characteristic of ADSD. An impressive body of descriptions is used to characterize ADSD perceptually (Addendum).

Already in the late 1970's overpressure was defined as the main ADSD symptom. Systematic studies of ADSD voice quality followed and revealed tremor, aperiodicity, breathiness and vocal arrests in addition to overpressure.<sup>39,71</sup> Based on the physiologic assessment of ADSD symptoms Izdebski<sup>34</sup> et al designed a symptomatologic model of ADSD. This was the first objective modeling of the symptoms and a diagnostic test battery was derived from this work.

A purely perceptual taxonomy of ADSD symptoms was also compiled into the Unified Spasmodic Dysphonia Rating Scale (USDRS), quantifying fourteen perceptual symptoms in conversational speech and six voice tasks that improve or worsen perceptual symptoms.<sup>35</sup>

In this clinic diagnostic criteria are based on a set of elementary phonatory tasks capable of generating or eliminating ADSD symptoms and differentiating between related voice disorders. These criteria are derived from the 'minimal diagnostic vocal test battery' described by Izdebski.<sup>34</sup> The original protocol of Izdebski was adapted to fit our needs. Consequently, the following subtests are now employed:

- 1. Sustained phonation at varied frequency and intensity levels,
- 2. All-voiced and voiced-voiceless speech,
- 3. Modal, falsetto, and whisper modes,
- 4. Vegetative tasks (coughing, in- and expiration).

A number of these tasks elicit ADSD symptoms in a predictable and systematic fashion: predominantly in loud modal phonation. Symptoms will be significantly

diminished or even absent at high  $F_0$  levels and while whispering, regardless of loudness levels. Because symptoms occur more frequently during a fully approximated glottis, speech containing all-voiced segments will more readily display overpressure than will speech containing voiced-voiceless segments. When overpressure leads to generation of vocal arrests, these will be irregular. In contrast, tremor tends to be more regular and remains present throughout both modal and falsetto range, as well as in whisper mode. Tremor of laryngeal musculature will also be present in vegetative tasks, including inspiration and expiration, while SD type vocal arrests and overpressure will be absent in these vegetative tasks.

#### Laryngological and neurological examination

Fiberlarvngoscopy is performed to observe the glottal function and exclude structural lesions of the larynx and vocal fold paralysis. The symmetry, range, speed, and control of vocal fold adduction and abduction can be observed during speech and non-speech tasks (e.g. at rest, quiet breathing, sniffing, and coughing). Abnormalities (disruptions, spasms, breathy breaks, and tremor) appear particularly in vowels and in voiced sentences. Blitzer<sup>25</sup> describes a variation of the staging system proposed by Koufman<sup>43</sup> and Morrison and Rammage.<sup>44</sup> Type 1 hyperadduction is forceful overcontraction at the vocal fold level with tight compression of the vocal processes and arytenoids. Type 2 is forceful contraction including contact of the false cords. In type 3 the thyroarytenoid muscle pulls the arytenoids anteriorly, narrowing the supraglottic airway. Type 4 is sphincteric closure, where by the arytenoids are pulled so far anteriorly that they tightly close against the epiglottis. Although these classifications are not obligatory for the diagnostic assessment, they can be useful in describing the pretreatment phenomenology of the larynx. A comprehensive neurologic history and examination has to be performed, with particular attention for any spasms, dysfunction, or tremor of an other area in the head and neck.

#### Laryngeal electromyography

Laryngeal EMG, although not diagnostic, may be very useful in defining the EMG characteristics of the laryngeal abnormality.<sup>17</sup> In 1946 Tarrasch<sup>46</sup> performed the first study where muscle activity in SD patients was sampled. She found a consistent marked increase in muscle activity during phonation in SD patients as compared with levels obtained in 4 control subjects. In 1985, spasmodic dysphonia was linked to dystonia through a clinical and EMG evaluation of SD patients and patients with multifocal or generalized dystonia.<sup>16</sup> The same group (Blitzer and Brin<sup>47</sup>) performed an analysis of laryngeal electromyograms in 110 patients with spasmodic dysphonia. This revealed 23% of cases with an irregular tremor activity

(4-8Hz), while only 6% were found to have a regular tremor (similar to essential tremor). Seventeen percent of cases had enlarged potentials, while 4% had small potentials, and 6% had reduced numbers of motor units.

Schaefer<sup>48</sup> performed EMG suggesting involvement beyond the vagal nerve. When the EMG signal is simultaneously analyzed with a voice spectrogram, a greater than normal delay in onset of sound production is observed, especially in the adductor type. Ludlow et al<sup>49</sup> found abnormally high resting activity levels in both the thyroarytenoid (TA) and cricothyroid (CT) muscles. They demonstrated an imbalance between the TA and CT muscles resulting in excessive adductor and shortening tension on the vocal cords during quiet respiration, speech and swallowing. Moreover, uncontrolled spasmodic bursts of muscle activity in the TA and CT muscles were observed during speech and phonation. By measuring muscle activity only during symptom production, Nash<sup>50</sup> concluded that the voice breaks in ADSD are due to an intrusion of spasmodic bursts upon an otherwise normal muscle activation pattern. Therefore, laryngeal EMG is a valuable tool for a better understanding of the pathophysiology of this disorder. However, according to Rosenfield<sup>45</sup> detecting such abnormalities requires complicated analysis techniques and offers minimal practical use for routine diagnostic investigation.

Several other tests have been used to evaluate ADSD. However, most of these are used to measure the effect of treatment. The most relevant tests will be discussed in the next paragraph on treatment of spasmodic dysphonia. Some diseases with vocal symptoms and signs which might encompass spasmodic dysphonia, are listed in table 3.

constantly failed and guidely therapy was needy heights. Distriment of destants with resolications (muscle relaxants, fundpulipers, etc.) wantly mauted in on neuronoleit response and was finquently presuscessful. Minimover some of from struad intolerable side effects. These adjulants were already but into yours at the beginning of the twentist'r destucy by Molifer.

"Deek de therdpoo kan Spreker kan gin tuar pinion neg seents ane lant under zijn ohterende is. Neel ties Spreker zich van ze Sehenbeing nede ook, tiet wor segunt de entering zen Serene zich van ze Sehenbeing nede hech een jageheche, mich een phydische binandering rech do snergste langsbelige nat de stern mich war entrodische binandering hech do snergste word localit averemenning van entrodische binandering hech do snergste

#### Table 3. Differential diagnosis: some neurological disorders with spasmodic dysphonia (Whurr<sup>31</sup>).

Dystonia, with or without tremor Essential tremor Other tremor: (druginduced - cerebellar - rubral)

Psychogenic disorders

Tics / stuttering

Degenerative disorders:

Inflammatory disease Myoclonus Chorea Tardive dyskinesia Cerebral palsies (Parkinson's disease, Wilson's disease, motor neuron disease, progressive supranuclear palsies, olivopontocerebellar atrophy)

# Treatment options

#### Introduction

There is no known cure for adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Authors who have written about spasmodic dysphonia agree on the poor results of any form of therapy. For many decades, ADSD had been considered as a psychogenic voice disorder. Therefore, treatment was directed along psychological lines for many years. With few exceptions, however, psychotherapy (in the widest sense of the word), hypnotism, acupuncture, homeopathy, and biofeedback relaxation techniques have consistently failed, and speech therapy was rarely helpful. Treatment of dystonia with medications (muscle relaxants, tranquilizers, etc.) usually resulted in an incomplete response and was frequently unsuccessful. Moreover, some of them caused intolerable side effects. These experiences were already put into words at the beginning of the twentieth century by Moll<sup>54</sup>:

"Over de therapie kan Spreker kort zijn, daar patiënt nog slechts zeer kort onder zijn observatie is. Veel stelt Spreker zich van de behandeling, welke ook, niet voor, wegens de ervaring van Semon en Mackenzie, die zeggen, dat noch een psychische, noch een physische behandeling, noch de strengste, langdurige rust der stem, noch methodische spreek- en ademoefeningen, noch locale aanwending van electriciteit aan en in de hals, noch inwendige middelen en koudwaterkuur, in één woord dat niets een blijvend resultaat heeft opgeleverd en de aandoening dus zoo goed als ongeneeslijk is."

In 1976, more than hundred years after the first description of spasmodic dysphonia by Traube in 1871, no progress had been made towards its treatment. As Brodnitz<sup>53</sup> pointed out: "Until newer research can achieve a more thorough understanding of the etiology of the disease, and thereby provide a rationale for more successful therapy, the combination of voice therapy with psychotherapy still offers the best chances for ameliorating this disorder" (p.214).

#### Recurrent laryngeal nerve section

Therapy for spasmodic dysphonia underwent a significant advance with the introduction of recurrent larvngeal nerve sectioning (RLNS) by Dedo<sup>55</sup> in 1976. He hypothesized that "if a recurrent laryngeal nerve was paralyzed in a patient with spastic dysphonia, the other vocal cord might prove to be 'precompensated' so that its excessively strong adduction would carry it across the midline to the deliberately paralyzed cord, giving a relatively normal phonation" (p.452). For the first patient, he chose a woman with a 17-year history of spasmodic dysphonia who had been seen by more than 29 doctors of varying specialties without improvement of her voice and who yet persisted in her willingness to seek help. Temporary paralysis of the recurrent laryngeal nerve by lidocaine injection left the patient with a husky phonation without obvious spasm. The huskiness of her voice was then corrected by teaching the patient to raise the pitch and bringing the sound "up in front of her mouth" (p.453). After five trials of lidocaine injections, with paralysis of the vocal cord confirmed each time by indirect laryngoscopy, the patient underwent sectioning of her right recurrent laryngeal nerve. Postoperatively, with the help of speech therapy, she developed "essentially normal voice" within weeks. Moreover, she resumed her political, radio, and television career after an 18-year hiatus (p.453). Subsequently, 33 additional patients underwent similar treatment. These 33 patients were selected from a group of 41 patients who had temporary lidocaine-induced paralysis of their right recurrent larvngeal nerves. Placebo injection did not change the voice in any of these patients. Dedo stated all patients were pleased with the improvement of their voices and noted a decrease in associated head and neck tics and grimaces. Two of the patients had breathy but phonatory voice when tired or competing with environmental noise.

In the following years, several institutions reported their results of RLNS with initially good results.<sup>56-66</sup> Some modifications of Dedo's original technique were investiga-

ted in the hope of reducing the breathy and weak voice, which usually followed ablation. Amongst them were crushing and avulsion of the nerve, and the selective section of the adductor branch.<sup>57,54,65</sup> Once again, almost all patients had initial improvement. Subsequent experiences indicated, however, that the voice sometimes was excessively breathy and that, after a while, the spasmodic symptoms recurred in a significant number of patients. Recurrence was often worse than the original presentation.<sup>57,59,66</sup>

Particularly Aronson<sup>66</sup> objected to RLNS on the grounds of long-term results. He reviewed 33 patients treated with surgery. By three years, only 36% of patients had some persistent improvement and only 1 of 33 achieved a persistent normal voice. Adverse effects included breathiness, hoarseness, diplophonia, and falsetto. Of the 64% with failed voices at 3 years, 48% were worse than before surgery. Failures were more common among women (77%) than men (36%). He found that the return of symptoms was not produced by reactivation of the paralyzed vocal cord but by intensification of normal fold adduction either alone or together with hyperreactivity of the supraglottic constrictors, along with elevation of the larynx from hypercontraction of the extrinsic laryngeal musculature.<sup>66</sup> Comparable unsatisfactory long-term results were reported by other authors.<sup>57,59,67</sup>

Recurrence of spasmodic closure has been attributed to increased function of the opposite vocal fold. Blitzer et al<sup>51</sup> postulated that the return of symptoms in these patients was due to stressing the remaining functioning vocal cord, thereby intensifying the dystonic symptoms. This experience is shared with the nerve section of branches of the facial nerve for therapy of blepharospasm, and cervical rhizotomies for torticollis. Often these procedures result in only temporary relief and may have unacceptable complications.<sup>52</sup>

An EMG study performed by Ludlow<sup>69</sup> indicated, however, that patients who had recurrent spasms often had measurable activity in the supposedly paralyzed muscle. This was probably due to regeneration of the recurrent laryngeal nerve. An experimental study in dogs demonstrated that this nerve rapidly regenerated after transection, although not accurately.<sup>70</sup> Netterville and colleagues<sup>64</sup> re-operated on patients with recurrent symptoms and confirmed that the previously divided recurrent laryngeal nerve had indeed become intact once more.

Adjunctive procedures have been described in an effort to improve the results of recurrent laryngeal nerve section.<sup>71</sup> Teflon injection has been used in patients

who had persistent significant breathiness or aspiration. This had to be performed cautiously and conservatively, because too much closure would result in a return of vocal tightness. In patients who had recurrent or persistent tightness, 'thinning' of the paralyzed vocal fold with a CO<sub>2</sub> laser was advocated.<sup>68</sup>

In summary, recurrent laryngeal nerve section originally seemed to be the treatment of choice for spasmodic dysphonia because of the excellent immediate results. However, on long-term follow-up many failures were found leaving a poor voice and the consequences of a paralyzed vocal cord. At about the time that these surgical limitations were becoming apparent, botulinum toxin A became available and is now the treatment of choice.<sup>27</sup>

#### Botulinum toxin

The concept of using this potent neurotoxin to treat patients with disorders of muscle function is credited to Dr Alan B. Scott, from the Smith-Kettlewell Eye Research Foundation in San Francisco. In 1970-71, in an effort to develop a non-surgical treatment for strabismus, he developed an elegant EMG-guided technique to inject small doses of botulinum toxin type A into extraocular muscles, with the aim of weakening them.<sup>72</sup> By 1973, he demonstrated in animal experiments that it appeared suitable for treatment of strabismus, and also suggested that it may be beneficial in blepharospasm.<sup>73</sup> In 1977, Scott injected the first strabismus patient, and, in 1980, published the results of the first clinical trial botulinum toxin type A for strabismus.<sup>74</sup>

In 1984, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) licensed botulinum toxin type A in the USA as the 'orphan' drug Oculinum, manufactured by Allergan. In December 1989, after extensive laboratory and clinical testing of botulinum toxin type A, the FDA approved this biologic agent for therapeutic use in patients with strabismus, blepharospasm, and other facial nerve disorders, including hemifacial spasm. Oculinum was renamed as Botox<sup>®</sup>.<sup>72</sup>

The neurotoxins produced by Clostridium botulinum are the most potent acute toxins known and are the causative agents of the neuroparalytic disease botulism. There are seven immunologically distinct toxins (A-G). Type A has been studied most intensively and is used most widely, but the clinical applications of the other types are also being explored. All are polypeptides of a molecular weight of about 150 kDa that have a similar structure and pharmacological action. In their most active forms the toxins exist as dichain molecules in which a heavy (H) chain is

linked by disulphide bonding to a light (L) chain associated with a single atom of zinc.<sup>76</sup> The heavy chain is responsible for targeting the toxin to cholinergic neurons. The light chain is the toxic portion of the molecule.<sup>79</sup>

#### Botulinum toxin - mode of action

The botulinum neurotoxins are extremely potent agents having specific toxicities ranging from  $2x10^7$  to  $2x10^8$  mouse LD<sub>50</sub> doses mg<sup>-1</sup> protein. They act presynaptically by blocking the release of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine at the neuromuscular junction.<sup>76</sup> Three stages may be involved in inhibition (Figure 1,<sup>79</sup>):

1. Toxin binding. In this primary step the toxin binds rapidly and irreversibly to acceptors on the presynaptic membrane. The H-chain of the toxin is responsible for the highly selective targeting of the toxin to peripheral cholinergic nerve terminals. It binds selectively and irreversibly to a small pool of high affinity acceptor molecules at the presynaptic surface.

2. Internalization. During the next stage the toxin crosses the cell membrane (plasmalemma) and enters the nerve terminus. Following binding to the acceptor on the nerve surface the neurotoxin is internalized by an energy-dependent process. This probably resembles receptor-mediated endocytosis with the toxin-acceptor complex becoming encapsulated in endosomes that migrate into the cytosol.<sup>77</sup> Before it can act, the toxin must penetrate the endosomal membrane and escape into the cytosol. The endosome contents are actively acidified by a proton pump in its membrane. At low pH, the toxin changes conformation (channel formation) and can insert into the lipid bilayer of the vesicle and translocate the 50kDa L-chain into the cytosol.<sup>78</sup>

3. Toxic activity. In the final stage the acetylcholine-release mechanism is disabled. It is the L-chain that is the toxic portion of the botulinum neurotoxins.<sup>79</sup> Inside the cytosol, the L-chain catalyses the Zn<sup>2+</sup>-dependent proteolysis of one of the components of the neuroexocytosis apparatus.<sup>78</sup> Normally, the arrival of an action potential at the nerve ending triggers an influx of calcium ions which promotes the exocytosis of acetylcholine from vesicles at active zones on the plasmalemma.<sup>76</sup> In the neuroexocytosis process three proteins play a crucial role: vesicle-associated membrane protein (VAMP) also known as synaptobrevin, which is an integral protein of the synaptic vesicle membrane. The synaptosomal-associated protein (SNAP-25) and syntaxin are both proteins of the cytosolic face of the presynaptic membrane. Botulinum neurotoxin B, D, F, and G attack VAMP, whereas botulinum neurotoxin A and E cleave SNAP-25 and C cleaves both SNAP-25

Figure 1. Mechanisms of binding and uptake and the toxic actions of the botulinum neurotoxins within the cholineric nerve terminal (Hambleton and Moore<sup>79</sup>).



**Binding:** The heavy (H) chain is responsible for binding and uptake of the toxin, and the light (L) chain is the toxin portion.

**Uptake:** is an active, energy-dependent process using endocytosis (1,2), and escape of toxin into the cytoplasm (3,4). It is not clear whether the two chains become dissociated in vivo before the L-chain produces its toxic effect (5).

**Toxic action:** Syntaxin is a protein that is embedded in the cell surface plasma membrane, and SNAP-25 is a cytoplasmic protein that transiently associates with the membrane. Synaptobrevin-2 (VAMP) is embedded within the membrane of the synaptic vesicles. Damage to these proteins by the botulinum neurotoxins blocks fushion of the vesicle with the cell membrane and release of ace-tylcholine (Ach) into the synaptic cleft. The sites of action of the botulinum toxins (A-F) are indicated.

and syntaxin. The result of the cytosolic catalytic activity of the L-chain is a persistent blockade of acetylcholine release and hence an impairment of muscular contraction because the muscle acetylcholine receptors are not activated by acetylcholine.<sup>75,78,79</sup>

Therefore, an intramuscular injection of botulinum toxin directly inhibits the extrafusal muscle fiber through inhibition of the alpha motor neuron at the neuromuscular junction. Recent research demonstrates that inhibition of muscle spindle activity via inhibition of the gamma motor neuron cholinergic junction on the intrafusal fiber plays a role as well.<sup>124,125</sup> This reduction of gamma activity then relaxes the intrafusal fibers of the muscle spindle and reduces the amount of la afferent activity.<sup>126</sup> Consequently, the range of effectiveness of botulinum toxin is broader than that could be explained by the inhibition of the neuromuscular junction alone.

The result is a chemical denervation causing a dose-related muscle weakness lasting several months. Recovery occurs by muscular re-innervation with smaller collateral nerve sprouts and an increase in the number of postsynaptic acetyl-choline receptors.<sup>90</sup>

#### Botulinum toxin - injection technique

The objective of the treatment is to inject botulinum toxin into the thyroarytenoid muscle(s). There are four methods of injection: 1. a percutaneous approach through the cricothyroid membrane<sup>80</sup>; 2. a percutaneous transcartilaginous approach<sup>81</sup>; 3. indirect laryngoscopic peroral approach<sup>82</sup>; and 4. injection through a flexible nasolaryngoscope.<sup>83</sup>

The most frequently used approach is the percutaneous route through the cricothyroid membrane under EMG control (Figure 2), as described by Blitzer et al.<sup>25,80,85</sup> The patient is in supine position with the neck extended. A modified 1<sup>1</sup>/2-inch 27-gauge Teflon-coated needle is used both as a monopolar electrode to locate the thyroarytenoid muscle and as a port for injection of the botulinum toxin. The needle is placed through the skin and cricothyroid membrane and angled superiorly and slightly laterally into the thyroarytenoid muscle. Correct position of the needle tip is confirmed by the presence of crisp action potentials on phonation. The botulinum toxin is then injected into the muscle. Topical anesthesia is usually not necessary. The main disadvantage of this approach is that the needle tip can easily be placed more posteriorly than intended. In this position, injections denervate portions of the lateral cricoarytenoid and cricothyroid muscles, in addition to the thyroarytenoid muscle.<sup>83</sup> This may occur from direct injection of these muscles or by diffusion across fascial planes. According to Rhew<sup>83</sup> this could be an explanation for the variability in response that can be seen among patients and in the same patients from consecutive EMG guided injections several months apart, even though the same technique and dosages are used.

Figure 2. Botulinum toxin injection technique: the percutaneous route through the cricothyroid membrane under EMG control.



A. Line drawing of an anteroposterior photograph taken during butulinum toxin injection. The cricothyroid membrane and the thyroid lamina notch are marked.<sup>103</sup>



B. Lateral view of the same injection session.103



C. Location of the needle placement.81



D. Direction of the needle placement.81



E. Needle in place in the vocal fold.88

The second method, a modification of the percutaneous approach, is described by Green.<sup>81</sup> The routing of the needle is through the thyroid cartilage and adequate needle position is confirmed through the flexible laryngoscope before injection. In case of ossification of the thyroid cartilage, the needle was placed just under the edge of the thyroid cartilage. The main advantage of this technique is that no EMG equipment and technician are required. The disadvantage is sludging of the needle with soft tissue and difficult penetration due to ossification of the thyroid cartilage. Moreover, a second person is required to hold the flexible laryngoscope during the injection. A successful placement of the needle requires knowledge of the intralaryngeal position of the thyroarytenoid muscle as discerned from external laryngeal landmarks.<sup>81</sup>

The third approach is advocated by Ford and coworkers<sup>82,84</sup>: the indirect laryngoscopic peroral approach. They perform all procedures on an outpatient basis, using topical 4% cocaine anesthesia, with the patient in sitting position. The larynx is visualized by indirect laryngoscopy. The vocal fold is penetrated by an injector device (modified Phonagel injector) on its superior surface. The botulinum toxin is delivered to at least two sites in the anterior-to-posterior axis. The depth of injection is adjusted at each site to achieve maximum dispersion in the superiorto-inferior axis. The rationale for this technique is based on three assumptions. Firstly, this approach allows precise visually controlled placement of botulinum toxin so that a diffuse field of motor end-plates in the thyroarytenoid muscle can be affected with minimal dose. Secondly, patients may prefer this technique since it is well tolerated by most and, if dosage is reduced, there is less likelihood of doserelated side effects such as breathiness and choking. Thirdly, it is a technique that relies on skills common to otolaryngologists and does not require EMG equipment or expertise. On the other hand, peroral injections seems inadvisable for patients with mixed or abductor spasmodic dysphonia as well as for those patients with an uncontrollable gag reflex.

The fourth approach is described by Rhew.<sup>83</sup> In this technique the botulinum toxin injection is given through a catheter needle placed via an operative channel of a flexible fiberoptic laryngoscope. The main advantages of this method are precise placement of botulinum toxin into the thyroarytenoid muscle. This alternative injection method relies on skills that are already part of the otolarygologist's repertoire and does not require EMG equipment. The disadvantages are that special equipment is needed, the fact that it takes longer than the percutaneous method, that it requires an assistant, and filling the catheter needle increases the amount of botulinum toxin needed for injection.

In just two studies the percutaneous and transoral approach were compared.<sup>83,86</sup> Rhew<sup>83</sup> found no differences in efficacy and side effects between both methods. In a retrospective study, García Ruiz and coworkers<sup>86</sup> globally judged the transoral technique superior to the percutaneous technique in terms of effectiveness (48 of 48 responses with transoral technique versus 61 of 76 responses with the percutaneous approach). On the other hand, dosage of botulinum toxin, duration, and side effects were similar with both techniques.

#### Botulinum toxin - unilateral / bilateral

Blitzer and coworkers<sup>80</sup> at Columbia University, New York, were the first who injected botulinum toxin in the vocal folds in 1984. They had already investigated ADSD patients with percutaneous EMG of the vocalis muscles.<sup>16</sup> In this technique, impaling the muscle through the cricothyroid membrane, they used a monopolar Teflon-coated EMG needle with an exposed tip. Their first injection consisted of 2.5 units botulinum toxin in one vocal fold, with little effect, however. An additional 7.5 units were given, which caused a vocal fold paresis, a period of breathy dysphonia, and eventually a 90% improvement of vocal function.25 Trying to reduce the occurrence and duration of breathy dysphonia and minimizing the total exposure to botulinum toxin, they explored bilateral, low-dose injections.51 This strategy paralleled their theory that weakening or paralyzing one vocal fold stresses the remaining vocal fold and exaggerates the dystonic symptoms, leading to poor voicing. They initiated a first-treatment program of injecting both vocalis muscles with 3.75 units botulinum toxin. Patients received benefit within 24 to 72 hours, with sustained improvement for 2 to 9 months with an average of 4 months. Patients improved to an average of 90% of normal function. Clinically significant adverse effects included extended breathy dysphonia and mild choking on fluids. They concluded that botulinum toxin had become their treatment of choice for dystonic conditions of the larynx.<sup>51</sup> Since their first report on this subject<sup>80</sup>, this group has published several detailed accounts of their technique and results,15,17,23,25,47,51,52,87,88

Soon after the first publication by Blitzer et al,<sup>80</sup> two other groups reported their results using much larger quantities (15-30 units botulinum toxin) injected into one vocal fold.<sup>85,89</sup> Their intention was to produce complete unilateral vocal cord paralysis, to simulate the effects of recurrent laryngeal nerve section. In 1987, the Houston group<sup>85</sup> published the results of botulinum toxin injections in two ADSD patients. Twenty-four hours after the injection, indirect laryngoscopy revealed a marked paresis of the injected vocal fold, with normal movement of the opposite side. Three months after the injection, there was an almost complete return of

function. This correlated well with the time course of the patient's clinical status. No side effects were reported.

In 1988, Ludlow et al<sup>89</sup> reported comparable beneficial effect of unilateral botulinum toxin injections in 16 patients. However, they noted reduced swallowing speed (13 out of 16 patients, 6 days on average) and reduced voice volume (14 out of 16, two weeks on average). They concluded that objective comparisons across methods were needed to determine which techniques produce the greatest improvement in speech function with fewer side effects.

Since then, three studies have been reported in which the efficacy of unilateral and bilateral botulinum toxin injections in the treatment of ADSD were compared.<sup>92,93,94</sup> The results were not unequivocal. In 1993 Adams<sup>92</sup> concluded that unilateral botulinum toxin injections provided both superior and longer lasting benefits than bilateral injections. In the comparative study of Zwirner<sup>93</sup> in 1993 no significant differences could be found. Both injection modes resulted in the reduction of laryngeal spasms within 48 hours after injection. In 1994, Maloney and co-workers<sup>94</sup> recommended that botulinum toxin injections for spasmodic dysphonia should be initiated using a bilateral protocol. If the patient experienced severe side effects, a unilateral injection was offered with the understanding that both vocal benefit and duration of effect would be reduced. An explanation for the different results in these studies could be that uni- and bilateral injection were compared in two different, relatively small groups using different doses of botulinum toxin.

Indirectly, five other studies have touched on this subject.<sup>95-99</sup> In 1992, Ludlow<sup>95</sup> found that women had longer benefits following unilateral than bilateral injections and men were more susceptible to side effects and required smaller dosages than women did, particularly with the unilateral injection type. The results of Adams<sup>96</sup> suggested that standard unilateral and bilateral botulinum toxin injections provided equivalent degrees of improvement in the symptoms of spasmodic dysphonia. However, bilateral injections appeared to be associated with a longer period of excessive phonatory airflow than did unilateral injections. In a subsequent study the same research group (Liu<sup>97</sup>) substantiated their earlier conclusions. Thus, unilateral injections, though as effective in relieving vocal spasms, caused less volume and swallowing problems then did bilateral injections. Using the peroral, indirect laryngoscopic-guided injection technique, Inagi<sup>98</sup> found no significant differences between results of unilateral single, bilateral single, or bilateral multiple injections, provided the botulinum toxin was delivered to both the thyroarytenoid

and lateral cricoarytenoid muscles. He recommended that initial botulinum toxin therapy for spasmodic dysphonia patients should be a single unilateral injection placed strategically at the posterior portion of the thyroarytenoid and directed toward the lateral cricoarytenoid muscles so that both muscle groups are affected.

In tailoring efficacy and side effects, Koriwchak and coworkers<sup>99</sup> tried to reduce the duration and severity of the breathy interval following bilateral injection, by designing an alternating unilateral injection protocol. They hypothesized that at any given point the patient always had one strong and one weak vocal fold. They concluded that alternating unilateral injections offered a viable alternative to bilateral injections in patients who find the breathy interval that follows bilateral injections troublesome. These patients must tolerate more frequent injections and a slightly higher failure rate. Thus, patients may choose between bilateral injections, which offer a longer duration of action and more side effects, and alternating unilateral injections, which offer shorter lasting side effects but a shorter duration of action. Factors affecting this choice may include the distance the patient resides from the treatment center, the occupation of the patient, and patient/physician preferences and/or prior experience.

#### Botulinum toxin - dosage and placement

Botulinum toxin type A is obtained as Botox<sup>®</sup> from Allergan, Inc., Irvine, California. It is received as frozen, lyophilized toxin. It is reconstituted with normal saline (without preservative) generally to a final concentration of 2.5 units per 0.1 ml. In literature, generally, dosages range from 15 to 60 units unilaterally<sup>A</sup> to 1.25 to 3.5 units bilaterally<sup>B</sup>. However, decisions regarding placement of the botulinum toxin to be injected are generally based on the experience and empirical judgment of the otolaryngologist. There is hardly any scientifically rational basis for choosing which muscle group to inject, how many sites should be addressed, and which side(s) should be injected to optimize results.<sup>98</sup>

The primary goal of the procedure is to inject the botulinum toxin in one or both thyroarytenoid muscle(s). Some authors<sup>26,82,83</sup> advocate multiple injection sites per muscle to increase diffusion throughout the muscle because of the even dispersion of the end plates in this muscle and to prevent the accumulation of excessive fluid in one location.<sup>100</sup> Most authors, however, suffice with one single bolus per muscle. Once injected into the thyroarytenoid muscle, the toxin can be identified in the lateral cricoarytenoid muscle (a strong adductor) as well, due to diffusion across facial planes, even at doses less than 10 units.<sup>98,101</sup> In an anatomical study of Castellanos<sup>103</sup> it was found that the fibers of the two muscle

groups interdigitated along their common border, making a clear distinction between them difficult.

#### Botulinum toxin - therapy assessment

Several modalities have been used to assess the success of botulinum toxin treatment: patient's self-evaluation of voice quality and performance<sup>C</sup>, perceptual voice ratings<sup>D</sup>, acoustic analysis<sup>E</sup>, (flexible) videolaryngoscopy<sup>F</sup>, aerodynamic<sup>G</sup>, and laryngeal resistance<sup>H</sup> measurements, neuro-physiological<sup>I</sup> and psychological testing<sup>J</sup>. In general, these modalities were used for evaluation of voice improvement and side effects, comparing uni- and bilateral procedures and/or comparing injection techniques. For all of these modalities significant improvement was found after treatment with botulinum toxin.

Probably the most important evaluation procedure for determining the success of treatment is the patient's judgement of his/her voice quality and performance. As was already pointed out by Woodson<sup>102</sup>: "The patient's perception of his/her problem is, of course, the 'bottom line' in determining patient satisfaction with treatment. These ratings are essential to validate the relevance of objective measures" (p.342).

Perceptual evaluation of the voice can be a reliable tool in the hands of experienced judges (high intra/interobserver agreement). After training and with the use of anchor stimuli good reliability for less experienced listeners can be obtained. Nevertheless, there are several drawbacks of perceptual scaling. Numerous scales have been developed, but there is still no uniformity or standardization and validity testing is not always performed. However, voice perception is a complex process and is probably determined by more information than we are capable of analyzing acoustically. As pointed out by Kreiman,<sup>117</sup> perceptual evaluation is the standard against which other measures are evaluated. Moreover, as long as the relationship between the perceived voice and acoustic analysis fails, we have to depend on our ears.

Until now, no systematic perceptual rating of the pre- and posttreatment ADSD voices has been reported. In fact, until the work of Stewart<sup>35</sup> (see Diagnostic assessment - perceptual analysis p.27) there were no studies in which the (pretreatment) perceptual characteristics of ADSD were systematically investigated. Most studies dealing with evaluation of botulinum toxin treatment only used the overall voice quality or rate some features of the 'typical' ADSD voice, e.g. strain, fluency, effort of speaking, spasm severity etc. and mostly include the well-

known side effects of botulinum toxin treatment like breathiness and hoarseness. Unfortunately, Stewart's Unified Spasmodic Dysphonia Rating Scale (USDRS) has not been widely introduced nor applied for assessment of the posttreatment ADSD voice.

For reliable assessment of voice quality one needs reproducible measurements and parameters that can objectively monitor changes in voice quality following treatment. These measurements should preferably be relevant to the clinical symptoms. In the last decade several papers have been published dealing with ADSD and acoustic analysis. A wide range of acoustic parameters has been employed in the assessment of this voice disorder. Summarizing current opinion, quoting Woodson<sup>102</sup>: "Since acoustic changes are insufficiently specific to separate spasmodic dysphonia from other neurological voice disorders, they should not be regarded as diagnostic tests, but as indicators of function. In patients with spasmodic dysphonia, acoustic analysis is useful in documenting severity and monitoring response to treatment" (p.340).

Although acoustic analysis of the voice can provide objective and reproducible measures of phonation, there are no specific parameters that can acoustically characterize ADSD. The clinical relevance of these objective measures could be demonstrated if a strong association existed with the more subjective measurements of vocal function and performance, both by the patient and 'observer/listener'. However, these have never been found. The same holds true for (flexible) videolaryngoscopy, aerodynamic and laryngeal resistance measurements, and neuro-physiological testing. All of these are objective methods of monitoring patients undergoing botulinum toxin injections for treatment of spasmodic dysphonia. All of these methods showed statistically significant differences before and after treatment. However, in spasmodic dysphonia the situation is complicated by the fact that in dystonias, symptoms vary considerably over time, during different tasks, and in different situations. Many patients are more symptomatic when under stress. The testing environment is artificial and may be stressful, and its relevance to everyday life situations may be minimal.<sup>104</sup> The clinical relevance, therefore, is limited.

#### Botulinum toxin - side effects

In general, the main adverse effects of botulinum toxin treatment in adductor spasmodic dysphonia are two-fold and transient: breathy dysphonia and swallowing problems, regardless the injection technique. Typically, breathiness starts after 3 days and lasts for 2 to 3 weeks. Once the breathiness has resolved, the impro-

vement of the voice becomes greatest around 3 weeks and lasts between 2 and 5 months. Swallowing difficulties, i.e. mild choking on fluids, appear as early as the breathy voice. If needed, patients are instructed to swallow carefully, and to change head posture by tilting the chin towards the chest ("chintuck") while swallowing.<sup>26</sup> The swallowing problems, which are usually resolved within two weeks, probably arise from spread of the botulinum toxin to the pharyngeal musculature.<sup>119</sup> Another possible explanation for the transient difficulty in swallowing liquids were the findings of Sedory Holzer et al.<sup>120</sup> They found a significant increase in the duration of the laryngeal elevation following botulinum toxin injection. Less common complications include hyperventilation, a 'sore throat' feeling, and diplophonia. In literature, there are no reports of major complications like (aspiration) pneumonia.<sup>23</sup>

Until now, there is no explanation for the discrepancy between the duration of voice improvement and side effects. A challenging theory is given by Castellanos et al,103 who argue that closure of the glottic sphincter and vocal fold adduction are due to the actions of both the thyroarytenoid (TA) and the lateral cricoarytenoid muscles (LCA). Both muscles contain a high proportion of fast-twitch fibers, which are more important in sphincteric function than in the slow-tension forces used in phonation. The authors postulate that the transient side effects after intralaryngeal botulinum toxin administration (breathiness and mild aspiration) may be the result of a differential effect on the fast-muscle fibers in both the TA and LCA muscles. Axonal sprouting has been demonstrated to occur in animals after botulinum toxin injection. If it is the case that fast-twitch fibers are innervated more rapidly and to a greater degree by axonal sprouting than slow-twitch fibers in the human, it would provide a physiologic basis for the earlier return of sphincteric actions of TA and LCA muscles than the tensor and abductory actions. This would help explain the rapid resolution of the breathiness and aspiration in the face of persistent blockage of the dystonic symptoms.

#### Botulinum toxin - immunoresistance

In literature no cases are reported who have developed resistance to botulinum toxin type A due to antibody formation at the low doses used for laryngeal injection in spasmodic dysphonia. Other disorders treated with botulinum toxin require repeated injections over many years as well. Some of the patients who initially respond well develop tolerance to treatment with botulinum toxin type A. Several centers have investigated the possible development of immunoresistance due to the production of blocking anti-botulinum toxin antibodies.<sup>75</sup> There is considerable variation in the reported frequency of antibodies after botulinum toxin type A.

treatment, probably because the various studies have used different assays.<sup>79</sup> Greene<sup>121</sup> identified three potential risk factors for the development of botulinum toxin resistance: 1. frequent injections; 2. 'booster' injections (given within 2 to 3 weeks after the initial injection); and 3. high doses of botulinum toxin per treatment.

#### Botulinum toxin - voice therapy

For many years voice therapy has been a treatment modality for spasmodic dysphonia. The consensus has been that patients may achieve temporary improvement under limited speaking situations (falsetto, whispering, speech on inspiration) during treatment, but little lasting carryover is obtained.<sup>109</sup> Nowadays, voice therapy is regarded as supportive to botulinum toxin injections.

In a preliminary study Murry and Woodson<sup>109</sup> demonstrated a prolonged duration of benefit when speech therapy was added to the botulinum toxin treatment program. The voice therapy was designed to target aspects of the presumed underlying pathophysiology that remained after botulinum toxin injection. This included extrinsic muscle hyperfunction and regulation of breath flow during phonation. The authors toned down their results stating that other factors could have influenced the favorable outcome. Factors such as increased attention of the voice, personal motivation, and secondary gain from improved speaking might have played a role in prolonged control of the voice. They therefore concluded, that further studies of the relationship between spasmodic dysphonia variables and voice therapy are needed to determine who may benefit most by this therapy.

#### Botulinum toxin - summary

Localized injections of botulinum toxin have become the treatment of choice for controlling symptoms in patients-with spasmodic dysphonia. In treating ADSD, the thyroarytenoid muscle on one or both sides is injected. Short-term complications are usually mild and consist of transient breathy phonation and dysphagia. No long-term complications have been reported.<sup>91</sup> Symptoms usually return at 2 to 5 months, when re-injection is required.

## References

- Aronson AE. Psychogenic voice disorders: An interdisciplinary approach to detection, diagnosis, and therapy. Philadelphia, Saunders WB, 1973.
- 2. Cannito MP. Emotional considerations in spasmodic dysphonia: psychometric quantification.

J Commun Disord 1991;24:313-29.

- Traube L. Spastische Form der nervösen Heiserkeit. In: Traube L, ed. Gesammelte Beiträge zur Pathologie und Physiologie. Vol 2. Berlin, Hirschwald, 1871,674-8.
- Schnitzler J. Klinischer Atlas der Laryngologie nebst Anleitung zur Diagnose und Therapie der Krankheiten des Kehlkopfes und der Luftrohre. Wien/Leipzig, Braumuller, 1895.
- Kiml PJ. Recherches experimentales de la dysphonie spastique. Folia Phoniatr 1965;17:241-301.
- 6. Critchley M. Spastic dysphonia ("inspiratory speech"). Brain 1939;62:96-103.
- 7. Segre R. Spasmodic aphonia. Folia Phoniatr 1951;3:153-7.
- Robe E, Brumlik J, Moore P. A study of spastic dysphonia. Neurologic and electroencepha lo-graphic abnormalities. Laryngoscope 1960;70:219-45.
- Schaefer SD, Freeman FJ. Spasmodic dysphonia. Otolarynol Clini North Am 1987;20:161-78.
- Aronson AE, Brown JR, Litin EM, Pearson JS. Spastic dysphonia. I. Voice, neurologic, and psychiatric aspects. J Speech Hear Disord 1968;33:203-18.
- Aronson AE, Brown JR, Litin EM, Pearson JS. Spastic dysphonia. II. Comparison with essential (voice) tremor and other neurologic psychogenic dysphonias. J Speech Hear Disord 1968;33:219-31.
- McCall GN, Skolnick ML, Brewer DW. A preliminary report of some atypical movement patterns in the tongue, palate, hypopharynx, and larynx of patients with spasmodic dysphonia. J Speech Hear Res 1971;36:466-70.
- Aminoff MJ, Dedo HH, Izdebski K. Clinical aspects of spasmodic dysphonia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr 1978;41:361-5.
- Marsden CD, Sheehy MP. Spastic dysphonia, Meige disease, and torsion dystonia. Neurology 1982;32:1202-3.
- Golper LAC, Nutt JG, Rau MT, Coleman RO. Focal cranial dystonia. J Speech Hear Disord 1983;48:128-34.
- Blitzer A, Lovelace RE, Brin MF, Fahn S. Electromyographic findings in focal laryngeal dystonia (dysphonia). Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1985;94:591-594.
- 17. Blitzer A, Brin MF. The dystonic larynx. J Voice 1992;6:294-7.
- Jankovic J, Fahn S. Dystonic syndromes. In: Jankovic J, Tolosa E, eds. Parkinson's disease and movement disorders. Baltimore-Munich: Urban Schwarzenberg, 1988:283-314.
- Aronson AE, Hartman DE. Adductor spastic dysphonia as a sign of essential (voice) tremor. J Speech Hear Res 1981;46:52-8.
- Ludlow CL, Naunton RF, Bassich CJ. Procedures for the selection of spastic dysphonia patients for recurrent laryngeal nerve section. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1984;92:24-31.
- Woodson GE, Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson M. Use of flexible fiberoptic laryngoscopy to assess patients with spasmodic dysphonia. J Voice 1991;5:85-91.
- 22. Rosenfield DB, Donovan DT, Sulek, M, Viswanath NS. Inbody GP, Nudelman HB.

Neurologic aspects of spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1990;19:231-6.

- Brin MF, Blitzer A, Stewart CF. Laryngeal dystonia (spasmodic dysphonia): observations of 901 patients and treatment with botulinum toxin. In: Fahn S, Marsden CD, DeLong M, eds. Dystonia 3: Advances in neurology. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1998;78:237-52.
- 24. Lou JS, Jankovic J. Essential tremor: clinical correlates in 350 patients. Neurology;41:234-8.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Stewart CF. Botulinum toxin management of spasmodic dysphonia (laryngeal dystonia): a 12-year experience in more than 900 patients. Laryngoscope 1998;108:1435-41.
- Ludlow CL, Rhew K, Nash EA. Botulinum toxin injection for adductor spasmodic dysphonia. In: Jankovic J, Hallett M, eds. Therapy with botulinum toxin. New York, Marcel Dekker Inc., 1994:437-50.
- Brookes GB. Laryngeal dystonia. In: Moore P, ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. Oxford, Blackwell Science, 1995:181-205.
- Aronson AE. Adductor spastic dysphonia; abductor spastic dysphonia. In: Aronson AE, ed. Clinical voice disorders, an interdisciplinary approach. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Thieme, 1985:157-98.
- Cannito MP, Johnson JP. Spastic dysphonia: a continuum disorder. J Comm Disord 1981;14:215-23.
- Hanson DG, Logemann JA, Hain T. Differential diagnosis of spasmodic dysphonia: a kinematic perspective. J Voice;6:325-37.
- Whurr R, Moore AP. Spasmodic dysphonia: diagnosis and assessment. In: Moore P, ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. Oxford, Blackwell Science, 1995:164-80.
- Marsden CD, Quin NP. The dystonias. Neurological disorders affecting 20.000 people in Britain. BMJ 1990;300:139-44.
- Nutt JG, Muenter MD, Aronson AE, Kurland LT, Melton L. Epidemiology of focal and generalized dystonia in Rochester, Minnesota. Mov Disord 1988;3:188-94.
- Izdebski K. Symptomatology of adductor spasmodic dysphonia: a physiologic model. J Voice 1992;6:306-19.
- Stewart CF, Allen EL, Tureen P, Diamond BE, Blitzer A, Brin MF. Adductor spasmodic dysphonia: standard evaluation of symptoms and severity. J Voice 1997;11:95-103.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Woodson GE. Perceptual-acoustic relationships in spasmodic dysphonia. J Voice 1993;7:165-71.
- Sapir S, Aronson AE, Thomas JE. Judgment of voice improvement after recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia: clinicians versus patients. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1986;95:137-41.
- Sapir S, Aronson AE. Clinician reliability in rating voice improvement after laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1985;95:200-2.
- Izdebski K, Dedo HH, Shipp T, Flower RM. Postoperative and follow-up studies of spastic dysphonia patients treated by recurrent laryngeal nerve section. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg

48

1981;89:96-101.

- Bloch CA, Hirano M, Gould WJ. Symptom improvement of spastic dysphonia in response to phonatory tasks. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1985;94:51-4.
- 41. Bloch P. Neuro-psychiatric aspects of spastic dysphonia. Folia Phoniatr 1965;17:301-64.
- 42. Dedo HH. Recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol
- Laryngol 1976;85:451-9.
- 43. Koufman JA. New classification of laryngeal dystonias. The Visible Voice 1992;1:1-5.
- Morrisson M, Rammage L. Musculoskeletal approach to the classification of dysphonias. In: The management of voice disorders. San Diego, Singular Publishing Group, 1994:53-63.
- Rosenfield DB. Clinical aspects of speech motor compromise. In: Jankovic J, Hallett M, eds. Therapy with botulinum toxin. New York, Marcel Dekker Incorp., 1994:397-419.
- Tarrasch H. Muscle spasticity in functional aphonia and dysphonia. Medial Woman's Journal 1946;53:25-33.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, Lovelace RE. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of focal larvngeal dystonia; study of 110 cases. Larvngoscope 1988;98:636-40.
- Schaefer SD, Watson B, Freeman F, Kondraske G, Pool K, Close L, Finitzo T. Vocal tract electromyographic abnormalities in spasmodic dysphonia: a preliminary report. Trans Am Laryngol Assoc 1987;108:187-96.
- Ludlow CL, Hallett M, Sedory SE, Fujita M, Naunton RF. The pathophysiology of spasmodic dysphonia and its modification by botulinum toxin. In: Beradelli A, Benecke R, Manfredi M, Marsden CA eds. Movement disturbances II. London, Academic Press, 1990:273-88.
- Nash EA, Ludlow CL. Laryngeal muscle activity during speech breaks in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1996;106:484-9.
- 51. Blitzer A, Brin MF. Laryngeal dystonia: a series with botulinum toxin therapy. Laryngoscope 1991;100:85-9.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, Lovelace RE. Localized injections of botulinum toxin for the treatment of focal laryngeal dystonia (spastic dysphonia). Laryngoscope, 1988;98:193-7.
- 53. Brodnitz FS. Spastic dysphonia. Ann Otol 1976;85:210-4.
- Moll ACH. Demonstratie van een geval van aphonia spastica. Ned Tijdschr Geneesk 1900;36:380-2.
- 55. Dedo HH. Recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia. Ann Otol 1976;85:451-9.
- Barton RT. Treatment of spastic dysphonia by recurrent laryngeal nerve section. Laryngoscope 1979;89:244-9.
- Biller HF, Som ML, Lawson W. Laryngeal nerve crush for spastic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1979;88:531-2.
- Bocchino JV, Tucker HM. Recurrent laryngeal nerve pathology in spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1978;88:1274-80.
- 59. Levine HL, Wood BG, Rusnov M, et al. Recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spasmodic

dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1979;88:527-30.

- Ravits JM, Aronson AE, DeSanto LW, Dyck PJ. No morphometric abnormality of recurrent laryngeal nerve in spastic dysphonia. Neurology 1979;29:1376-82.
- 61. Fritzell B, Feuer E, Haglund S, Knutsson E, Schiratzki H. Experiences with recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia. Folia Phoniat 1982;34:160-7.
- Smith RG, Andrews ML. Spastic dysphonia: a perceptual test of recurrent laryngeal nerve section. J Comm Disord 1983;16:19-30.
- Carlsöö B, Izdebski K, Dahlquist Å, Domeij S, Dedo HH. The recurrent laryngeal nerve in spastic dysphonia. Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh) 1987;103:96-104.
- 64. Netterville JL, Stone RE, Rainey C, Zealear DL, Ossoff RH. Recurrent laryngeal nerve avulsion for treatment of spastic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1991;100:10-4.
- Carpenter RJ, Snyder GC, Henley-Cohn JL. Selective section of the recurrent laryngeal nerve for the treatment of spastic dysphonia: an experimental study and preliminary clinical report. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1981;89:986-91.
- Aronson AE, DeSanto LW. Adductor spasmodic dysphonia: three years after recurrent laryngeal nerve resection. Laryngoscope 1983;93:1-8.
- 67. Weed DT, Jewett BS, Rainey CS et al. Long-term follow-up of recurrent laryngeal nerve avulsion for the treatment of spastic dysphonia . Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1996;105:592-601.
- Miller RH, Woodson GE. Treatment options in spasmodic dysphonia. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 1991;24:1227-37.
- Ludlow C, Naunton R, Fujita M, Sedory S. Spasmodic dysphonia: botulinum toxin injection after recurrent nerve surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1990;102:122-32.
- Crumley RL, McCabe BF. Regeneration of the recurrent laryngeal nerve. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1982;90:442-7.
- Dedo HH, Izdebski K. Problems with surgical treatment of spastic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1983;93:268-271.
- Stell R, Moore P. History and current applications of botulinum toxin treatment. In: Moore P. ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. Oxford, Blackwell Science, 1995:3-15.
- Scott AB, Rosenbaum A, Collins CC. Pharmacological weakening of extra ocular muscles. Invest Ophthalmol 1973;12:924-7.
- Scott AB. Botulinum toxin injection into extra ocular muscles as an alternative to strabismus surgery. Ophthalmology 1980;87:1044-9.
- 75. Jankovic J. Botulinum toxin in movement disorders. Curr Opin Neurol 1994;7:358-66.
- Hambleton P. Clostridium botulinum toxins: a general review of involvement in disease, structure, mode of action and preparation for clinical use. J Neurol 1992;239:16-20.
- 77. Simpson LL. The origin, structural and pharmacological activity of botulinum toxin. Pharmacol Rev 1981;33:155-188.
- 78. Montecucco C, Schiavo G, Tugnoli V, De Grandis D. Botulinum neurotoxins: mechanism of

action and therapeutic applications. Molecular Medicine Today 1996, October 418-24.

- Hambleton P, Moore P. Botulinum neurotoxins: origin, structure, molecular actions and antibodies. In: Moore P, ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. Oxford, Blackwell Science, 1995:16-27.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, Lange D, Lovelace RE. Botulinum toxin for the treatment of spastic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1986;96:1300-1.
- 81. Green DC, Berke GS, Ward PH, Gerratt BR. Point-touch technique of botulinum toxin injection for the treatment of spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1992;101:883-7.
- Ford CN, Bless DM, Lowery JD. Indirect laryngoscopic approach for the injection of botulinum toxin in spasmodic dysphonia. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1990;103:752-8.
- Rhew K, Fiedler DA, Ludlow CL. Technique for injection of botulinum toxin through the flexible nasolaryngoscope. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1994;111:787-94.
- Ford CN, Bless DM, Patel NY. Botulinum toxin treatment of spasmodic dysphonia: techniques, indications, efficacy. J Voice 1992;6:370-6.
- Miller RH, Woodson GE, Jankovic J. Botulinum toxin injection of the vocal fold for spasmodic dysphonia. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1987;113:603-5.
- García Ruiz PJ, Español CC, Bernardos VS, Astarloa R, Sanabria J, García de Yébenes J.
   Botulinum toxin treatment for spasmodic dysphonia: percutaneous versus transoral approach.
   Clin Neuropharm 1998;21:196-8.
- Brin MF, Fahn S, Moskowitz C, et al. Localized injections of botulinum toxin for the treatment of focal dystonia and hemifacial spasm. Mov Disord 1987;2:237-54.
- Brin MF, Blitzer A, Fahn S, Gould W, Lovelace RE. Adductor laryngeal dystonia (spastic dysphonia): treatment with local injections of botulinum toxin (Botox<sup>®</sup>). Mov Disord 1989;4:287-96.
- Ludlow C, Naunton RF, Sedory SE, Schultz GM, Hallett M. Effects of botulinum toxin injection on speech in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Neurology 1988;38:1220-5.
- Wong DLH, Adams SG, Irish JC, Durkin LC, Hunt EJ, Charlton MP. Effect of neuromuscular activity on the response to botulinum toxin injections in spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1995;24:209-16.
- National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement. Clinical use of botulinum toxin. Arch Neurol 1991;264:2671-5.
- Adams SG, Hunt EJ, Charles DA, Lang AE. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum injections in spasmodic dysphonia: acoustic and perceptual results. J Otolaryngol 1993;22:171-175.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Woodson GE. A Comparison of bilateral and unilateral botulinum toxin treatments for spasmodic dysphonia. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 1993;250:271-276.
- Maloney AP, Morrison MD. A Comparison of the efficacy of unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in the treatment of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1994;23:160-164.
- 95. Ludlow CL, Bagley J, Yin SG, Koda J. A comparison of injection techniques using botulinum

toxin injection for treatment of the spasmodic dysphonias. J Voice 1992;6:380-6.

- Adams SG, Hunt EJ, Irish JC, Charles DA, Lang AE, Durkin LC, Wong DLH. Comparison of botulinum toxin injection procedures in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1995;24:345-51.
- Liu TC, Irish JC, Adams SG, Durkin LC, Hunt EJ. Prospective study of patient's subjective reponses to botulinum toxin injection for spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1996;25:66-74.
- Inagi K, Ford CN, Bless DM, Heisey D. Analysis of factors affecting botulinum toxin results in spasmodic dysphonia. J Voice 1996;10:306-13.
- 99. Koriwchak MJ, Nettreville JL, Snowden T, Courey M, Ossoff RH. Alternating unilateral
- botulinum toxin type A (Botox®) injections for spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1996;106:1476-81.
- Rosen M, Malmgren LT, Gacek RR. Three-dimensional computer reconstruction of the distribution of neuromuscular junctions in the thyroarytenoid muscle. Ann otol Rhinol Laryngol 1983;92:424-9.
- George EF, Zimbler M, Wu BL, Biller HF, Sanders I. Quantitative mapping of the effect of botulinum toxin injections in the thyroarytenoid muscle. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1992;101:888-92.
- Woodson GE, Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson MR. Functional assessment of patients with spasmodic dyphonia. J Voice 1992;6:338-43.
- Castellanos PF, Gates GA, Esselman G, Song F, Vannier MW, Kuo M. Anatomic considerations in botulinum toxin type A therapy for spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1994;104:656-62.
- 104. Woodson GE, Murry T, Zwirner P, Swenson MR. Acoustic, aerodynamic, and videoendoscopic assessment of unilateral thyroarytenoid muscle injection with botulinum toxin for spasmodic dysphonia. In: Jankovic J, Hallett M, eds. Therapy with botulinum toxin. NewYork, Marcel Dekker Incorp., 1994;421-8.
- 105. Aronson AE, McCaffrey TV, Litchy WJ, Lipton RJ. Botulinum toxin injection for adductor spastic dysphonia: patient self-ratings of voice and phonatory effort after three successive injections. Laryngoscope 1993;103:683-92.
- 106. Adams SG, Durkin LC, Irish JC, Wong DLH, Hunt EJ. Effects of botulinum toxin type A injections on aerodynamic measurements of spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1996;106:296-300.
- 107. Cannito MP, Woodson GE, Murry T. Perceptual scaling of spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin treatment. In: Dejonckere Ph, Peters HFM eds. Proceedings of the 24th IALP Congress. Amsterdam, 1998:161-3.
- Davidson BJ, Ludlow CL. Long-term effects of botulinum toxin injections in spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1996;105:33-42.
- Murry T, Woodson GE. Combined-modality treatment of adductor spasmodic dysphonia with botulinum toxin and voice therapy. J Voice 1995;9:460-5.

52

- Truong DD, Rontal M, Rolnick M, Aronson AE, Mistura K. Double-blind controlled study of botulinum toxin in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1991;101:630-4.
- Witsell DL, Weissler MC, Donovan MK, Howard JF, Martinkosky SJ. Measurement of laryngeal resistance in the evaluation of botulinum toxin injection for treatment of focal laryngeal dystonia. Laryngoscope 1994;104:8-11.
- Woo P, Colton R, Casper J, Brewer D. Analysis of spasmodic dysphonia by aerodynamic and laryngostroboscopic measurements. J Voice 1992;344-51.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson M, Woodson GE. Acoustic changes in spasmodic dysphonia after botulinum toxin injection. J Voice 1991;5:78-84.
- Murry T, Cannito MP, Woodson GE. Spasmodic dysphonia: emotional status and botulinum toxin treatment. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1994;120:310-6.
- Cannito MP, Murry T, Woodson GE. Attitudes toward communication in adductor spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin injection. J Med Speech Language Pat 1994;2:125-33.
- Liu CY, Yu JM, Wang NM et al. Emotional symptoms are secondary to the voice disorder in patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 1998;20:255-9.
- 117. Kreiman J, Gerratt BR, Kempster GB, Erman A, Berke GS. Perceptual evaluation of voice quality: review, tutorial, and a framework for future research. J Speech Hear Res 1993;36:21-40.
- 118. Schönweiler R, Wohlfarth K, Dengler R, Ptok M. Supraglottal injection of botulinum toxin type A in adductor spasmodic dysphonia with both intrinsic and extrinsic hyperfunction. Laryngoscope 1998;108:55-63.
- Shaari CM, George E, Wu BL, Biller HF, Sanders I. Quantifying the spread of botulinum toxin through muscle fascia. Laryngoscope 1991;101:960-4.
- Sedory Holzer SE, Ludlow CL. The swallowing side effects of botulinum toxin type A injection in spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1996;106:86-92.
- Greene P, Fahn S, Diamond B. Development of resistance of botulinum toxin type A in patients with torticollis. Mov Disord 1994;9:213-17.
- 122. Arnold GE. Changing interpretations of a persistent affliction. Logos 1959;2:3-14.
- 123. Heaver L. Spastic dysphonia: II. Psychiatric considerations. Logos 1959;2:15-24.
- Filippi GM, Errico P, Santarelli R, Bagolini B, Manni E. Botulinum A toxin effects on rat jaw muscle spindles. Acta Otolaryngol 1993;113:400-4.
- Rosales RL, Arimura K, Tagenaga S, Osame M. Extrafusal and intrafusal muscle effects in experimental botulinum toxin A injection. Muscle Nerve 1996;19:488-96.
- 126. Aoki KR, Ismail M, Tang-Liu D, Brar B, Wheeler LA. botulinum toxin type A: from toxin to

- therapeutic agent. Eur J Neurology 1997;4(suppl2):S1-3.
  A. Ref: 6,49,68,82-85,89,93,95-98
  B. Ref: 23,25,47,51,52,80,82,84,88,92,93,96-98
  C. Ref: 25,26,51,52,82-86,88,89,93-95,97-99,105,110,112
  D. Ref: 25,36,51,84,88,92,96,107
  E. Ref: 36,81,83,84,89,92,93,96,104,110,112,113
  F. Ref: 36,81,83,89,104,108,112
  G. Ref: 82,93,104,106,112
  H. Ref: 81,111
  I. Ref: 51,108
- J. Ref: 2,114-116

54

# Addendum

Die spastische Form der nervösen Heiserkeit	Traube	1871
Funktioneller Larynxkrampf	Gerhardt	1873
Aphonia spastica	Schnitzler	1875
Phonatorischer Krampf der falschen Stimmbänder	Heymann	1878
Phonischer Stimmritzenkrampf	Schech	1879
Stammering of the vocal cords	Prosser James	1879
Spasm of the tensors of the vocal cords	Morell Mackenzie	1880
Koordinatorischer Stimmritzenkrampf	Nothnagel	1881
A rare form of laryngeal neurosis	MacBride	1884
Spasmus glottidis phonatorius	Helbing	1886
Lalophobia	Coen	1886
Aphonie und Dysphoea spastica	Michael	1886
Die spastische Form der Mogiphonie	Fraenkel	1887
Le spasme phonique de la glotte	Koch	1888
Laryngeal cramp of musicians and speakers	Foster	1890
Aphonie et dyspnée spasmodique	Onodi	1892
Aphtongia laryngea spastica	Gottstein	1893
Phonic spasm	Daniel	1896
Aphonia et dysphonia spastica	Barth	1911
Aphonia (Dysphonia) spastica	Arnoldi	1915
Dysphonia spastica	Amersbach	1929
Die spastische Form der Phonasthenie	Stein	1937
Psychophonasthenia	Greene	1938
Spasmodic aphonia	Segré	1951
Cramps of professional voice	Pradillo	1957
Dysphonia spastica of the character of vocal stuttering	Kiml	1963
Spasmodic dysphonia	Aronson	1968
Ad- and Abductor spasmodic dysphonia	Aronson	1973

Adapted from Kiml<sup>5</sup> and modified.

# Outline of the thesis

1.3

Spasmodic dysphonia is an uncommon, often severely disabling chronic voice disorder of unknown etiology. Until recently it was believed that spasmodic dysphonia was psychogenic in origin. Now it is supposed to be a focal (laryngeal) dystonia. Dystonia is a neurological disorder of central motor processing characterized by abnormal, often action-induced, involuntary movements or uncontrolled spasms, probably related to basal ganglia dysfunction. Therefore, spasmodic dysphonia can be considered as an action-induced laryngeal movement disorder. The vocal symptoms of adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) are characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strain-strangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks and glottal fry. The current treatment of choice for ADSD is botulinum toxin injections in the vocal folds.

Nevertheless, we encountered several problems both in the diagnostic work-up of these patients and in their treatment with botulinum toxin. Therefore, we focused on some of these non-explored diagnostic and therapeutic issues of this voice disorder.

The aims of the study were:

- > to define diagnostic perceptual characteristics of ADSD
- > to assess the optimal voice quality and performance through botulinum toxin injections
- > to determine the effect of botulinum toxin injections on the quality of life
- > to assess the pathophysiology of ADSD

Diagnosing spasmodic dysphonia can be difficult. Objective 'gold-standard' tests are lacking and dystonic symptoms can vary considerably over time, during different tasks and in different situations. Patients may whisper or speak in falsetto in an attempt to escape from the strain-strangled, staccato voice, masking their dystonia and hampering diagnosis. Finally, spasmodic dysphonia is a relatively rare voice disorder with which many clinicians are not familiar. One of the mainstays in the diagnostic work-up of ADSD is the evaluation of the perceptual symptoms. In **Chapter 2** ADSD is characterized perceptually through a rating system based on the GRBAS scales. Therefore, three experienced observers independently scored seventy-seven patients, quantifying the voice profiles. Moreover, the reproducibility of the "Extended" GRBAS system was assessed in eight less-experienced observers.

A substantial amount of literature is available about the efficacy of botulinum toxin injections in ADSD. Nevertheless, an important issue remained unsolved: is a unilateral injection superior to a bilateral injection, or vice versa? This question was addressed in **Chapter 3** where both procedures (unilateral and bilateral) were compared using equal doses of botulinum toxin in the same patient. In this way we tried to reduce the interpatient variability, as this is probably one of the main methodological drawbacks of earlier research, leading to contradictory results. The patients' subjective responses to botulinum toxin injections were used for assessment of the efficacy and of possible adverse effects.

Several modalities have been used to evaluate the success of botulinum toxin treatment. Among these are patient's self-evaluation of voice quality and performance, perceptual voice ratings, acoustic analysis, flexible videolaryngoscopy, aerodynamic measurements, and neuro-physiological and psychosocial testing. For all of these modalities significant improvement was found. Most studies assessed the voice at some arbitrary interval after injection and tended to concentrate on only one modality to appraise the effectiveness of this therapy. In **Chapter 4** the efficacy of botulinum toxin injections in ADSD was assessed by comparing patient's pretreatment values to posttreatment values and comparing both preand posttreatment values with those of normal controls. Perceptual ratings, (temporal) acoustic analysis, and self-assessment scores were used to achieve this. The posttreatment condition was defined as the moment the patient experienced his or her voice as normal or "optimal" after at least three consecutive injections.

For decades, (adductor) spasmodic dysphonia has been considered predominantly as a psychogenic voice disorder. The characteristic ADSD symptoms are reduced or absent during whispering, speaking or singing in a falsetto register and nonspeech

vocalizations (laughing, yawning). Spasmodic dysphonia is initially intermittent and task or situation specific. The marked intermittency and functional specificity of the symptoms have suggested a psychological basis for this unusual disorder. At present, it is generally accepted that ADSD has a neurologic, although undetermined cause. Nevertheless, it is accompanied with much mental and physical distress. In **Chapter 5** standardized psychometric tests were used to assess personality characteristics and psychological and somatic well-being of the patients. Moreover, the effect of botulinum toxin treatment on their well-being was evaluated.

As was already pointed out in the previous chapter, ADSD is regarded currently as a focal dystonia. This view is partly based on characteristic EMG patterns. The association of spasmodic dysphonia with other focal and generalized dystonias or involuntary movements, such as myoclonus and tremor supports this hypothesis. There is strong evidence that a generalized disorder is responsible for (focal) dystonias. Lack of inhibition or hyperreactivity of motor brain structures characterizes this. Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) allows the evaluation of excitability of corticospinal pathways. If generalized hyperexcitability is a feature of focal dystonias, then studies of muscles other than laryngeal ones, which are not accessible to TMS, may show abnormalities. In **Chapter 6** we investigated if TMS indeed showed evidence of cortical hyperexcitability.

In Chapter 7, the main conclusions of this research project are summarized and discussed, and some suggestions for further research are given.

In **Chapter 8**, the final comments, several striking features of adductor spasmodic dysphonia and its treatment are discussed.

Associated the volum of name utilities primovil alter intection and latitud to concertrate on only the trouble to autorities the electrometer of this littlapy. In **Chapter** the attratory of botalities to autorities the electrometer of this littlapy. In **Chapter** (alternity posterational values to posteration), values and comparing both rite and posterational values with those of controls. Note to attract the coal) account analysis, and and accounting to the normality of the riter posteration and the accounting to access the electron and the posterior and the accounting to the normality of the basis posterior and the accounting at the normality of the basis of the construction was defined as the normality to public addition basis of the volue is normal or optimal with at the normality to public addition.

Pol decades, latioucted speareustic dysphoria has been considered predominants as a psychogenic volce disorder. The characteristic AOSD symptoms are reformed a shourd during whereafter, speaking as simplers in a takents organization and minor with

Perceptual characteristics of adductor spasmodic dysphonia

APM Langeveld, HA Drost, AH Zwinderman, JHM Frijns, RJ Baatenburg de Jong. *Perceptual characteristics of adductor spasmodic dysphonia*. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2000;109:741-8

### Introduction

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) is a voice disorder that is probably due to laryngeal dystonia. Dystonia is a neurologic disorder of central motor processing, probably related to basal ganglia dysfunction, and is characterized by abnormal, often action-induced, involuntary movements or uncontrolled spasms. Spasmodic dysphonia can be associated with other focal (blepharospasm, oromandibular dystonia [Meige syndrome], torticollis and writer's cramp) or generalized dystonias or involuntary movements, such as myoclonus and tremor<sup>1</sup>. The cause of dystonia is usually idiopathic, but it can be secondary to other disorders.

Aronson<sup>2</sup> defined 2 main types of spasmodic dysphonia: the adductor and abductor types. The former is characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strainedstrangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks and glottal fry.<sup>3</sup> The abductor type, less common, is characterized by intermittent hyperabduction of the vocal cords leading to a whispering voice, hypophonia, and possible aphonic breaks.

A number of difficulties are encountered in the diagnostic workup of patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Objective gold standard tests are lacking. Dystonic symptoms vary considerably over time, during different tasks and in different situations. Patients may whisper or speak in falsetto in an attempt to escape from

the strained-strangled, staccato voice, thus masking their dystonia and hampering diagnosis. Finally, spasmodic dysphonia is a relatively rare voice disorder that is not familiar to many clinicians.

For adequate evaluation of patients with spasmodic dysphonia, a team consisting of an otolaryngologist, a neurologist, and a speech-language pathologist is necessary. The diagnosis is based on history, physical examination, perceptual evaluation of speech, and laryngological and general neurologic examination. The analysis of perceptual symptoms is one of the mainstays in the diagnostic workup of spasmodic dysphonia.

Much research has been done to find acoustic parameters of voice quality. Although acoustic analysis of the voice provides objective measures of phonation, there are no specific parameters that can acoustically characterize ADSD. In 1997, Leinonen et al<sup>4</sup> stated, "The correspondence of the current acoustic measures with what is perceived by the ear is still too poor to allow the substitution of acoustic tests for perceptual ones".

Several perceptual systems have been developed for evaluation of voice disorders in general.<sup>5-9</sup> Some of these not only describe perceptual characteristics of voice quality, but also include nonlaryngeal parameters.<sup>5,9</sup> The complexity of these systems could be the reason they were not widely introduced. Perhaps another reason for the lack of a universally acceptable system is that there is not one that has shown itself to be broad enough to effectively capture the categories necessary for all pathological voices.

The GRBAS system, based on the work of Isshiki et al,<sup>6</sup> was originally designed for quantifying the auditory impression of hoarseness for early detection of laryngeal cancer. It contains 5 well-defined parameters: "G" (overall grade of hoarseness); "R" (roughness); "B" (breathiness); "A" (asthenia); and "S" (strained quality). A four-point scale, from 0 to 3, was used to quantify each parameter.<sup>10</sup> In a multicenter study on perceptual evaluation of dysphonia, the GRBAS system appeared to be reliable and of clinical relevance, based on low intraobserver and interobserver variability. Moreover, the GRBAS profiles could discriminate quite well between different pathological groups.<sup>11</sup>

In the past 10 years, we routinely used the GRBAS system and found that not all pathological voices could be described with it. Therefore, in course of time, we extended the GRBAS system (Table 1), appending the parameters aphonia (eg,

psychogenic whispering), diplophonia (eg, nodules, cyst), staccato (eg, spasmodic dysphonia), tremor (eg, essential voice tremor), falsetto (eg, mutational voice disorder), and vocal fry (eg, spasmodic dysphonia). We feel that these characteristics of voice quality add relevant information to the original GRBAS system.

The extended GRBAS system highly agrees with the voice quality parameters proposed for perceptual evaluation of pathological voices by the Swedish authors Hammarberg and Gauffin.<sup>8</sup> This system was based on the results of perceptualacoustic correlations and on consensual validations of defining terminology. These voice quality parameters were suggested as clinically relevant and were proposed for routine voice evaluation. However, indicators for overall grade ("G" in GRBAS) and tremor ("extended" GRBAS) are lacking in the "Hammarberg system". Grade is a common description of overall severity of a voice disorder, and it reflects a global measure of voice production.<sup>12</sup> Voice tremor is present in several neurological voice disorders, and cannot be described in the Hammarberg system. However, in contrast to the GRBAS scale, the Swedish system has not been widely adopted in the English-language literature.

Until the work of Stewart et al<sup>13</sup> (1997), there were no studies in which the perceptual characteristics of ADSD were systematically investigated. Most studies dealing with this subject only used some general descriptions of the "typical" ADSD voice, eg, strained, groaning, staccato, effortful voice.<sup>2</sup> Perceptual ratings, defined or otherwise, such as overall grade, strained-strangled voice quality, overpressure, vocal spasms, phonatory effort, aperiodicity, breathiness, and tremor, were mostly used for evaluation of therapy outcome after recurrent laryngeal nerve section or botulinum toxin injections and/or for determination of the relationship with acoustic features of spasmodic dysphonia. Moreover, just a few studies subjected the ratings to statistical analysis for evaluating intraobserver and interobserver reliability.<sup>12,14-16</sup> In general, good reliability was obtained. However, comparing the results among these studies seems unjustified, because different symptoms were investigated and/or different statistics were used. Stewart et al13 designed the Unified Spasmodic Dysphonia Rating Scale (USDRS), a standardized measure for evaluation of symptoms and severity of ADSD. This was the first study in which signs and symptoms of ADSD were investigated systematically. The voices of patients with ADSD were quantified with good reliability for 14 perceptual symptoms in conversational speech and 6 voice tasks that improve or worsen perceptual symptoms.

Whereas the USDRS was purely designed for ADSD, the extended GRBAS system was designed for voice disorders in general. The aim of the present study was assessment of the perceptual characteristics of ADSD with the extended GRBAS system and evaluation of its reproducibility.

## Patients and methods

Between 1993 and 1997, we evaluated 77 patients with a clinical diagnosis of ADSD. Among them were 61 women with a mean age of 56.2 years (19 to 87 years) and 16 men with a mean age of 55.5 years (31 to 74 years). The average duration of symptoms was 8 and 7.6 years, respectively. The diagnosis of ADSD was made independently by a speech-language pathologist (H.A.D.) and an otolaryngologist (T.P.M.L.). In addition, the patients had no history of psychiatric or neurologic disorders, particularly, no other dystonias or familial tremors. All patients had symptoms of ADSD for more than one year and had undergone no previous treatment with botulinum toxin. The diagnosis was corroborated in all patients by improvement of voice quality after treatment with local injections of botulinum toxin.

All voice samples were taken before treatment and recorded in a sound-treated room with a Sony Hi-8 videocassette camera recorder and a JVC HiFi stereo videocassette recorder. The patients were seated comfortably on a chair with the microphone (Kennet ET 2100) positioned approximately 30 cm in front of the patient's mouth. Because symptoms of ADSD are markedly manifest in the habitual pitch range of the speaking voice during normal speech, spontaneous speech was used for perceptual evaluation. Spontaneous speech was recorded during history-taking, and the entire recording (on average, 3 minutes) was evaluated.

The voice quality parameters and their definitions are listed in Table 1. The ratings were performed on a visual analog (VA) scale using the extended GRBAS system. A VA scale is an undifferentiated line on which listeners rate voices by making a mark on the line to indicate the extent to which a voice possesses a given characteristic. On the score form, each parameter was scored on a continuous horizontal line of 10 cm from normal or minimal or none on the left side to extremely pathological or maximal or continuous on the right side. The distance in centimeters from the left side measured the score. Originally, in the GRBAS system a 4-point equal-appearing interval (EAI) scale was used for each parameter. "O" equaled normal, "1" slight, "2" moderate, and "3" severe. However, we preferred
the VA scale, because pilot studies suggested it was more reliable than the EAI scale (G.B. Kempster, unpublished observations, 1987). Kreiman et al<sup>17</sup> found that EAI ratings drifted significantly in a consistent direction within a listening session, in contrast to the VA ratings. Figure 1 shows an example of the perceptual evaluation of a patient with ADSD using the extended GRBAS system and the VA scales.

Table 1. Voice quality parameters and definitions of the extended GRBAS system.

GRBASGradeOverall degree of impairmentRoughnessLow-frequency aperiodic noise; random fluctuations of glottal pulseBreathinessAudible turbulent noise generated at glottisAstheniaWeak, powerless voice; no carrying powerStrainExcessive tension in vocal cords

EXTENSIONAphoniaVoice lacking in phonation; a whispering voiceDiplophoniaTwo different pitches that can be simultaneously perceivedStaccatoAbrupt voice initiation and arrest; irregular interruption of voiceTremorRapidly occurring fluctuations in pitch and/or loudness; quavering voiceFalsettoMode of phonationVocal fryLow-frequency periodic vibration

All patients were scored independently by three experienced observers (one speechlanguage pathologist and two otolaryngologists) familiar with both spasmodic dysphonia and the extended GRBAS system. The voice sound profile of ADSD was quantified with the mean scores, the standard deviations, and the associated 95% confidence intervals of the different voice characteristics. For each patient, the scores of the three observers were averaged, and these patient means were averaged to obtain the voice sound profile. The observer agreement was quantified with the intraclass correlations. Because the distributions of most scales were skewed, we also calculated the geometric means. The association between the different voice characteristics was quantified with correlation coefficients. The association between the overall grade and the different voice characteristics was quantified with correlation coefficients as well, and modeled with multiple regression analysis. The results of these analyses were reported with the estimated regression coefficients (b) and their standard errors (SE). To assess whether in our sample different voice types of ADSD existed, we performed cluster analysis. Figure 1. Example of perceptual evaluation of a patient with ADSD using our extended GRBAS system on visual analog scales.



To assess the reproducibility<sup>18</sup> of the extended GRBAS system for ADSD, 8 lessexperienced listeners scored the voices of a random subset of 58 patients. The listening procedure was performed twice (with a 4-week interval) by each listener to obtain test-retest reliability for each of the listeners on each perceptual parameter. The group consisted of 4 speech therapists and 4 otolaryngologists. To improve the interobserver rating, a training session was held with presentations of taped reference voice samples of the different parameters of the extended GRBAS system. The data were analyzed with a mixed-model ANOVA to estimate the different variance components involved. Throughout, a p value of .05 or less was considered statistically significant.

Table 2a. Visual analog scores of three experienced obse	ervers, with interobserver agreement
--	--------------------------------------

		Visual Analog Sco	res (cm; mean ± \$	SD)	Ric
	Observer 1	Observer 2	Observer 3	Average	
Grade	$6.6 \pm 1.9$	$5.9 \pm 1.7$	$6.6 \pm 1.8$	$6.3 \pm 1.7$	.79
Roughness	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	$0.2\pm0.7$	0.2 ± 0.6	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	.96
Breathiness	$1.0 \pm 1.9$	$0.8 \pm 1.4$	$0.9\pm1.5$	$0.9\pm1.6$	.93
Asthenia	3.4 ± 2.1	3.0 ± 1.9	3.4 ± 2.1	$3.3 \pm 1.9$	.82
Strain	5.2 ± 2.7	4.7 ± 2.4	4.7 ± 2.3	$4.9 \pm 2.4$	.90
Aphonia	0.8 ± 2.1	0.6 ± 1.8	0.7 ± 1.8	$0.7 \pm 1.9$	.96
Diplophonia	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	$0 \pm 0$	
Staccato	3.4 ± 2.9	$3.1 \pm 2.8$	3.4 ± 2.7	$3.3 \pm 2.7$	.91
Tremor	$1.8 \pm 2.9$	$1.8\pm2.7$	1.6 ± 2.4	$1.7 \pm 2.7$	.95
Falsetto	$0.1 \pm 0.4$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	$0.1\pm0.5$	$0.1 \pm 0.4$	.88
Vocal Fry	$2.3\pm3.6$	$2.2 \pm 3.4$	2.0 ± 3.2	$2.2 \pm 3.4$	.97

Ric - intraclass correlation

Table 2b. Distribution of the visual analog scores of the three experienced observers.

			Di	stributi	ion of Score	es			
	0	cm	0-3	cm	3-7	cm	>7	cm	
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%	
Grade	0	0	4	5	34	44	39	51	
Roughness	69	90	7	9	1	1			
Breathiness	51	66	16	21	10	13			
Asthenia	11	14	23	30	42	55	1	1	
Strain	3	4	17	22	35	45	22	29	
Aphonia	63	81	6	8	5	7	3	4	
Diplophonia	77	100							
Staccato	16	21	23	30	26	34	12	15	
Tremor	44	57	17	22	9	12	7	9	
Falsetto	74	96	3	4					
Vocal Fry	47	61	10	13	7	9	13	17	

## Results

#### Voice sound profile of ADSD

The mean scores and standard deviations of each experienced observer are given in Table 2. The distribution of the scores was skewed. For example, on the VA tremor scale, 44 patients were scored 0, 17 patients lower than 3 cm, 9 patients between 3 and 7 cm, and 7 patients above 7 cm. Because of the skewed distribution, the geometric means and their associated 95% confidence intervals were calculated as well. The geometric means were comparable with the mean scores. Therefore, only the latter were used for analysis. The mean overall grade was 6.3. Prevalent characteristics were strain (mean, 4.9), staccato (mean, 3.3), asthenia (mean, 3.3), vocal fry (mean, 2.2), and tremor (mean, 1.7). Diplophonia was not encountered, whereas roughness, breathiness, aphonia, and falsetto were rarely scored. The averages and 95% confidence intervals of the 3 observers are depicted in Figure 2. The 3 experienced observers agreed quite well: the intraclass correlations varied from .79 for the overall grade to .97 for vocal fry.

Figure 2. Voice sound profile of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Black line – mean; shaded area – 95% confidence interval.



#### Intercorrelations

To assess whether the parameters that are not in the original GRBAS system (aphonia, staccato, diplophonia, tremor, falsetto, and vocal fry) were independent voice characteristics, we calculated the correlation coefficients between these parameters (Table 3). Although aphonia and asthenia had a correlation of .56, and tremor cor-

Perceptual characteristics of ADSD

Chapter 2

related negatively (-.52) with strain, all other correlations were .3 or less, indicating that the appended perceptual characteristics were independent parameters.

#### Table 3. Intercorrelations between the 10 voice parameters.

	R	В	А	S	Aph	Di	St	Т	F	VF
Roughness	1.00									
Breathiness	0.02	1.00			1011					
Asthenia	-0.01	0.23	1.00							
Strain	0.15	0.06	0.17	1.00						
Aphonia	0.04	0.23	0.56	0.14	1.00					
Diplophonia						1.00				
Staccato	0.11	-0.21	- 0.21	0.31	- 0.11		1.00			
Tremor	-0.15	-0.10	- 0.05	- 0.52	- 0.08		0.03	1.00		
Falsetto	-0.06	0.04	0.20	0.16	0.12		- 0.04	-0.12	1.00	
Vocal Fry	-0.17	-0.16	- 0.08	0.18	- 0.20		- 0.31	-0.32	0.11	1.00
Grade	0.13	0.03	0.23	0.74	0.26		0.41	0.02	0.13	0.02

#### Determinants of overall grade

The correlations between the 10 voice characteristics and the overall grade are also depicted in Table 3. The most important determinant of the overall grade was strain (r=.74), followed by staccato (r=.41), aphonia (r=.26), and asthenia (r=.23). Analyzing the independent effects of each voice parameter on the overall grade, with backward stepwise multiple regression analysis, we confirmed that strain was the most important determinant of overall grade (b=0.660, SE=0.047, p<.0001). In addition, it was found that the other characteristics of the extended GRBAS system - staccato (b=0.116, SE=0.038, p=.0032), aphonia (b=0.201, SE=0.050, p=.0001), tremor (b=0.355, SE=0.040, p<.0001), and vocal fry (b=0.069, SE=0.030, p=.0258) - were independent determinants of overall grade.

#### Different voice types of ADSD

Cluster analysis of the 10 voice characteristics revealed 4 different voice types of ADSD. The averages of the voice characteristics in the 4 clusters are given in Table 4 (see also Figure 3). Cluster I consisted of 17 patients and was mainly characterized by vocal fry and strain with some asthenia and staccato. Cluster II consisted of 15 patients and was mainly characterized by strain and asthenia with some breathiness, aphonia, and staccato. Cluster III consisted of 23 patients

and was mainly characterized by strain and staccato with some asthenia and tremor. Finally, cluster IV consisted of 22 patients and was primarily characterized by tremor with some asthenia, strain, and staccato. On average, the overall grade was most severe in cluster III (mean, 7.1) and least severe in cluster IV (mean, 5.0). Men and women were equally distributed among the 4 different clusters.

#### Table 4. Visual analog scores of voice parameters in four clusters of adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

	Cluster I	Cluster II	Cluster III	Cluster IV	
	(n=17)	(n=15)	(n=23)	(n=22)	p*
Grade	6.6 ± 1.4	$6.9 \pm 1.2$	$7.1 \pm 1.6$	5.0 ± 1.7	<.001
Roughness	$0.1 \pm 0.2$	$0.5 \pm 1.0$	$0.3 \pm 0.8$	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	.23
Breathiness	$0.6 \pm 1.4$	$2.6 \pm 2.2$	$0.6 \pm 1.0$	$0.4 \pm 1.0$	<.001
Asthenia	$3.2\pm1.4$	$5.1\pm1.4$	$2.3 \pm 2.0$	$3.1 \pm 1.7$	<.001
Strain	$5.9\pm1.9$	$6.1 \pm 1.6$	6.0 ± 1.7	$2.0\pm1.2$	<.001
Aphonia	$0.0\pm0.0$	$2.8 \pm 3.0$	$0.2 \pm 0.9$	$0.3 \pm 1.2$	<.001
Diplophonia	$0.0\pm0.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	
Staccato	$1.9 \pm 2.1$	$2.0 \pm 2.0$	$6.2 \pm 2.1$	$2.2\pm1.7$	<.001
Tremor	$0.3\pm0.8$	$0.3\pm0.6$	$1.1 \pm 1.7$	$4.4\pm3.3$	<.001
Falsetto	$0.2\pm0.5$	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	$0.0 \pm 0.0$	$0.0\pm0.0$	.27
Vocal Fry	$8.1 \pm 1.3$	$0.2\pm0.6$	$0.5 \pm 1.1$	$0.7\pm1.1$	<.001
Number of men	4 (24%)	5 (33%)	4 (17%)	3 (14%)	.50
Age (years)	$45 \pm 10$	$54\pm15$	$59 \pm 14$	$63\pm19$	<.005
Median duration					
of ADSD in months	24	96	120	90	<.0001
(range)	(3-144)	(8-216)	(7-372)	(8-240)	

Data are mean  $\pm$  SD in centimeters, except as indicated

\* p value of 1-way analysis of variance,  $\chi^2$  test, or Kruskal-Wallis test, where appropriate

However, patient's age and duration of the spasmodic dysphonic symptoms differed significantly (p values of .005 and .0001, respectively). Cluster I consisted of the youngest patients (45 years) with shortest median duration of symptoms (2 years). The patients with the longest duration of symptoms (10 years) were grouped in cluster III. Cluster II represented an intermediate group with respect to age and duration of symptoms. The oldest patients were found in Cluster IV, in which vocal tremor was the most dominant feature. Strain was considerably less in cluster IV compared to the other clusters.





Figure 3b. Voice sound profile Cluster II (black line) and general profile of ADSD (shaded area).





Figure 3d. Voice sound profile Cluster IV (black line) and general profile of ADSD (shaded area).



Chapter 2

77

Intra- and interobserver agreement in eight less-experienced observers Intraobserver and interobserver agreement between the 2 observations of the 8 less-experienced observers for the subgroup of 58 patients is summarized in Table 5. On average, the differences between the first and second judgements of these observers were quite small (Table 5, "mean  $\delta$ "). The intraobserver agreement calculated by means of the intraclass coefficients was acceptable, except for the roughness, diplophonia, and falsetto scales (0.36, 0.07, and 0.43, respectively). However, these scales showed almost no variation between patients, and because the intraclass coefficient is proportional to the variance between patients, the intraclass coefficients are expected to be low.

The main source of variance of the judgments was the difference between the patients: the interobserver intraclass correlations of the overall grade, strain, aphonia, staccato, and vocal fry scales were above 0.5. For the other scales, the correlation coefficients were less than 0.5. Again, it must be stressed that these scales had little variance.

#### Table 5. Variance components in the judgments of eight less-experienced observers.

	Intra-observer Agreement	Intraclass	correlation
	mean $\delta^* \pm SD$	Intraobserver	Interobserver
		Agreement	Agreement
Grade	0.0.0.0.1 ± 1.3	0.77	0.58 1 0.58
Roughness	$0.0 \pm 0.8$	0.36	0.30
Breathiness	$0.3 \pm 1.4$	0.52	0.41
Asthenia	$0.1 \pm 1.9$	0.59	0.41
Strain	$0.2 \pm 1.9$	0.75	0.52
Aphonia	$0.3 \pm 1.3$	0.76	0.72
Diplophonia	$0.1 \pm 0.5$	0.07	0.07
Staccato	0.7 ± 2.1	0.72	0.56
Tremor	$0.2 \pm 1.9$	0.64	0.41
Falsetto	$0.1 \pm 0.6$	0.43	0.30
Vocal Fry	$0.5 \pm 2.1$	0.69	0.65

\*Mean  $\delta$  was defined as first judgment minus second judgment averaged over observers and patients.

## Discussion

Perceptual evaluation of the voice is a reliable tool in the hands of experienced judges (high intraobserver and interobserver agreement). After training and with the use of anchor stimuli, good reliability for less-experienced listeners can be obtained as well. Nevertheless, there are several drawbacks to perceptual scaling. Numerous scales have been developed, but there is still no uniformity or standardization, and validity testing is not always performed. However, voice perception is a complex process and is probably determined by more acoustic information than we are capable of analyzing. As pointed out by Kreiman et al,<sup>17</sup> perceptual evaluation is the standard against which other measures are evaluated. Moreover, as long as the relationship between the perceived voice and acoustic analysis is unclear, we have to depend on our ears.

One of the best-investigated perceptual rating scales is the GRBAS system. In a multicenter study on perceptual evaluation of dysphonia, the GRBAS system appeared to be reliable and of clinical relevance, on the basis of low intraobserver and interobserver variability. In addition, the GRBAS profiles could significantly discriminate between the different pathological groups.<sup>4,11</sup> Compared to other systems, De Bodt et al<sup>10</sup> recommended the use of the GRBAS scale for clinical practice, because of its simplicity, and because it enables a relatively consistent description of voice quality, making it an effective tool for communication between disciplines.

However, not all features of pathological voices can be described with the GRBAS system. Therefore, we appended 6 parameters (aphonia, diplophonia, staccato, tremor, falsetto, and vocal fry) that were partly based on our own experience and partly derived from Hammarberg and Gauffin.<sup>8</sup> In contrast to other scaling methods of voice disorders,<sup>5,9</sup> the extended GRBAS system only describes vocal quality or laryngeal (dys)function. As no other features of the voice or speech tract are determined, clinical usefulness is enhanced.

Stewart et al<sup>13</sup> were the first who systematically investigated the signs and symptoms of ADSD and designed the USDRS. The perceptual parameters or voice characteristics of the USDRS highly correspond with the extended GRBAS system. In Table 6, the resemblances between the rating scales are depicted. Falsetto and diplophonia were not described in the USDRS. Indeed, these perceptual parameters were not significant in our study. The main aim of the present study was to assess the perceptual characteristics of ADSD with the extended GRBAS system. The most prevalent characteristics of ADSD were strain, staccato, asthenia, vocal fry, and tremor. The most important parameter of the overall grade was strain (r=.74). This is in line with the findings of Zwirner et al.<sup>12</sup> They found that the strained-strangled voice quality correlated significantly with the more global parameter of overall severity, so that this specific perceptual parameter is indeed suitable for the perceptual characterization of the severity of the ADSD. They concluded that this parameter could provide the initial cue as to the presence of this disorder in clinical situations.

In the present study, there was high agreement among the experienced observers: the mean intraclass correlation was .91 (SD, .06; minimum, .79; maximum, .97). The correlations between the scores of the 10 voice characteristics demonstrated that all parameters were independent voice characteristics, the extension of the GRBAS system included.

Interestingly, cluster analysis of the 10 voice characteristics revealed 4 different voice types of ADSD (Table 4 and Figure 3). The sexes were equally distributed among the 4 clusters. However, the patients' ages and durations of symptoms differed significantly. The meaning of these findings is not clear. One can hypothesize that the 4 clusters represent different manifestations of the same disease related to the age of onset, or reflect compensatory strategies. On the other hand, these data could also suggest a shift in symptoms that occurs as the disease progresses. However, this could only be proven in a longitudinal study. The Clusters I, II, and III all have strain as the dominant feature in combination with another characteristic voice quality parameter (vocal fry, asthenia-aphonia, and staccato, respectively). On the other hand, patients having a vocal tremor as the most dominant feature combined with a little strain possibly represent a different type of spasmodic dysphonia, which was already described by Aronson in 1981.19 According to Aronson and Lagerlund,<sup>20</sup> essential voice tremor and dystonia are the 2 extrapyramidal neurologic syndromes that are responsible for most neurologic forms of spasmodic dysphonia. With respect to our study, dystonia appeared to be responsible for the perceptual characteristics of clusters I, II, and III, and essential voice tremor for cluster IV.

Table 6. Resemblances between USDRS and extended GRBAS system.

USDRS	extended GRBAS system
Overall severity	Grade
Rough voice quality	Roughness
Breathy voice quality	Breathiness
Strained-strangled voice quality	Strain
Abrupt voice initiation	≈ Staccato
Voice arrest	= Staccato
Aphonia	Aphonia del Olice del Olice
Voice loudness	Asthenia
Burst of loudness	≈ Staccato
Voice tremor	Tremor
Expiratory effort	≈ Strain
Speech rate*	
Speech intelligibility reduced*	
Related movements and grimaces <sup>†</sup>	
USDRS - Unified Spasmodic Dysphonia Rating Scale <sup>13</sup>	
≈ approximately equivalent to	
* not specific to laryngeal function	
† not applicable to laryngeal function	

In regard to the intracbserver and interobserver agreements in the 8 less-experienced observers, it can be concluded that the differences between the first and second judgments of these observers were quite small. The interobserver agreement can be considered fair-to-good,<sup>21</sup> if we take into account that the main source of variance of the judgments was the difference between the patients. The main determinants of ADSD (overall grade, strain, aphonia, staccato, and vocal fry) all showed intraclass correlations above .5. This means that even less-trained listeners are able to describe the ADSD voice with the extended GRBAS system.

# Conclusions

The findings of this study demonstrate that the extended GRBAS system can be used for accurate and reproducible perceptual characterization of ADSD. Moreover, this system identified 4 voice clusters of ADSD with significant differences in voice and demographic characteristics. The relevance of this finding is not clear and requires further investigation.

## References

- 1. Fahn S. The varied clinical expressions of dystonia. Neurological Clinics 1984;2:541-54.
- Aronson AE. Adductor spastic dysphonia; abductor spastic dysphonia. In: Aronson AE, ed. Clinical voice disorders, an interdisciplinary approach. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Thieme, 1985:157-98.
- Davidson BJ, Ludlow CL. Long-term effects of botulinum toxin injections in spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1996;105:33-42.
- Leinonen L, Hilturien T, Laakso M, Rihkanen H, Poppius H. Categorization of voice disorders with six perceptual dimensions. Folia Phoniatr Logop 1997;49:9-20.
- Laver J. The Phonetic Description of Voice Quality. London, England: Cambridge University Press, 1980.
- Isshiki N, Okamura H, Tanabe M, Morimoto M. Differential diagnosis of hoarseness. Folia Phoniatr (Basel) 1969;21:9-19.
- Hirano M. Psycho-acoustic evaluation of voice. In: Hirano M, ed. Clinical examination of voice. New York, Springer-Verlag, 1981:81-4.
- Hammarberg B, Gauffin J. Perceptual and acoustic characteristics of quality differences in pathological voices related to physiological aspects. In: Fujimura O, Hirano M eds. Vocal fold physiology. San Diego, Calif: Singular Publishing Group, 1995:283-303.
- 9. Wilson DK. Voice problems of children. Baltimore, Md: Williams and Wilkins, 1987.
- De Bodt MS, Van de Heyning PH, Wuyts FL, Lambrechts L. The perceptual evaluation of voice disorders. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Belg 1996;50:283-91.
- Dejonckere PH, Obbens C, De Moor GM, Wieneke GH. Perceptual evaluation of dysphonia: reliability and relevance. Folia Phoniatr (Basel) 1993;45:76-83.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Woodson GE. Perceptual-acoustic relationships in spasmodic dysphonia. J Voice 1993;7:165-71.
- Stewart CF, Allen EL, Tureen P, Diamond BE, Blitzer A, Brin MF. Adductor spasmodic dysphonia: standard evaluation of symptoms and severity. J Voice 1997;11:95-103.

- Sapir S, Aronson AE, Thomas JE. Judgment of voice improvement after recurrent laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia: clinicians versus patients. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1986;95:137-41.
- 15. Sapir S, Aronson AE. Clinician reliability in rating voice improvement after laryngeal nerve section for spastic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1985;95:200-2.
- Izdebski K, Dedo HH, Shipp T, Flower RM. Postoperative and follow-up studies of spastic dysphonia patients treated by recurrent laryngeal nerve section. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1981;89:96-101.
- Kreiman J, Gerratt BR, Kempster GB, Erman A, Berke GS. Perceptual evaluation of voice quality: review, tutorial, and a framework for future research. J Speech Hear Res 1993;36:21-40.
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. The Lancet 1986;I:307-10.
- Aronson AE. Adductor spastic dysphonia as a sign of essential (voice) tremor. J Speech Hear Res 1981;46:52-8.
- Aronson AE, Lagerlund TD. Neuroimaging studies do not prove the existence of brain abnormalities in spastic (spasmodic) dysphonia. J Speech Hear Res 1991;34:801-5.
- 21. Fleiss JL. Statistical methods for rates and proportions. 2nd ed. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons, 1981.

Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in adductor spasmodic dysphonia

APM Langeveld, HA Drost, RJ Baatenburg de Jong. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in Adductor Spasmodic Dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1998;107:280-4.

An estimation The Local (1953) (11)
 An estimation The Local (1953) (11)

the second second by the and properties. Drawn have this, all paperties

## Introduction

Spasmodic dysphonia is a voice disorder of unknown cause. Until recently, it was believed that spasmodic dysphonia had a psychogenic origin. However, now it is generally accepted that spasmodic dysphonia has a neurologic, although undetermined, cause. In 1985, Blitzer et al<sup>1</sup> linked spasmodic dysphonia to dystonia through a clinical and electromyographic evaluation of 'spastic' dysphonic patients and patients with multifocal or generalized dystonia. Dystonia is a neurologic disorder of central motor processing, characterized by abnormal, often action-induced, involuntary movements or uncontrolled spasms, probably related to dysfunction of the basal ganglia. Symptoms usually begin as focal dystonia involving a single region of the body. Spread to other regions is commonly seen in childhoodonset dystonia, while adult-onset dystonia tends to remain focal.<sup>2</sup> Spasmodic dysphonia can be associated with other focal (blepharospasm, oromandibular dystonia [Meige syndrome], torticollis and writer's cramp) or generalized dystonias or involuntary movements, such as myoclonus and tremor.<sup>3</sup> The cause of dystonia is usually idiopathic, but it can be secondary to other disorders. Aronson<sup>4</sup> defined two main types: adductor and abductor. The adductor type was already described by Von Traube in 1871. It is characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strained-strangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks, and glottal fry.5 The abductor type, the less common form, is characterized by intermittent hyperabduction of the vocal cords leading to a whispering voice, hypophonia, and possible aphonic breaks.

In the past 100 years many different treatments have been applied to spasmodic dysphonia, including psychotherapy, speech therapy, systemic drugs and recurrent laryngeal nerve surgery. In general, these treatments were ineffective. After the introduction of botulinum toxin type A in ophthalmology by Scott<sup>6</sup> in 1980, botulinum toxin has been used in the treatment of a wide range of dystonias. In 1986 Blitzer et al7 published the first results of the treatment of spasmodic dysphonia with a local injection in the thyroarytenoid muscle. Botulinum toxin prevents the release of acetylcholine at the motor end plates, resulting in a partial or complete muscle paralysis. The effect is temporary, because of axonal sprouting at the motor end plate that results in reinnervation of the muscle. Therefore, repeated injections of botulinum toxin are necessary. The side effects depend on the dose, the volume injected, and the patient's sensitivity to the toxin. They are transient and related to the site of injection: vocal breathiness and aspiration. These side effects probably result from diffusion of the botulinum toxin into the adjacent muscles.<sup>8</sup>

In the past 10 years, the efficacy of this symptomatic therapy has been described in more than 25 papers in the otolaryngology literature. These studies indicate that relief of symptoms is provided for approximately 4 months.<sup>9</sup> Moreover, in a double-blind controlled study in 1991, Truong et al<sup>10</sup> proved that botulinum toxin acts as more than a placebo. However, two important questions remain: 1) What is the optimal dose of botulinum toxin? and 2) Is a unilateral injection superior to a bilateral injection? In the present study, the attention was focused on the second question.

In 1993, Adams et al<sup>11</sup> reported a study in which the unilateral and bilateral procedures were compared. On the basis of acoustic measurements, they concluded that unilateral botulinum toxin injections provided superior and longer-lasting benefits as compared to bilateral injections. In the comparative study of Zwirner et al<sup>12</sup> in 1993, no significant differences could be found. Both injection modes resulted in the reduction of laryngeal spasms within 48 hours after injection. In 1994, Maloney and Morrison<sup>13</sup> recommended that botulinum toxin injections for spasmodic dysphonia should be initiated with a bilateral protocol. If the patient experienced severe side effects, a unilateral injection was offered with the understanding that both vocal benefit and duration of effect would be reduced. An explanation for the different results in these studies could be that unilateral and bilaterChapter 3

al injections were compared in two different, relatively small groups with different doses of botulinum toxin.

The aim of this study was to compare the efficacy and side effects of unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia. By comparing both procedures (unilateral and bilateral) using equal doses (5 units and 2 x 2.5 units, respectively) of botulinum toxin in the same patient, we tried to reduce the interpatient variability. The patient's subjective responses to botulinum toxin injections were used for assessment of the efficacy and adverse effects.

## Patients and methods

Twenty-seven patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia were included in this prospective study. Among them were 20 women with a mean age of 57 years (19 to 85 years) and 7 men with a mean age of 58 years (41 to 69 years). The average durations of symptoms were 11 and 12 years, respectively. Diagnosis of adductor spasmodic dysphonia was made independently by the speech-language pathologist (H.A.D.) and the otolaryngologists (T.P.M.L, R.J.B.d.J.). None of the patients had been treated surgically or with botulinum toxin injections. All patients signed informed consent forms.

All patients underwent both treatments. During the first procedure 5 units (1.25 units per 0.1 ml) of botulinum toxin (Botox®, Allergan) were injected in the left thyroarytenoid muscle only. This side was chosen for practical reasons: for a right-handed surgeon it is easier to insert the needle in the left thyroarytenoid muscle. The second treatment was performed after the voice quality had returned to the preinjection level (established by the patient and by audio and video registrations). During this procedure, both thyroarytenoid muscles were injected, each with 2.5 units (1.25 units per 0.1 ml) of botulinum toxin. Those patients who did not respond at all after the first treatment received their second treatment after at least 3 months.

Under electromyographic guidance, a monopolar 27-gauge, 30 mm Teflon®-coated needle was inserted percutaneously, through the cricothyroid membrane into the left thyroarytenoid muscle during the first procedure, and into both thyroarytenoid muscles during the second procedure. For safety, we used the lowest efficacious dose reported in literature: 5 units in total.

The pretreatment and posttreatment conditions (intelligibility of speech and fluency of speech) were assessed by means of self-rating scales (Figure 1). A similar scale was used for assessment of side effects: breathy dysphonia and swallowing problems. During the first week after the injection, the patient had to rate the effect and side effects daily. Thereafter, the rating was weekly for at least 3 months. From these self-rating scales, the occurrence and duration of effects and side effects could be determined (Figure 2).

Figure 1. Self-rating scales for assessment of effects and side effects before and after injection of botulinum toxin. 'Poor' and 'never' were scored as 0%, and 'fine' and 'always' as 100%.



At the end of the study, all patients were asked which treatment they preferred, taking into account both voice quality and side effects. The McNemar  $\chi 2$  test was used for statistical analysis. Test results with p < .05 were considered statistically significant.

## Results

Twenty-three (85%) of the 27 patients experienced a positive effect of the botulinum toxin injection after both procedures. Usually, it took 48 to 72 hours until an optimal effect was established. Four patients did not notice any improvement at all, either after a unilateral or after a bilateral injection. After the dose was raised to 3.75 units bilaterally, 3 of them had an improvement of voice quality. Including these patients, the overall success rate was 96%. The remaining patient withdrew after the second procedure because of the side effects.



After a unilateral injection, the voice improvement (ie, improvement of intelligibility and fluency of speech) lasted for 8 weeks (range 1 to 24 weeks), and after a bilateral procedure, 9.3 weeks (range 1 to 16 weeks; Table 1). Breathy dysphonia or a weak voice occurred after a unilateral injection in 13 patients and lasted 15 days on average (Table 2). After a bilateral injection this was seen in 16 patients for 15 days on average. These differences were not statistically significant. However, swallowing difficulties, that is, mild choking on fluids, were rated as statistically significantly more frequent after the bilateral procedure (McNemar  $\chi^2$  test, p < .05). This side effect lasted for 15 days in 15 patients, compared to 11 days in 9 patients after a unilateral injection.

One of the 4 patients who had no beneficial effect after a dose of 5 units had severe swallowing problems after the bilateral injection, and she withdrew from further treatment.

#### Result

#### Table 1. Duration of voice improvement in weeks.

	Unilateral	Bilateral	McNemar χ2 test
Mean	<b>1</b> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	9.3	en el es NS este com
SD	5.4	4.7	
Range	1-24	1-16	
Four patients die	I not respond and are exclu-	ded, so that n=23.	
NS - not signific	ant. et alta alta		

At the end of the study, the patients were asked which treatment they preferred concerning voice quality and duration of benefit in relation to duration and severity of side effects. Fourteen patients (61%) of the 23 preferred a bilateral injection, 5 (22%) a unilateral injection, and 4 (17%) patients had no preference.

Table 2. Side effects after unilateral and bilateral injections of botulinum toxin.

	Unilateral	Bilateral	McNemar $\chi 2$ test
Breathy dysphonia			
No. of patients	13	16	NS
Mean duration in days $\pm$ SD	15±8.8	$15 \pm 8.6$	NS
Swallowing problems			
No. of patients	9	15	p<.05
Mean duration in days $\pm$ SD	$11 \pm 5.8$	15±6.9	NS
n=27			

Disqueei

# Discussion

Concerning the overall improvement of vocal function, our results are in line with those of other studies.<sup>11-13</sup> Both unilateral and bilateral injections resulted in a better voice. In regard to the duration of voice improvement, no significant differences could be found between the unilateral and bilateral procedures in this study. After both procedures, 85% of the patients reported a better voice for approximately 8 to 9 weeks. With regard to the adverse effects of the injections, no differences were found between the procedures in the occurrence and duration of breathy dysphonia or a weak voice. On the other hand, significantly more patients rated swallowing problems after the bilateral injection.

The present study was focused on the question of whether unilateral or bilateral injections are to be preferred. Our results differ from those of the previously mentioned reports.<sup>11-13</sup> Adams et al<sup>11</sup> advocate a unilateral injection. A superior and longer-lasting benefit of this procedure was found on the basis of acoustic measurements. Perceptually, no significant differences could be detected. No differences in the occurrence of side effects between both procedures were found, although swallowing problems were not mentioned. In our view, two important methodological problems are encountered in this study. First, the two procedures used different doses of botulinum toxin. In the unilateral procedure, 15 units were injected, and in the bilateral procedure, 5 units. When more botulinum toxin is

injected, a longer-lasting effect can be expected. Therefore, we cannot support their conclusion that a unilateral injection is superior. In our study, 5 units were injected in both unilateral and bilateral procedures, and no significant differences in duration of benefit were found. Second, there is a wide variety in the expression and severity of spasmodic dysphonia. Therefore, in their study, with relatively few patients, interpatient variability may play a considerable role.

In the study of Zwirner et al,<sup>12</sup> the same methodological problems are encountered. In addition, various doses were used. Moreover, it was indicated that the patients who were injected bilaterally were affected more severely. Therefore, this study does not allow conclusions concerning unilateral and bilateral injection, either.

The third comparative study was performed by Maloney and Morrison<sup>13</sup> in 1994. They recommended that botulinum toxin injections for spasmodic dysphonia should be initiated on a bilateral protocol. Although more side effects were encountered after the bilateral treatment, improvement of vocal quality was better and duration of the benefit longer. In this study too, different and various doses of botulinum toxin were used. Moreover, there was a wide range in the number of treatments. The range of bilateral treatments was 1 to 6, and unilateral, 1 to 4, injecting 1 to 7 units and 3 to 7 units, respectively. It is not clear at which moment in the study (or after how many treatments) the effect and side effects were evaluated, and how many units of botulinum toxin had been injected.

In our study, the above-mentioned methodological drawbacks were avoided by performing the unilateral and bilateral procedures in the same patient, to exclude interpatient variability. By using the same dose of botulinum toxin in both procedures, a second disturbing factor was eliminated. It is remarkable that there was no difference in the average duration of effect. However, most patients preferred a bilateral injection, even at the cost of more and longer-lasting adverse effects. From the results of this study, we designed a treatment protocol that we apply to each new patient. The first treatment is a unilateral injection of 5 units in the left thyroarytenoid muscle, minimizing the occurrence of undesirable side effects. When the effect has ceased, 2.5 units in each thyroarytenoid muscle is injected during the second procedure. The choice for the next treatment depends on the patient's preference. If necessary, the dose can be changed to adjust efficacy and adverse effects.

# Conclusions

A unilateral injection of 5 units botulinum toxin provides the same duration of voice improvement as a bilateral injection. In addition, the unilateral procedure carries less swallowing morbidity. On the other hand, most patients prefer a bilateral injection, in spite of more and longer-lasting side effects.

# References

- Blitzer A, Lovelace RE, Brin MF, Fahn S, Fink ME. Electromyographic findings in focal laryngeal dystonia (spastic dysphonia). Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1985;94:591-4.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, Lovelace RE. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of focal laryngeal dystonia: a study of 110 cases. Laryngoscope 1988;98:636-40.
- 3. Fahn S. The varied clinical expressions of dystonia. Neurol Clin 1984;2:541-54.
- Aronson AE. Adductor spastic dysphonia; abductor spastic dysphonia. in: Aronson AE, ed. Clinical voice disorders, an interdisciplinary approach. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Thieme,1985:157-98.
- Davidson BJ, Ludlow CL. Long-term effects of botulinum toxin injections in spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1992;105:33-42.
- Scott AB. Botulinum toxin injections into extraocular muscles as an alternative to strabismussurgery. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 1980;17:21-5.
- Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, Lange D, Lovelace RE. Letter to the editor. Laryngoscope 1986;96:1300-1.
- Rosen M, Malmgren LT, Gacek RR. Three-dimensional computer reconstruction of the distribution of neuromuscular junctions in the thyroarytenoid muscle. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1983;92:424-9.
- Murry T, Cannito MP, Woodson GE. Spasmodic dysphonia, emotional status and botulinum toxin treatment. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1994;120:310-6.
- Truong DD, Rontal M, Rolnick M, Aronson AE, Mistura K. Double-blind controlled study of botulinum toxin in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Laryngoscope 1991;101:630-4.
- Adams SG, Hunt EJ, Charles DA, Lang AE. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum injections in spasmodic dysphonia: acoustic and perceptual results. J Otolaryngol 1993;22:171-5.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Woodson GE. A comparison of bilateral and unilateral botulinum toxin treatments for spasmodic dysphonia. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 1993;250:271-6.
- Maloney AP, Morrison MD. A comparison of the efficacy of unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in the treatment of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1994;23:160-4.

Evaluation of voice quality in adductor spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin treatment

APM Langeveld, M van Rossum, EH Houtman, AH Zwinderman, JJ Briaire, RJ Baatenburg de Jong. *Evaluation of voice quality in adductor spasmodic dysphonia before and after butolinum toxin injections*. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 'in press'.

investigators. Most studies assessed the voice at some arbitrary interval (eg, 2, 4 or 6 weeks) after injection. What is lacking is research focussing on "optimal" voice quality and performance after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment and in which different modalities are combined.

Therefore, the aim of the present study was to assess to what extent voice quality and performance actually improve through injection with Botox<sup>®</sup>. This was done by comparing patients' pretreatment voice with the optimal voice (as judged by the patient), as well as comparing both pretreatment and optimal voice with normal control voices. The most frequently used testing modalities were applied: perceptual ratings, (temporal) acoustic analysis, and self-assessment scores.

## Patients and methods

#### Subjects

Two groups participated in this study. One group consisted of 46 patients with ADSD. Diagnosis of ADSD was made independently by a speech-language pathologist and two otorhinolaryngologists.<sup>3</sup> Fourteen of these subjects were men with a mean age of 47 years (range, 32 to 72 years) and 32 were women with a mean age of 49 years (range, 19 to 82 years). The second (control) group consisted of 46 normal subjects with no known speech, hearing, or neurologic disorders. The 2 groups were matched for age ( $\pm$  1 year) and sex.

#### Time schedule of recordings

This study was part of a larger prospective clinical trial, in which different procedures of Botox® injection were compared in ADSD patients. All 46 patients underwent unilateral and bilateral injections. During the first procedure, 5 units (1.25 U/0.1mL) of Botox® was injected in the left thyroarytenoid muscle only. The second treatment was performed after the voice quality had returned to the preinjection level (as established by the patient and by audio and video registrations). During this procedure, both thyroarytenoid muscles were injected, each with 2.5 units (1.25 U/0.1 mL) of Botox®. Using electromyographic guidance, a monopolar 27-gauge, 30 mm Teflon®-coated needle was inserted percutaneously, through the cricothyroid membrane into the left thyroarytenoid muscle, during the first procedure, or into both thyroarytenoid muscles, during the second procedure.

The choice for the next treatment depended on the patient's preference. The dose was adjusted by titrating efficacy and side effects. The endpoint of the study was

Chapter 4

## Introduction

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) is an uncommon and poorly understood voice disorder that is probably due to laryngeal dystonia. The vocal symptoms are characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strain-strangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks, and glottal fry. The current treatment of choice for ADSD is botulinum toxin (Botox®) injections in the vocal folds.<sup>1</sup> Most papers dealing with ADSD and Botox® treatment conclude that these patients, as a group, have benefited.

Several modalities have been used to evaluate the success of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment: patient's self-evaluation' of voice quality and performance, perceptual voice ratings, acoustic analysis, flexible videolaryngoscopy, aerodynamic measurements, and neurophysiological, and psychosocial testing.<sup>2</sup> For all of these modalities significant improvement was found. Efficacy was evaluated either by comparing patients' pretreatment and posttreatment conditions or by comparing the pretreatment or posttreatment values with those of normal controls. Available studies in the literature tend to concentrate on only one modality in appraising the effectiveness of this therapy. For example, some studies report improvement on the basis of patient self-rating scales, while others only rely on aerodynamic or acoustic measurements. Moreover, the frequency of recordings, and moments in time at which the voice was recorded after Botox<sup>®</sup> injection, varied considerably among clinical

the moment at which the patient experienced an optimal voice quality and performance. This was obtained after 3 Botox<sup>®</sup> injections in 26 patients, after 4 injections in 18 patients, and after 5 injections in 2 patients. Thirty-five patients were most satisfied after a bilateral injection, 11 after a unilateral injection. The dosages varied: 5, 7.5, and 10 units in 20, 23 and 3 patients, respectively.

The moment the patients entered the study (pretreatment), they were asked to complete a self-rating questionnaire for judgment of the voice. At that time, recordings were made for perceptual and acoustic evaluation of the voice quality. The moment the patients judged their voices to be optimal, all tests and recordings were repeated. Recordings of the normal control group were obtained over a period of 4 weeks. The following within- and between-group comparisons could therefore be made: 1) within the ADSD group, differences between pretreatment and posttreatment voices; 2) between groups, differences between the ADSD pretreatment group and normal controls; and 3) between groups, differences between the ADSD posttreatment group and normal controls.

#### Perceptual analysis

The most widely used perceptual rating system is the GRBAS scale, based on the work of Isshiki et al.<sup>4</sup> However, with this system not all audible features of ADSD can be described. Therefore, in a previous study,5 we extended the GRBAS system with 6 relevant parameters. It was demonstrated that the extended GRBAS system could be used for accurate and reproducible perceptual characterization of ADSD. Since symptoms of ADSD are markedly manifest during conversational speech, spontaneous speech was recorded for perceptual evaluation (see section on acoustic analysis data collection, below). The voice guality parameters and their definitions are listed in Table 1. The ratings were performed on visual analog scales. On the score form, each parameter was scored on a continuous horizontal line of 10 cm, from normal on the left side to extremely pathological on the right side. The distance in centimeters from the left side determined the score. All voice samples were evaluated and scored by 3 experienced observers who were familiar with both spasmodic dysphonia and the extended GRBAS system. In those instances in which the judges rated voice quality differently, a consensus was reached through reevaluation and discussion.

#### Table 1. Voice quality parameters and definitions of the extended GRBAS system.

GRBAS	
Grade	Overall degree of impairment
Roughness	Low-frequency aperiodic noise; random fluctuations of glottal pulse
Breathiness	Audible turbulent noise generated at glottis
Asthenia	Weak, powerless voice; no carrying power
Strain	Excessive tension in vocal cords
EXTENSION	
Aphonia	Voice lacking in phonation; a whispering voice
Diplophonia	Two different pitches that can be simultaneously perceived
Staccato	Abrupt voice initiation and arrest; irregular interruption of voice
Tremor	Rapidly occurring fluctuations in pitch and/or loudness; quavering voice
Falsetto	Mode of phonation
local fry	Low-frequency periodic vibration

#### Subjective voice evaluation

For the subjective evaluation of vocal function, a questionnaire was designed that consisted of several aspects of voice quality and function. These included the intelligibility of speech (conversational speech, during a party, in a public gathering), fatigue (tiring and shortness of breath), loudness, mode of phonation (fluency and strain), and known side effects of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment such as hoarseness or a breathy voice and choking on fluids. The ratings were performed on visual analog scales (10 cm) from severe or poor on the left side to normal or good on the right side. The distance in centimeters from the left side determined the score. During the first week after the injection, rating was on a daily basis. Thereafter, the rating was weekly for at least 3 months.

#### Acoustic analysis

*Data Collection*. All the speech material was recorded in a sound-treated room, using a Kennet ET 2100 electret microphone, a Sony Hi-8 videocassette camera recorder, and a JVC HiFi stereo videocassette recorder. The recording level was adjusted for each subject to optimize the signal-to-noise ratio and was then kept constant for the remainder of the recording. The mouth-to-microphone distance was kept at approximately 30 cm.

The subjects were asked to produce a number of sustained vowels /a/ (as in the Dutch word aap) at a comfortable pitch and loudness level. They also had to repeat a standard Dutch sentence (Adam at altijd een appel op; "Adam always ate an apple") at a normal conversational level. For each subject, the vowel and sentence that sounded most like the subject's habitual voice were analog-to-digital converted (sampling frequency, 44.1 kHz) and digitally filtered with a 16th-order bandpass Butterworth filter (80 Hz to 15 kHz). The signal was stored on a computer system and used for subsequent acoustic analyses. A total of 92 vowels and sentences (46 ADSD patients and 46 matched controls) were therefore stored in separate files.

All acoustic analyses were done with PRAAT, a software package for processing speech signals.<sup>6</sup> A number of acoustic parameters were evaluated to give a more complete description of the voice and speech quality of the ADSD patients.

*Temporal Acoustics.* As the involuntary disruption of phonation seen in ADSD also interferes with fluent speech, the following temporal aspects of speech production were evaluated for the standard sentence.<sup>7</sup> The total speaking time (TST) was the total duration of a sentence measured from the onset of the first word to the offset of the last word in a sentence. The onset and offset of acoustic energy were determined perceptually and through visual assessment of oscillographic and spectrographic information. The total interword interval time (TIIT) was the total of the durations of all interword silences exceeding 10 ms. The total articulation time (TAT) was the total duration of the sentence minus the interword interval time (TST minus TIIT).

*Vowel Onset Times (VOT).* Patients with ADSD are known to have particular difficulty with the initiation of speech.<sup>8</sup> It is, however, not known whether the time it takes for the vocal folds to enter a stable mode of vibration is affected by the laryngeal spasms seen in these patients. It is, furthermore, unclear whether vowel onset times are task-related - in other words, whether it is more difficult to initiate a sustained vowel in isolation than to initiate a vowel in running speech. To obtain some insight in vowel onset times, we manually measured the durations of vowel onsets (of both the sustained vowel and the first /a/ in the sentence: Adam at altijd een appel op; "Adam always ate an apple"). Vowel onset was defined as the duration from the beginning of the vowel to the point at which the signal becomes regular in terms of periodicity.<sup>9</sup> Within- and between-group comparisons were made.

*Proportion of Aperiodicity and Silence per Vowel.* Sapienza et al<sup>10</sup> found aperiodicity, frequency shifts, and phonatory breaks to be useful in classifying phonatory behavior associated with ADSD. The (autocorrelation) algorithm for periodicity detection was used to determine episodes of aperiodicity and silence within the sustained vowel.<sup>11</sup> This algorithm is a short-term analysis method; therefore, the analysis is performed for small segments (frames) that are taken from the (voice) signal in steps of 0.01 second. The appropriate arguments of the pitch detection algorithm were adjusted so that the number of aperiodic frames and silent frames per vowel could be assessed.

The proportion of aperiodicity was determined as follows. If a time frame did not contain an autocorrelation peak above 0.8 relative to the maximum possible autocorrelation, the frame was classified as unvoiced (aperiodic). This value was chosen because it corresponded with aperiodicity as judged through visual inspection of the oscillogram (nonrepetitiveness of cycles) and perceptual judgment of the voice quality. The number of unvoiced frames was then divided by the total number of frames (total duration of vowel), resulting in a value between 0 and 1.

The proportion of silence was determined as follows. Frames that did not contain amplitudes above 0.1 (relative to the global maximum amplitude) were considered silent. The number of silent frames was then divided by the total number of frames, resulting in a proportional value between 0 and 1. This was considered as representative of the proportion of voice breaks.

Instability of Phonation. Laryngeal instability associated with ADSD has a profound influence on the ability to maintain steady phonation, as well as on the voice quality. Several acoustic parameters have been employed as objective measurements of severity, of which those parameters dealing with the stability of phonation seem to be the most useful, eg, fundamental frequency ( $F_0$ ) SD.<sup>8,12-15</sup> Therefore, the following acoustic analyses were performed on 2 separate segments of the sustained vowel: the initial 2 seconds (including the vowel onset) and a 2-second segment extracted from the middle, stable part of the sustained vowel. All vowel segments were provided with a linear ramped offset of 10 ms to avoid abrupt audible signal transitions. We analyzed 1)  $F_0$  SD: standard deviation of the  $F_0$  in hertz ( $F_0$  was determined with an autocorrelation pitch detection algorithm<sup>11</sup>); 2) MAS: mean absolute slope in hertz per second; 3) PNR: periodicity-to-noise ratio in decibels, representing the periodicity of the signal; 4) PNR SD: standard deviation of the PNR in decibels; 5) Intensity SD: standard deviation Chapter 4

of the intensity in decibels; and 6) intensity range: difference in decibels between the minimum and maximum intensity within a segment.

# Statistical analysis

The perceptual voice characteristics, the subjective voice assessment scores, and the acoustic parameters were summarized with means and standard deviations when the distribution was approximately normal. In case of extremely skewed distributions, the median and the interquartile range (IQR) were used. Treatment efficacy was assessed by comparing pretreatment and posttreatment scores by the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks test. Temporal and acoustic parameters were compared with the matched-control group (pretreatment and posttreatment) by the Mann-Whitney test. Throughout this study, a p value of .05 or less was considered statistically significant.

## Results

The changes in the perceptual voice quality parameters are given in Table 2. The average pretreatment score of the overall grade of the voice quality was 6.3 (SD, 1.7), and the posttreatment score was 0.7 (SD, 0.9; p<.001). The predominant characteristics of the pretreatment voice quality were strain (5.5), asthenia (3.3), staccato (3.1), and vocal fry (2.6). After treatment, all 4 predominant characteristics diminished significantly. However, on average, the voices were not judged as normal (overall grade, 0.7). Some breathiness and asthenia remained. Moreover, after treatment roughness had increased.

Table 3 shows the correlations between the overall perceptual grade and the other voice quality parameters of the extended GRBAS system. Before Botox® treatment, the overall grade was predominantly determined by strain (correlation, r = .92). Staccato and asthenia correlated weakly but significantly with the overall grade (r = .36 and r = .30, respectively). Only strain and staccato appeared as independent determinants of the overall perceptual grade. After treatment the most important determinants of the overall grade were roughness (r = .72), asthenia (r = .56), and breathiness (r = .51). Remarkably, strain, the most predominant perceptual characteristic before treatment, still correlated moderately with the overall grade (r = .40) after treatment.

Table 2. Parameters of the extended GRBAS system before and after Botox® treatment.

	Pretreatment	Posttreatment	P*	
Grade	6.3 ± 1.7	0.7 ± 0.9	<.001	
Roughness	$0.2 \pm 0.7$	$0.4 \pm 0.9$	.14	
Breathiness	$1.0 \pm 1.7$	$0.4 \pm 0.7$	.21	
Asthenia	$3.3 \pm 1.7$	$0.5 \pm 0.8$	<.001	
Strain	$5.5 \pm 2.1$	$0.2 \pm 0.4$	<.001	
Aphonia	$0.6 \pm 1.8$	0 ± 0	.018	
Diplophonia	$O \pm O$	0 ± 0	-	
Staccato	3.1 ± 2.8	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	<.001	
Tremor	$0.6 \pm 1.1$	$0.2 \pm 0.6$	.028	
Falsetto	$0.1 \pm 0.3$	0 ± 0	.18	
Vocal Fry	$2.6 \pm 3.4$	$0.2 \pm 0.8$	<.001	

Data are mean ± SD; 0 represents "normal" and 10 "extremely pathological" voice quality. \*Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks test.

Table 3. Correlations between the overall perceptual Grade and parameters of the extended GRBAS system.

	Overal	I Grade
	Pretreatment	Posttreatment
Roughness	.08	0.72§
Breathiness	00	0.515
Asthenia	.30*	0.56%
Strain	0.92§	0.40†
Aphonia	0.20	
Staccato	0.36*	0.25
Tremor	-0.15	0.15
Falsetto	0.12	india de talakador como
Vocal Fry	0.18	-0.03
* p<.05; † p<.01; § p		

Correspondingly, the self-assessment scores concerning voice quality and performance all improved significantly after treatment (Table 4). However, on average, the patients did not judge their voices as normal, especially with respect to loudness (score, 6.7), intelligibility of the voice in public gatherings (6.8), and hoarseness (7.6).

		Pretreatment	Posttreatment	p*
Intelligibility	conversation	3.7 ± 2.7	$9.0 \pm 1.0$	<.001
	party	$1.7 \pm 1.8$	$7.6 \pm 2.5$	<.001
	gathering	$1.3 \pm 1.7$	$6.8 \pm 2.9$	<.001
Tiring		2.3 ± 2.4	$8.8 \pm 1.5$	<.001
Loudness		$3.2 \pm 2.8$	$6.7 \pm 2.4$	<.001
Fluency		$2.9 \pm 2.1$	8.7 ± 1.2	<.001
Strain		$2.3 \pm 2.3$	$8.9 \pm 1.3$	<.001
Shortness of breath		4.4 ± 3.2	8.7 ± 1.6	<.001
Hoarseness		3.6 ± 3.2	7.6 ± 2.5	<.001
Choking		8.4 ± 2.3	$9.0 \pm 1.8$	.089

Data are mean  $\pm$  SD; 0 represents "severe or poor" and 10 "normal or good" voice quality or performance.

\*Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks test.

Table 5 provides the results of the acoustic analyses. Fluency of speaking improved significantly as reflected by the reduced total speaking (p < .001), interword interval (p < .001), and articulation (p < .001) times. However, when pretreatment and posttreatment values were compared with values of normal controls, only the interword interval time had improved to such an extent (posttreatment) that it no longer differed significantly from normal control values. Remarkably, the vowel onset time measured in both sustained and running speech did not show a significant improvement. On the other hand, the proportion of aperiodicity and silence (voice breaks) were significantly reduced after treatment. Again, when one compares these values to those of normal controls, the differences remain significant.

In comparing the initial 2-second segment of the sustained vowel to the middle 2-second segment, significant differences were measured in ADSD patients and normal controls for all parameters, except for the average  $F_0$  (all comparisons) and PNR (pretreatment and posttreatment; Table 6). However, in considering all acoustic parameters in the pretreatment-posttreatment comparison, as well as the pretreatment-control and posttreatment-control comparisons, the p values for all medial segments were very similar to the p values for the initial segment (Table 5). The results for the initial and medial segments will therefore not be given separately.

Voice quality in ADSD

Table 5. Temporal and acoustic characteristics in patients before and after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment and controls.

		Pretre	atment	Posttre	atment	Cont	rols	pre / post	pre / control	post / control
		Mean	IQR	Mean	IQR	Mean	IQR	P*	Pt	Pš
TST AA (s)		3.25	1.43	2.45	0.65	2.06	0.49	<.001	<.001	<.001
TIIT AA (s)		0.75	0.60	0.18	0.37	0.24	0.24	<.001	<.001	.14
TAT AA (s)		2.56	0.90	2.12	0.59	1.74	0.31	<.001	<.001	<.001
VOT (vowel) (s	)	0.099	0.169	0.097	0.112	0.033	0.029	.30	<.001	<.001
VOT (word) (s)		0.062	0,112	0.069	0.048	0.034	0.023	.60	<.001	<.001
MPT (s)		10.2	11.4	9.3	7.7	15.1	9.7	.038	.029	<.001
Voice breaks (proportion)		4.65	10.3	1.05	3.8	0.31	1.2	.001	<.001	.002
Aperiodicity (proportion)		33.7	70	4.5	15	1.0	3.8	<.001	<.001	<.001
F <sub>0</sub> average (Hz)	i m	169.7 166.7	43.3 46.8	176.0 174.6	61.4 62.4	171.9 175.7	64.3 63.7	.49 .67	.79 .96	.75 .95
F <sub>o</sub> SD (Hz)	i m	9.6 6.6	10.4 6.9	5.5 2.0	5.6 2.1	2.8 1.4	2.0 0.9	.001 <.001	<.001 <.001	<.001 .003
MAS	i	162.5	138.7	94.4	79.3	52.1	20.8	<.001	<.001	<.001
Hz/s}	m	132.4	122.4	44.2	44.3	42.0	22.8	<.001	<.001	.097
PNR average (dB)	i m	11.3 11.1	10.2 12.6	13.3 14.0	7.3 7.4	16.6 15.8	4.4 5.3	.26 .13	<.001 .052	.001 .59
PNR SD	ī	4.2	2.0	3.8	1.5	3.1	1.4	.18	.001	.059
(dB)	m	3.2	1.9	2.0	1.6	2.2	2.1	<.001	.003	.32
Intensity averag (dB)	ei m	71.1 70.1	8.0 8.4	72.1 72.5	7.1 8.2	73.3 68.4	5.2 7.2	.99 .77	.36 .26	.53 .092
Intensity SD	i	3.0	2.0	2.4	1.7	2.1	1.3	.029	.001	.17
(dB)	m	1.8	1.8	0.9	0.6	0.9	0.6	.002	.001	.21
Intensity range (dB)	i. IT	15.8 9.1	11.6 8.9	13.3 4.0	10.0 2.8	10.8 4.0	5.5 2.4	.30 <.001	<.001 <.001	.006 .68

i-initial 2-second segment; m-medial 2-second segment. For explanation of other abbreviations, see text. \*Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks test comparing pretreatment and posttreatment values. \*Mann-Whitney test comparing pretreatment values of patients with values of controls. \*Mann-Whitney test comparing posttreatment values of patients with values of controls. All parameters except the average  $F_0$ , PNR, and intensity improved significantly following Botox® treatment. Before treatment, only the average  $F_0$  and intensity did not differ significantly from normal control values. After treatment, the PNR SD and intensity SD could be added to this list. Therefore, the majority of acoustic parameters measured in this study remained significantly different from those of normal controls.

#### Table 6. Vowel characteristics of initial two-second segment versus medial two-second segment.

	Pretreatment	Posttreatment	Controls	
F <sub>o</sub> average	.427	.085	.856	(*******
Fo SD	.002	<.0001	<.0001	
MAS	<.0001	<.0001	.002	
PNR average	.161	.056	.019	
PNR SD	.001	<.0001	<.0001	
Intensity average	.002	< .0001	<.0001	
Intensity SD	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	
Intensity range	<.0001	<.0001	<.0001	

Data are p values of Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed ranks test. For explanation of abbreviations, see text.

Last, a possible relationship between the 3 modalities was assessed, but no strong correlations were detected among the perceptual ratings, acoustic parameters, and self-assessment scores. The highest correlations were found between the pretreatment and posttreatment scores of overall perceptual grade and the patient's self-assessment intelligibility in conversational speech, as is depicted in Figure 1 (pretreatment, r = -.36, p = .014; posttreatment, r = -.51, p < .001; Spearman's rank correlation coefficient test for nonparametric data).





## Discussion

In this prospective study, the actual efficacy of Botox® injections in ADSD was assessed by comparing patient's pretreatment values to posttreatment values and comparing both pretreatment and posttreatment values with those of normal controls. Perceptual ratings, (temporal) acoustic analysis, and self-assessment scores were used to achieve this. The posttreatment condition (end point) was defined as the moment the patient experienced his or her voice as normal or as optimal after at least 3 consecutive injections.

The methodological design of this study significantly differs from those of previous studies of ADSD and Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. Most studies focus on the duration of benefit and side effects, on comparisons of injection techniques (unilateral versus bilateral, peroral versus percutaneous injections), and/or on searching for the lowest efficacious dose. Efficacy is generally evaluated by either comparing patient's pretreatment and posttreatment conditions or comparing the posttreatment situation with that of normal controls. Moreover, objective tests (often 1 modality) are applied at arbitrary intervals, varying from 1 to 6 weeks, after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. In this study, the efficacy of

Chapter 4

Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment was assessed by concentrating on the optimal voice quality. Therefore, it is hard to compare our results with those available from the literature.

#### Perceptual analysis

Until now, no systematic perceptual rating of the pretreatment and posttreatment ADSD voices has been reported. Most studies dealing with evaluation of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment only use the overall voice quality or rate some features of the "typical" ADSD voice. These include strain, fluency, effort of speaking, spasm severity, as well as the well-known side effects of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment like breathiness and hoarseness. In the present study, the perceptual ratings showed that after treatment, the voice characteristics were significantly improved. However, on average, the posttreatment voices were not perceived as normal. Apparently, perceptually, the characteristic and severely impaired ADSD voice did improve, but another type of pathological voice was detected after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment.

#### Subjective voice evaluation

Probably the most important evaluation procedure for determining the success of treatment is the patient's judgement of his or her voice quality and performance. This was already pointed out by Woodson et al13: "The patient's perception of his/her problem is, of course, the 'bottom line' in determining patient satisfaction with treatment. These ratings are essential to validate the relevance of objective measures". In our study, the moment the patient perceived his or her voice as normal or optimal determined the end of the trial. In several other studies, patients' diaries were used to assess the efficacy of Botox® treatment and determine the duration of benefit and side effects. However, available reports on the magnitude of improvement of the investigated subjective parameters are limited.16,17 Therefore, we know that ADSD patients, as a group, have benefited from Botox® treatment, but not to what extent. For example, what does a success rate of 97%, as reported by Inagi et al,18 really mean - relief of symptoms or achievement of a normal voice? In the current study, patients rated a significant improvement after treatment, but some hoarseness and difficulty with loudness level persisted. Thus, from the patient's perspective, voice quality and performance improved, but were never judged as normal. This outcome is in line with the perceptual ratings: a much better, but still abnormal voice is being perceived after Botox® treatment.

#### Acoustic analysis

For reliable assessment of voice quality, one needs reproducible measurements and parameters that can objectively monitor changes in voice quality after treatment. These measurements should, preferably, be relevant to the clinical symptoms. In the past decade, several publications have dealt with ADSD and acoustic analysis. Woodson et al<sup>13</sup> summarize the value of acoustic analysis in this way: "Since acoustic changes are insufficiently specific to separate spasmodic dysphonia from other neurological voice disorders, they should not be regarded as diagnostic tests, but as indicators of function. In patients with spasmodic dysphonia, acoustic analysis is useful in documenting severity and monitoring response to treatment".

Acoustic evidence of temporal disorganization of ADSD speech has already been reported. In 1997, Cannito et al<sup>7</sup> found that although dysfluency was not a defining feature of spasmodic dysphonia, it did contribute significantly to the overall impression of the severity of the disorder. In a noninterventional study, they found significant differences between normal control subjects and ADSD subjects for the total speaking time, total interword interval, and total articulation time. This is in line with our findings: before treatment, all 3 parameters for the patients significantly different from those of the normal controls. However, although these parameters improved after treatment, they still remained significantly different from those of the normal controls. Until now, only Ludlow et al<sup>19</sup> and Ford et al<sup>20</sup> demonstrated that the "mean sentence length" and "time required to read" decreased after Botox<sup>®</sup> intervention. Unfortunately, in both studies, the total interword interval times were not assessed. Therefore, an increase in sentence duration could also have been the result of a longer pause time between the words.

The following acoustic parameters are routinely used to quantify changes in voice quality:  $F_0$ ,  $F_0$  SD, perturbation parameters (jitter, shimmer), harmonics-to-noise ratio, and measurements of voice breaks ("voice break factor," "voice break index," "degree of voice breaks").<sup>21</sup> It was found that these parameters in ADSD patients differed significantly from those of normal controls. After Botox® treatment, however, a statistically significant reduction was found only for  $F_0$  SD and measurements of voice breaks.<sup>22</sup> Jitter and shimmer were not assessed in our study because, as Bielamowicz et al<sup>23</sup> stated: "… as measures of perturbation apparently cannot be reliably applied to voices that are even mildly aperiodic, we question their utility in quantifying vocal quality, especially in pathological voices". This is in line with the work of Titze and Liang,<sup>24</sup> who found that for frequency variations above 6% per cycle, no statements about accuracy could be made.

In 1997, Zwirner et al<sup>8</sup> found significant differences between the initial and middle segments in normal control subjects for the  $F_0$  SD. Before treatment, no significant differences in the ADSD group could be detected. The difference between the initial second and the middle second was statistically significant. They therefore

concluded that a "normal" pattern of laryngeal stability was achieved during sustained phonation. In the current study, the initial 2 seconds differed significantly from the medial 2-second segment extracted from the sustained vowel for all acoustic parameters (including  $F_0$  SD) for both the pretreatment and posttreatment conditions, except for the average  $F_0$  and PNR (pretreatment; Table 6). The fact that our results already differed significantly in the pretreatment condition is in contrast to the results of Zwirner et al. However, only 16 subjects participated in their study. Moreover, it is unclear which pitch extraction algorithm was used, or whether the extracted segments were provided with linear ramped offsets to avoid abrupt audible signal transition.

In this study, (temporal) acoustic analysis revealed that there was a significant improvement after Botox® treatment. Nevertheless, the "optimally" treated ADSD voice still remained deviant as compared to normal voice quality. Acoustically, the typical ADSD characteristics persisted, although they were present to a lesser extent.

#### Relationship between modalities

Although acoustic analysis of the voice can provide objective and reproducible measures of phonation, there are no specific parameters that can acoustically characterize ADSD. The clinical relevance of these objective measures could be demonstrated if a strong association existed with the more subjective measurements of vocal function and performance, both by the patient and the observer/listener. In this study, however, no strong correlations were found among the perceptual ratings, acoustic parameters, and self-assessment scores. Zwirner et al<sup>12</sup> could not detect specific relationships among any of the acoustic parameters and/or airflow rate and/or the videoendoscopic findings.

# Conclusion

Currently, Botox<sup>®</sup> injection is the therapy of first choice for ADSD. Although significant improvement is measured perceptually, subjectively, and acoustically, in general, the optimal voice obtained with Botox<sup>®</sup> never fully equals normal voice quality or function.

## References

- Cannito MP, Woodson GE, Murry T. Perceptual scaling of spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin treatment. In: Dejonckere Ph, Peters HFM eds. Proceedings of the 24th IALPCongress. Amsterdam, 1998:161-3.
- Whurr R, Nye C, Lorch M. Meta-analysis of botulinum toxin treatment of spasmodic dysphonia: a review of 22 studies. Int J Lang Comm Disord 1998;33:327-29.
- Langeveld APM, Drost HA, Baatenburg de Jong RJ. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1998;107:280-4.
- Isshiki N, Okamura H, Tanabe M, Morimoto M. Differential diagnosis of hoarseness. Folia Phoniatr (Basel) 1969;21:9-19.
- Langeveld APM, Drost HA, Zwinderman AH, Baatenburg de Jong RJ. Perceptual characteristics of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2000;109:741-8.
- Boersma P, Weenink D. Praat: a system for doing phonetics by computer (version 3.7). Institute of Phonetic Sciences. The Netherlands, Amsterdam, 1998.
- Cannito MP, Burch AR, Watts C, Rappold PW, Hood SB, Sherrard K. Disfluency in spasmodic dysphonia: a multivariate analysis. J Speech Lang Hear Res 1997;40:627-41.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Woodson GE. Effects of botulinum toxin on vocal tract steadiness in patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 1997;254:391-5.
- Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Boersma P. The effect of radiotherapy measured by means of harmonics-to-noise ratio. In: Powell ThW ed. Pathologies of speech and language: contributions of clinical phonetics and linguistics. ICPPLA, New Orleans, 1996:203-10.
- Sapienza CM, Walton S, Murry T. Acoustic variations in adductor spasmodic dyphonia as a function of speech task. J Speech Lang Hear Res 1999;42:127-40.
- Boersma P. Accurate short-term analysis of the fundamental frequency and the harmonics-tonoise ratio of a sampled sound. Institute of Phonetic Sciences, University of Amsterdam, proceedings 17, 1993:97-110.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson M, Woodson GE. Effects of botulinum toxin therapy in patients with spasmodic dysphonia: acoustic, aerodynamic, and videoendoscopic findings. Laryngoscope 1992;102:400-6.
- Woodson GE, Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson MR. Functional assessment of patients with spasmodic dyphonia. J Voice 1992;6:338-43.
- Whurr R, Lorch M, Fontana H, Brookes G, Lees A, Marsden CD. The use of botulinum toxin in the treatment of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psych 1993;56:526-30.
- Adams SG, Hunt EJ,Irish JC, Charles DA, Lang AE, Durkin LC, Wong DLH. Comparison of botulinum toxin injection procedures in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1995;24:345-51.

- Aronson AE, McCaffrey TV, Litchy WJ, Lipton RJ. Botulinum toxin injection for adductor spastic dysphonia: patient self-ratings of voice and phonatory effort after three successive injections. Larvngoscope 1993;103:683-92.
- 17. Liu TC, Irish JC, Adams SG, Durkin LC, Hunt EJ. Prospective study of patients'subjective responses to botulinum toxin injection for spasmodic dysphonia. J Otolaryngol 1996;25:66-74.
- Inagi K, Ford CN, Bless DM, Heisey D. Analysis of factors affecting botulinum toxin results in spasmodic dysphonia. J Voice 1996;10:306-13.
- Ludiow CL, Naunton RF, Sedory SE, Schulz GM, Hallett M. Effects of botulinum toxin injections on speech in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Neurology 1988;38:1220-5.
- Ford CN, Bless DM, Patel NY. Botulinum toxin treatment of spasmodic dysphonia: techniques, indications, efficacy. J Voice 1992;6:370-6.
- Schönweiler R, Wohlfarth K, Dengler R, Ptok M. Supraglottal injection of botulinum toxin type A in adductor spasmodic dysphonia with both intrinsic and extrinsic hyperfunction. Laryngoscope 1998;108:55-63.
- Zwirner P, Murry T, Swenson M, Woodson GE. Acoustic changes in spasmodic dysphonia after botulinum toxin injection. J Voice 1991;5:78-84.
- Bielamowicz S, Kreiman J, Gerratt BR, Dauer MS, Gerald S Burke. Comparison of voice analysis systems for perturbation measurement. J Speech Hear Res 1996;39:126-34.
- Titze IR, Liang H. Comparison of F<sub>0</sub> extraction methods for high-precision voice perturbation measurements. J Speech Hear Res 1993;36:1120-33.

Suproves C.D., Wanter S., Warrer T. Acetakic waterious in adjustics retains one contractor of interim of wines in rules. In general Tang Peak Res. 1998;152:1127–10. Research P. Research an interim margins of the fundemental Improvement in Province in relation and a complementation reality of Province Environment (Improved and Province in Special Complementation). In Province Environment (Improved Interiment). Special Complementation (Interiment).

- 2. Contract P. Marrow C. Streamson R. Velegeger V& Collector of Landonical Plans Proceeding of Internation with epidemical completion in a collection operation and an excitation operating limiting at the enterno. Activ 11 (2), 400 (3)
- Annexed Strength Report Strength Report And Strength Report All Proceedings Strength Report Proceedings Strength Report Proceedings
- Second parallel formula formula and values with the second factors and the second s
- Annuel RT, Mart MJ, etc. JC, Chartel DM, Evene ME, Evene JE, Ward DM, Rossettende M, Editable Journess and Dimensional conference and and in spectra (https://www. powerstand.com/public/ powerstand/public/

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia and botulinum toxin treatment: the effect on well-being

APM Langeveld, F Luteijn, M van Rossum, HA Drost, RJ Baatenburg de Jong. *Adductor spasmodic dysphonia and botulinum toxin treatment: the effect on well-being.* Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 'in press'.

-

To by-pass the questionable validity and reliability of interviewers and observers, psychometric tests were applied to assess the psychological phenomena related to this enigmatic voice disorder.<sup>6-9</sup> These studies showed elevated levels of depression and anxiety and negative attitudes toward communication in ADSD patients when compared to matched normal controls. In one study elevated levels of somatic complaints were also found.<sup>7</sup> Treatment with botulinum toxin injections generally reduced the levels of depression and anxiety and significant attitudinal improvement was observed. Whether these differences could be explained as a reaction to a chronic disorder or as being related to a possible psychogenic origin of spasmodic dysphonia remained unsolved.

Nowadays, spasmodic dysphonia is thought to be a physical disorder, an idea already proposed by Schnitzler<sup>10</sup> in 1874. This is supported by the association of spasmodic dysphonia with other focal and generalized dystonias or involuntary movements, such as myoclonus and tremor. It is now assumed that ADSD has a neurologic (undetermined) cause, and is characterized as a disorder of central motor processing resulting in focal laryngeal dystonia. As well as the abnormal voice, a variety of other abnormalities have been found using objective tests including electroencephalography, evoked potentials, blink reflexes, vocal reaction times, and responses to vagal stimuli.<sup>11</sup>

In summary, ADSD is generally accepted as a physical voice disorder associated with several psychological and somatic complaints. Some studies on the psychological impact of ADSD have been performed. The results of these studies supported the need for further research into the role of emotional aspects of spasmodic dysphonia prior to intervention, their relation to objective and subjective voice changes, and how therapeutic management affects the long-term outcome of patients with spasmodic dysphonia.<sup>9</sup> At present, the role of general personality variables in relation to ADSD is unknown.

The aim of this prospective study was twofold: 1) To investigate the hypothesis that personality variables might underlie spasmodic dysphonia; and 2) To determine whether symptoms of negative affectivity (depression and anxiety) and somatic complaints are consequences of the disease.

The bestue a monte shall being common transmission of an and an and the second se

## Introduction

Chapter 5

Adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) is an uncommon and poorly understood voice disorder, which was first described by Traube in 1871. The vocal symptoms are characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strain-strangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks and glottal fry. Remarkably, these symptoms are reduced or absent during whispering, speaking or singing in a falsetto register, and non-speech vocalizations (laughing, yawning). Spasmodic dysphonia is initially intermittent and task or situation specific. The marked intermittency and functional specificity of the symptoms have suggested a psychological basis for this unusual disorder.

Initially, (adductor) spasmodic dysphonia was considered predominantly as a conversion symptom of an hysterical illness affecting the coordination of speaking and breathing.<sup>1-3</sup> Heaver<sup>4</sup> argued that spasmodic dysphonia especially affected persons with a hysterical and narcissistic personality structure. Berendes<sup>5</sup> analyzed several psychological factors in 23 patients with spasmodic dysphonia. He concluded that this voice disorder had to be considered as a neurosis without hysterical characteristics. However, these ideas could offer no objective support for the hypothesized contribution of psychological factors in the ontogeny of spasmodic dysphonia, because they were based on case histories or patient descriptions. Chapter 5

## Subjects and methods

Forty-six consecutive patients (32 female and 14 male) with adductor spasmodic dysphonia were included in this study. The demographic data are summarized in Table 1. Based on their medical history none of the patients appeared to have psychiatric or neurologic disorders, particularly, no other dystonias or familial tremors. All patients had symptoms of adductor spasmodic dysphonia for more than one year and had no previous treatment with botulinum toxin.

#### Table 1. Demographic data.

	Age (yrs)		Duration of sy	mptoms (yrs)	s)	
	No.	mean	range	mean	range	
women	32	47.9	19-80	8.9	1-29	1010
men	14	53.7	31-68	7.9	1-31	

The personality characteristics of the patients were assessed using the Dutch Personality Questionnaire (DPQ).<sup>12</sup> This questionnaire was developed in the beginning of the seventies in The Netherlands, adapted from the California Psychological Inventory.<sup>13</sup> Extensive validational data is available on this inventory. The reliability and validity of the DPQ has been proven to be satisfactory.<sup>12,14-18</sup> The 132 items of the DPQ, answered on a three-point scale (True - ? - False), are non-overlappingly keyed in the following scales: 1. Neuroticism (21 items); 2. Social Anxiety (15 items); 3. Rigidity (25 items); 4. Hostility (19 items); 5. Egoism (16 items); 6. Dominance (17 items); 7. Self-esteem (19 items). The seven scales are not independent: highest scale intercorrelations are approximately .45. Usually three second order factors are found: emotional stability versus neuroticism (high loadings of scale 2 and with opposite sign scale 6), and dogmatism versus friendliness (high loadings of scale 3,4 and 5).<sup>19</sup> The raw scores on the seven DPQ-scales were used in this study.

The Hopkins Symptom Checklist<sup>20</sup> (HSCL) was applied to assess and monitor the psychological and somatic complaints before and during botulinum toxin treatment. This checklist is a self-report symptom rating scale which a subject answers on a four-point scale of distress ("not at all" – "extreme"). In answering the HSCL an explicit temporal referent is provided in terms of "How have you felt during the past seven days including today?" This makes the HSCL suitable for

measuring changes, eg, measuring the effect of therapy. The Dutch version of the HSCL consists of 57 symptoms and complaints and has the following scales: somatic well-being (HSCL-Somat, 8 items), psychological well-being (HSCL-Psych, 17 items), and a total score (HSCL-Total, 57 items). In this study the normgroup of the general population was used as a reference. There is ample support for the reliability and validity of the HSCL.<sup>20</sup>

To substantiate the effect of botulinum toxin treatment on the changes in psychological and somatic complaints, the changes in vocal function were also determined. This was achieved through subjective (patient) and objective (observers) rating. The subjective rating consisted of statements concerning the patients' experience of their voice quality and performance (intelligibility, effort, and fluency of speech). Perceptual evaluation of spontaneous speech was used to rate voice quality objectively. All voice samples were judged by three experienced observers, who were familiar both with spasmodic dysphonia and a perceptual evaluation rating system, derived from the GRBAS system.<sup>21</sup> For the purpose of this study we only used the "G" -parameter (Grade) to quantify the overall impression of severity of the dysphonia. Assessment of the degree of dysphonia was achieved by calculating the means of the scores of the three observers. Both subjective and objective ratings were performed on visual analogue scales (VAS). On the score form, each parameter was scored on a continuous horizontal line of 10 cm from bad / extremely pathological on the left side to good / normal on the right side. The distance in centimeters from the left side measured the score.

#### Procedure and time schedule

This study was part of a larger prospective clinical trial, in which different procedures of botulinum toxin (Botox<sup>®</sup>) injections were compared in ADSD patients.<sup>22</sup> All 46 patients underwent unilateral and bilateral injections. During the first procedure 5 units (1.25 units per 0.1 mL) of Botox<sup>®</sup> were injected in the left thyroarytenoid muscle only. The second treatment was performed after the voice quality had returned to the preinjection level (established by the patient and by audio and video registrations). During this procedure both thyroarytenoid muscles were injected, each with 2.5 units (1.25 units per 0.1 mL) of Botox<sup>®</sup>. Using electromyographic guidance, a monopolar 27-gauge, 30 mm Teflon<sup>®</sup>-coated needle was inserted percutaneously, through the cricothyroid membrane into the left thyroarytenoid muscle during the first procedure, or into both thyroarytenoid muscles, during the second procedure. The choice for the next treatment depended on the patient's preference. Titrating efficacy and side effects the dose was adjusted. The end of the study was the moment at which the patient experienced his or her former Chapter 5

"normal" voice. However, a normal voice could not always be established. In those cases the endpoint was the optimal voice that could be achieved.

The questionnaires were administered at the following instances. The moment the patients entered the study (pretreatment) they were asked to complete the DPQ, the HSCL and the self-rating questionnaire for (subjective) judgment of the voice. At that time recordings were made for perceptual (objective) evaluation of the voice quality. During the follow-up period, i.e. one month after the unilateral injection, one month after the bilateral injection, and at the moment of the optimal voice (posttreatment) all tests, except for the DPQ, were performed again.

## Results

Descriptive statistics for the Dutch Personality Questionnaire scores of the 46 ADSD patients before treatment with Botox<sup>®</sup> are provided in Table 2. There were no significant differences between the patients and the representative normgroup of the Dutch population in the raw scores of the seven scales of the DPQ.

#### Table 2. The Dutch Personality Questionnaire (DPQ): mean scores and standard deviations of the ADSD patients and normative data.

	ADSD patients	Dutch normgroup
	(n=46)	(n=5686)
Neuroticism	13.2 ± 9.4	12.0 ± 7.9
Social Anxiety	$10.2 \pm 8.7$	$10.9 \pm 6.9$
Rigidity	$26.9 \pm 9.9$	28.4 ± 7.8
Hostility	$16.5 \pm 7.8$	18.2 ± 6.7
Egoism	$11.2 \pm 5.0$	$12.6 \pm 5.0$ .
Dominance	$14.6 \pm 6.7$	$13.8 \pm 5.8$
Self-esteem	27.8 ± 6.3	28.0 ± 5.6

None of the scales differed significantly, one-sample t-test, df=45

medited perinteneeussy. Writight the countility of completing and the felt dynamy result muscle through the last providues of last both throughtened muscles price of blocking processing. The on-row tell too next the merint deplement on the process protocols and processing with any two dots attend to date was adjusted. The root of the processing was the context of which the patient experienced his with the total On the other hand, the Hopkins Symptom Checklist showed differences across all three scales, patients having significantly elevated mean scores compared to the representative normgroup (Table 3).

#### Table 3. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): pretreatment mean scores and standard deviations of the ADSD patients and normative data.

	ADSD patients	Dutch normgroup	p*	
	(n=46)	(n=406)		
HSCL-Psych	12.6 ± 8.6	7.9 ± 6.2	.0005	
HSCL-Somat	$3.5 \pm 2.6$	$2.1 \pm 2.3$	.0005	
HSCL-Total	36.8 ± 20.0	$22.3 \pm 16.5$	< .0001	

p\*: one-sample t-test, df=45

Table 4.	The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL), the patients' and observers' ratings of the
	voice quality: pretreatment and posttreatment mean scores and standard deviations.

	Pretreatment	Posttreatment	p*
Patient <sup>†</sup>	<b>3.</b> 4 ± 1.4	8.1 ± 1.5	< .001
Observert	$3.7\pm1.7$	$9.2\pm0.9$	< .001
H-Psych	$12.6 \pm 8.6$	$6.1 \pm 6.4$	< .001
H-Somat	$3.5\pm2.6$	$2.2 \pm 2.6$	.005
H-Total	$36.8\pm20.0$	$18.6\pm18.4$	< .001

p\*: paired t-test

t : 0 represents a "very bad or extremely pathological" voice and 10 a "good or normal" voice.

In Figure 1 the changes of the patients' and observers' voice ratings and HSCLtotal scores in course of time are shown. Both VAS-scores of vocal function and HSCL-scores showed continuous improvement during Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. These findings are reflected in Table 4 as well. Compared to the mean pretreatment scores of the HSCL, there was a significant decrease following treatment. In fact, the mean scores of all three scales reached values within the normal range. Comparing the scores of the ADSD patients after treatment with the representative normgroup there were no significant differences (Table 5).





Table 5. The Hopkins Symptom Checklist (HSCL): posttreatment mean scores and standard deviations of the ADSD patients and normative data.

	ADSD patients	Dutch normgroup	p*	
	(n=46)	(n=406)		
HSCL-Psych	6.1 ± 6.4	7.9 ± 6.2	.06	
HSCL-Somat	2.2 ± 2.6	$2.1 \pm 2.3$	.60	
HSCL-Total	18.6 ± 18.4	$22.3 \pm 16.5$	.18	

p\* none of the scales differed significantly, one-sample t-test, df=45

Autor Community Interdictic Incomentation interaction

## Discussion

The first goal of this study was to investigate the hypothesis that personality variables might underlie adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Using the Dutch Personality Questionnaire (DPQ), no significant differences were found between the ADSD patients and the representative normgroup of the Dutch population. Based on the DPQ results, no distinction could be made between normal and ADSD subjects. This either means that there are no typical personality traits associated with ADSD or that the DPQ could not detect those personality attributes. As the DPQ is accepted as an accurate, comprehensive tool, it would seem that the first hypothesis (ADSD is not associated with typical personality traits) seems justifiable.

Our findings parallel the early work of Aronson<sup>6</sup> who applied the MMPI to 33 patients with spasmodic dysphonia. None of the 10 clinical scales of the MMPI could differentiate between the spasmodic dysphonia patients and a general medical outpatient population. Based on the MMPI they argued that patients with spasmodic dysphonia had to be a remarkably heterogeneous group.

The second aim was to determine whether symptoms of negative affectivity (depression and anxiety) and somatic complaints were consequences of the disease. Research on patients with physical symptoms or disorders underlines the changeability of psychological and somatic complaints in relation to medical treatment.<sup>23</sup> In 1991, Cannito et al<sup>7</sup> already found elevated scores of depression and anxiety among 18 patients with spasmodic dysphonia compared to matched normal controls. In addition, patients showed abnormally elevated levels of somatic complaints. Whether these differences could be explained on the basis of reaction to a chronic disorder or if they were related to a possible psychogenic origin of spasmodic dysphonia remained unsolved.

Prior to intervention we also found statistically significant elevated levels of psychological and somatic complaints. These complaints decreased systematically during the course of the treatment. Compared to the pretreatment scores of the HSCL, a significant reduction was found posttreatment (Table 5). Moreover, they all reached levels within the normal range. The subjective and objective ratings of voice quality also improved systematically during treatment, establishing a normal to near normal voice. These findings suggest that the increased pretreatment scores of psychological and somatic complaints were secondary to the voice disorder. Chapter 5

In just two studies the effect of treatment of spasmodic dysphonia on standardized psychometric tests was assessed.<sup>8,9</sup> In the first study, Murry et al<sup>8</sup> demonstrated that 32 subjects displayed significantly elevated depression and anxiety in the absence of significantly elevated somatic complaints. The effects of Botox<sup>®</sup> generally reduced measures of depression and anxiety at one week after injection and were maintained during the ensuing two months. The authors concluded that the elevated depression and anxiety could be the result of acquiring spasmodic dysphonia. These results are in line with ours, but in their study there was a problem in terms of subject compliance. Starting with 32 patients, after one week, assessing short-term influence of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment, already 10 patients were lost to follow-up. Long-term influence (defined as two months after treatment) could only be determined for 13 of the original 32 subjects, thus reducing validity.

The second study in which patients with spasmodic dysphonia were examined by means of psychometric tests was conducted by Cannito et al.<sup>9</sup> They examined the communication attitudes of 20 patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin injection. Although significant attitudinal improvement was observed, the patient group remained significantly different in their attitudes toward communication compared to the normal controls. The amount of change in communication attitudes was significantly related to the amount of change in standardized psychological measures of depression and anxiety. However, in this study the same problem was encountered as in Murry's et al. Initially, 20 patients were included and could be analyzed after one week following Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. However, only 14 of the 20 patients returned for the 2-month post-injection follow-up examination. Moreover, prior to the Botox<sup>®</sup> injection, 6 of 20 patients' test scores (Erickson Scale of Communication Attitudes) already fell within the normal range.

We have to emphasize that based on the results of our study no inferences can be made about causality and the role of psychological risk factors to the development of spasmodic dysphonia. However, results of recent research in the area of health psychology demonstrates that personality characteristics are stable constructs, which are unrelated to somatic disorders.<sup>24</sup> On the other hand, the response to a somatic treatment does not necessarily rule out a psychogenic contribution to either symptoms or symptom severity. A longitudinal study would be more appropriate to elucidate a possible causal relation between specific personal attributes and the occurrence of adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

# Conclusion

In this study standardized psychometric tests were used to quantify the psychological aspects of patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia. No differences in personality characteristics between ADSD patients and a representative normgroup were found. However, patients showed significant more psychological and somatic complaints. After establishment of a (near) normal voice with botulinum toxin injections, these features were reduced to normal levels. This suggests that the psychological and somatic complaints are secondary to the voice disorder. These findings, and the normal personality characteristics, do not support a psychogenic cause of adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

- 1. Determine a set entremente esta equipa d'avait services por l'égyment est l'entre parties l'avait presente en l'avait a parties automotive settes "parties automotive termine".
- and the works of the formation in provident one could approximate the model is much
- London T. Sa assessible on an provide the second control of the instance of the second control of the secon
  - M. Parpai In the Definition Improving the Improving State Provide Control Street Productions Physics 19444
  - 1.4. Verselver varies and warden för kenne sekter som det en verselver verselver verselver till at her besteller skielte för skielte för att manna som att men som att men som att men som att men som att att state internet som att men som att state internet som att so
- 2.4. Detect D. W. Saliva angles of ARCANDER AND THE Solid WARRENEED IN MRT 200 (FG1). Nucl. Psychostratics 475-21.
- Martin States and American American American States and American States (1995)
- Baught McDenning and automatic factorization (STEP) (2019)
  Baught McDenning and anticipal factorization (STEP) (2019)
  Baught McDenning and anticipal factorization (STEP) (2019)
  Baught McDenning and anticipal factorization (STEP) (2019)

## References

- Arnold GE. Ertwartungsneurotische Störungen (Dysphonia Spastica). In: Arnold GE, ed. Die Traumatischen und Konstitutionellen Störungen der Stimme und Sprache. Wien: Verlag, Urban & Schwarzenberg, 1948:144-6.
- 2. Kiml J. Recherches expérimentales de la dysphonie spastique. Folia Phoniat 1965;17:241-301.
- Brodnitz FS. Functional disorders of the voice. In: Levin, ed. Voice and speech disorders. Medical aspects. Springfield: Thomas, 1962:453-81.
- Heaver L. Spastic Dysphonia. A psychosomatic voice disorder. In: Barbara, ed. Psychological and psychiatric aspects of speech and hearing. Springfield: Thomas, 1960.
- Berendes J. Neuere Ergebnisse über Bewegungsstörungen des Kehlkopfes. Arch Ohr Nas Kehlk Heilk 1956;169:61-9.
- Aronson AE, Brown JR, Litin M, Pearson J. Spastic dysphonia. I. Voice, neurologic and psychiatric aspects. J Speech Hear Disord 1968;33:203-18.
- Cannito MP. Emotional considerations in spasmodic dysphonia: psychometric quantification. J Commun Disord 1991;24:313-29.
- Murry T, Cannito MP, Woodson GE. Spasmodic dysphonia: emotional status and botulinum toxin treatment. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1994;120:310-6.
- Cannito MP, Murry T, Woodson GE. Attitudes toward communication in adductor spasmodic dysphonia before and after botulinum toxin injection. J Med Speech-Language Pat 1994;2:125-33.
- Schnitzler J. Klinischer Atlas der Laryngologie Nebst Anleitung zur Diagnose und Therapie der Krankheiten des Kehlkopfes und der Luftrohre. Wien, Braunmuller, 1885.
- Whurr R, Moore AP. Spasmodic Dysphonia: diagnosis and assessment. In: Moore AP, ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. 1st ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science, 1995:164-80.
- Luteijn F. De konstruktie van een persoonlijkheidsvragenlijst-NPV (The construction of a personality inventory-DPQ). Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger, 1974.
- Gough HG. Manual for the California Psychological Inventory. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press, 1964.
- Velde JC van de, Luteijn F, Valkenburg HA. Invariantie van de NPV-faktoren (Invariance of the DPQ-factors). Ned T Psychol 1980;35:251-8.
- Luteijn F. De relaties tussen de ABV, MMPI en NPV (The relationship between the ABV, MMPI and DPQ ). Ned T Psychol 1980;35:215-22.
- Van der Schoot TAW, Kaptein AA. Pulmonary rehabilitation in an asthma clinic. Lung 1990;suppl:495-501.
- Buunk BP. Personality, birth order and attachment styles as related to various types of jealousy. Personality and Individual Differences 1997;23:997-1006.
- Visser S. Hypochondriasis, assessment and treatment. Groningen, The Netherlands, Thesis, 2000.

- Luteijn F, Starren J, Van Dijk H. Herziene handleiding Nederlandse Persoonlijkheidsvragenlijst (Revised manual of the Dutch Personality Questionnaire). Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger, 1985.
- Luteijn F, Hamel LF, Bouman TK, Kok AR. Handleiding van de Hopkins Symptom Checklist (Manual of the Hopkins Symptom Checklist). Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger,1984.
- Langeveld APM, Drost HA, Zwinderman AH, Baatenburg de Jong RJ. Perceptual characteristics of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2000;109:741-8.
- Langeveld APM, Drost HA, Baatenburg de Jong RJ. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1998;107:280-4.
- Kaptein AA, Appels AWPM, Orth-Gomer K, eds. Psychology in medicine. Houten, The Netherlands, Bohn Stafleu van Loghum, 2000.
- 24. Friedman HS, ed. Personality and disease. New York, Wiley, 1990.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation in adductor spasmodic dysphonia

APM Langeveld, AH Zwinderman, RJ Baatenburg de Jong, JG van Dijk. *Transcranial magnetic stimulation in adductor spasmodic dysphonia.* 'Submitted'.

## Introduction

Spasmodic dysphonia is an uncommon but often severely disabling chronic voice disorder of unknown etiology. Two main types of spasmodic dysphonia are recognized. The adductor type of spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD) is characterized by difficulty with voice initiation, a strain-strangled, effortful phonation with voice breaks, and glottal fry. The less common abductor type (ABSD) is characterized by intermittent hyperabduction of the vocal cords leading to a weak, breathy but still effortful voice particularly on voice onset.

Until recently, it was believed that spasmodic dysphonia was psychogenic in origin. Now it is supposed that it is a focal dystonia,<sup>1</sup> which is partly based on characteristic EMG patterns.<sup>2</sup> This view is supported by the association of spasmodic dysphonia with other focal and generalized dystonias or involuntary movements, such as myoclonus and tremor.<sup>3</sup> Dystonia is characterized by sustained involuntary muscle contractions leading to abnormal postures or movements generally occurring during voluntary activity. Therefore, spasmodic dysphonia can be considered as an action-induced laryngeal movement disorder.<sup>4</sup> Patients with generalized dystonia, spasmodic torticollis, blepharospasm or writer's cramp exhibit reduction of reciprocal inhibition even in asymptomatic arms. These findings, along with observations of abnormal blink- and H-reflex recovery curves or modifications of exteroceptive reflexes suggest a generalized disorder characterized by lack of inhibition or hyperreactivity of motor brain structures,<sup>5</sup> despite the focal nature of the signs.

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) allows the evaluation of excitability of corticospinal pathways by evaluation of both excitatory effects i.e., motor evoked potentials (MEP) as well as inhibition of ongoing motor activity. In unilateral focal dystonia of arm muscles, TMS has shown evidence of increased excitability. Facilitation by voluntary activation was increased.<sup>5,6</sup> The silent period (SP) was described as either normal<sup>6</sup> or prolonged,<sup>5</sup> which latter finding may be interpreted as decreased excitability. A double-stimulus paradigm resulted in decreased suppression.<sup>7</sup> Thresholds did not differ between patients and control subjects.<sup>5-7</sup> Of note is that asymmetries were absent,<sup>6,7</sup> suggesting that the abnormalities need not be specific to the motor area governing the abnormal movements. If generalized hyperexcitability is a feature of focal dystonias, then studies of muscles other than laryngeal ones, themselves not being accessible to TMS, may show abnormalities.

The aim of this study was to assess whether TMS of hand muscles revealed abnormal motor excitability in adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

## Methods

#### Subjects

Twenty-one patients (14 female and 7 male) with ADSD and 16 healthy volunteers (10 female and 6 male) matched for age, sex and handedness participated in the study. The mean age of all patients was  $50.8 \pm 14.6$  (22 to 72) years. For women the average duration of symptoms was  $9.0 \pm 5.9$  (1 to 18) years and for men  $8.0 \pm 12.8$  (1 to 36) years, respectively. Informed consent was obtained from all subjects and the study was approved by the local ethics committee. The diagnosis of ADSD was made independently by a speech-language pathologist and an otolaryngologist. The patients had no history of psychiatric or neurologic disorders, particularly, no other dystonias or familial tremors. All patients had had ADSD for more than one year. The diagnosis was corroborated in all patients by improvement of voice quality after treatment with local injections of botulinum toxin.<sup>8</sup>

#### MEP procedures

Cortical excitability to magnetic stimuli was assessed with two different paradigms. The first concerned documentation of the stimulus-response relationship,<sup>9,10</sup> and the second concerned the silent period.

Subjects were seated in a comfortable armchair with their hands in a frame to ensure unchanging limb positions. For determination of the maximum voluntary force the subjects had to abduct their little finger against the resistance of a sensitive weighing scale. The limit of the arc of movement of the little finger was determined, after which the angle was fixed at one half the maximum excursion to ensure isometric contraction. Subjects were first asked to exert maximum voluntary force (MVC), measured in kg. Subjects were then instructed to apply force at 10% of MVC. Force levels were controlled before each stimulus using visual feedback.

To document the stimulus-response relationship, 3 stimuli were given at a range of stimulus intensities up to maximum stimulator output (100%) using a Novametrix Magstim 200. Stimulus intensities ranged from 10% to 100% in 10% steps. A 9 cm high-power coil was used, held over the vertex. Both body sides were investigated; for each side, the coil was held in a way to induce maximal responses in that side (i.e., "A-up" for the right side and "B-up" for the left side). MEPs were measured with a Nicolet Viking III EMG machine (bandpass 30Hz-10kHz), from the hypothenar eminence. At each intensity, the latency and peak-to-peak amplitude of the MEP was measured. The mean of the three measurements was used for further analysis. MEPs were considered present when the amplitude exceeded 50 microVolts. The threshold intensity was defined as that intensity at which MEPs were present in 2 out of 3 trials, remaining present at all higher intensities.<sup>9</sup>

The silent period (SP) was measured at 50%, 75%, and 100% intensity. Subjects were instructed to apply 50% of MVC. Three stimuli were given at each intensity for each hand. To keep contraction periods short, subjects were taught to contract for several seconds after receiving a warning signal, i.e., they were taught to keep contracting until well after the stimulus. A 500 ms analysis period was used. The onset of SP was defined as the end of the MEP, its end as the return of EMG activity. The mean duration of the SP of the three trials was noted for further analysis.

To measure the central motor conduction time (CMCT), the MEP latency at 80% intensity over the spinous process of the 7th cervical vertebra was subtracted from the mean cortical latency at each intensity.

Electrical supramaximal stimulation of the ulnar nerve at the wrist was performed to measure the compound muscle action potential (CMAP) amplitude, allowing correction for different muscle masses through calculation of the 'amplitude ratio': MEP amplitude as a ratio of CMAP amplitude.<sup>9</sup>

The following parameters were noted: the threshold, and ranges of amplitudes, amplitude ratios, latencies, and CMCTs. This approach allows quantification of not just the most easily excitable motor units (the conventional threshold), but also of those of less excitable motor units. Thresholds of the most excitable units do not necessarily relate to those of less excitable ones.<sup>9</sup>

#### Statistical analysis

Thresholds were compared between groups using the Mann-Whitney test. Amplitudes, amplitude ratios, latencies, CMCTs, and SPs over the range of intensities used were investigated for differences between the groups using repeated measures analysis of variance (RM-ANOVA). P values < .05 were considered significant.

## Results





Thresholds did not differ significantly (p = .83) between the ADSD (40.4  $\pm$  6.7%) and control group (40.8  $\pm$  4.9%). MEP latency decreased with stimulus intensity, as expected (Figure 1), and MEP amplitude increased (Figure 2) significantly (p < .001 for both).

Figure 2. MEP amplitudes in mV (mean and 95% confidence interval) of patients and controls are shown as a function of the intensity of stimulation. Amplitude increases with increasing intensity. There was no significant difference between the groups.



There was no significant difference between both groups for latency (p = .49), and amplitude (p = .062), although MEP amplitudes were higher and latencies shorter for most stimulus intensities in patients. CMCTs did not differ significantly (p = .19) between both groups ( $6.7 \pm 0.9$  ms, and  $7.3 \pm 1.7$  ms) (Figure 3). However, for all intensities the CMCT was shorter in the patient group. At a stimulus intensity level of 40% the MEP/CMAP amplitude ratio (Figure 4) differed significantly (p=.015). For higher intensity levels the MEP/CMAP amplitude ratios, although higher in patients, did not differ significantly between the groups. None of the investigated parameters (MEP latency and amplitude, CMCT and MEP/CMAP amplitude ratio) differed significantly between body sides. The duration of the silent period increased with intensity, but did not differ between the groups.

Freedman fild not dates significanting to - 201 between the ACSD 140-4 is 6-201 and barriel group (40.6 - 4.990) MEP relating desentation with difficulty minority. In reported (Figure 11. Art: MEP empirities intractics (Figure 2) empirities carefy to - 001 for being. Figure 3. CMCTs in ms (mean and 95% confidence interval) of patients and controls are shown as a function of the intensity of stimulation. CMCT decreases with increasing intensity. There was no significant difference between the groups.



Figure 4. MEP/CMAP amplitude ratios (mean and 95% confidence interval) of patients and controls are shown as a function of the intensity of stimulation. The MEP/CMAP amplitude ratio increases with increasing intensity. The MEP/CMAP amplitude ratio differed significantly between the groups at a stimulus intensity level of 40%, only.



#### Chapter 6

# Discussion

This investigation attempted to substantiate the hypothesis that spasmodic dysphonia should be regarded as a focal dystonia. The logical consequence of such findings would be that it ought not to be regarded as a psychogenic disorder. The label "psychogenic" can have seriously negative effects when it is applied incorrectly, meaning that proof of a non-psychogenic pathophysiology would have beneficial effects. The study however failed to show statistically convincing evidence of generalized cortical hyperexcitability in patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia. This does not mean that spasmodic dysphonia cannot be a dystonia: absence of evidence is not evidence of absence. It emphatically also does not mean that spasmodic dysphonia must be psychogenic in origin.

There are several reasons why hyperexcitability could not be shown to exist in this study. Firstly, the effect might be too small to be apparent with the current number of subjects. Seventy subjects would be needed in each group to achieve statistical significance with the mean values found here. In fact, although differences from controls were not significant, both amplitude ratios and latency data did suggest hyperexcitability. Secondly, the study was based on the premise that cortical hyperexcitability is a generalized phenomenon even in focal dystonia. Previous studies showing bilateral hyperexcitability in unilateral conditions concerned forms of dystonia affecting the upper limb; it is not known whether such a generalization also holds for completely different muscle groups, such as laryngeal muscles. Ideally, the study should have focused on laryngeal muscles rather than hand muscles. The only way to do so would be to use needle electrodes, which was unattractive due to its invasive nature and the length of the procedure.

In conclusion, we could not corroborate the hypothesis that spasmodic dysphonia is a focal dystonia. However, we did find a trend in this direction.

## References

- Aronson AE. Background to speech disorders potentially treatable with botulinum toxin: etiology, pathophysiology, symptomatology and therapeutic alternatives. In: NIH consensus development conference on clinical use of botulinum toxin. 1990:122-124.
- Blitzer A, Lovelace RE, Brin MF, Fahn S, Fink ME. Electromyographic findings in focal laryngeal dystonia (spastic dysphonia). Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1985;94:591-594.
- Whurr R, Moore AP. Spasmodic Dysphonia: diagnosis and assessment. In: Moore AP, ed. Handbook of botulinum toxin treatment. 1st ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science, 1995:164-180.
- Brin MF, Blitzer A, Stewart C, Fahn S. Treatment of spasmodic dysphonia (laryngeal dystonia) with local injections of botulinum toxin: review and technical aspects. In: Blitzer A, Brin MF, Fahn S, eds. Neurological disorders of the larynx. New York: Thieme, 1991.
- Mavroudakis N, Caroyer JM, Brunko E, Zegers de Beyl D. Abnormal motor evoked responses to transcranial magnetic stimulation in focal dystonia. Neurology 1995;45:1671-1677.
- Ikoma K, Samii A, Mercuri B, Wassermann EM, Hallett M. Abnormal cortical motor excitability in dystonia. Neurology 1996;46:1371-1376.
- Ridding MC, Sheean G, Rothwell JC, Inzelberg R, Kujirai T. Changes in the balance between motor cortical excitation and inhibition in focal, task specific dystonia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1995;59:493-498.
- Langeveld APM, Drost HA, Baatenburg de Jong RJ. Unilateral versus bilateral botulinum toxin injections in adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1998;107:280-284.
- Kamp W van der, Zwinderman AH, Ferrari MD, Dijk JG van. Cortical excitability and response variability of transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Clin Neurophysiol 1996;13: 164-171.
- Ridding MC, Rothwell JC. Stimulus/response curves as a method of measuring motor cortical excitability in man. Electroenceph Clin Neurophysiol 1997;105:340-344.

# Summary and conclusions

Contact and The contract of the system and the first field of the second example the restaure is the contract of the size is the first and the second example in the second mean is the second Size in the second second second from the second second Size is the second second second second second second second Size is the second second second second second second Size is the second Size is the second second second second second second second Size is the second second

Matthewson, Standard, Harbarts M. Instance A. Reyner T. Dangester rev factors barbards full conduct assumers and hard even to that and science denormal strength in Needs Sciences of Proceeding Control 52, 403–409.

Janganezi elli, "ene oliş hanarmaşışışı tarşıtı" taranındı intera interezi tatıldan mene interezi il azhazın qanınlıkta rezelence dan (Bit Recei çaşıraşı 2008) (O. Spandan Altra: W. ver de, Delettermin Mit Fanal Mit 2008, K. ver dartan integriniş ani reference azaktiv el paramazak azquest: vereziden, J. De Materiales (O. S.) 1891-1891

Solution MC, Mathema JE, Standbuckerson covers and emission of investoing error method sectoriology in mark Electrometics (201 Neuropervalue) (201-) (25-26-26-4 **Chapter 1**, the General Introduction, is divided into three sections. In the first section, the importance of intact verbal communication for normal human interaction is described. This thesis focuses on a rare voice disorder that primarily affects verbal expression and with that communication: adductor spasmodic dysphonia (ADSD).

The second section is concerned with an extensive literature review, in which history, symptomatology, epidemiology, diagnostic assessment, and the treatment options are described. ADSD has for many years been labeled as a psychogenic voice disorder. Nowadays, it is however generally accepted that ADSD has a neurologic cause: it may be considered as a focal laryngeal dystonia, accompanied with much psychological and physical distress. Localized injections of botulinum toxin (Botox®) have become the treatment of choice for controlling symptoms in patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

The third part of the introduction outlines the aims of the thesis:

- > defining diagnostic perceptual characteristics of ADSD
- > assessing the optimal voice quality and performance through botulinum toxin injections
- > determining the effect of botulinum toxin injections on the quality of life
- > assessing the pathophysiology of ADSD

A team consisting of an otolaryngologist, neurologist, and speech-language pathologist is necessary for adequate evaluation of patients with spasmodic dysphonia. Diagnosis is based on history, physical examination, perceptual evaluation of speech, and laryngological and general neurologic examination. The analysis of perceptual symptoms is one of the mainstays in the diagnostic work-up of spasmodic dysphonia. The most widely used perceptual rating system is the GRBAS scale. But it does not account for all audible features of ADSD. We therefore extended the GRBAS system with six additional parameters. The aim of the study described in **Chapter 2** was to assess the perceptual characteristics of ADSD with the extended GRBAS system and evaluate its reproducibility.

Speech samples of seventy-seven patients were scored independently by three experienced observers, quantifying the voice sound profile. Prevalent characteristics were strain, staccato, asthenia, vocal fry, and tremor. Cluster analysis distinguished four different voice types. Intraobserver and interobserver agreement determined in eight less-experienced observers appeared to be fair to good. The extended GRBAS system can therefore be used for accurate and reproducible perceptual characterization of adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Moreover, this system identified four voice clusters of ADSD with significant differences in voice and demographic characteristics. The relevance of this finding is not clear and requires further investigation.

**Chapter 3**. Thyroarytenoid injection of botulinum toxin (Botox<sup>®</sup>) is the therapy of choice in spasmodic dysphonia. However, there is no convincing evidence whether unilateral or bilateral injections are to be preferred. For this reason, a prospective study was designed in which voice quality, duration of effect and side effects served as parameters for this question.

Twenty-seven patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia were treated with percutaneous Botox<sup>®</sup> injections. The first treatment consisted of injection of 5 units Botox<sup>®</sup> in the left thyroarytenoid muscle. The second treatment, 2.5 units in both sides, took place when the effect of the first procedure had completely worn off. All patients underwent both procedures. By means of self-rating scales effects and side effects were assessed during at least three months.

There was no difference in duration of voice improvement nor in the occurrence of breathy dysphonia between the two treatment approaches. After a bilateral injection significantly more patients mentioned swallowing problems. However, most patients preferred the bilateral injection despite more and longer-lasting side effects because of a better voice quality.

In Chapter 4 the efficacy of botulinum toxin injections in adductor spasmodic dysphonia patients was assessed by three different modalities: perceptual and acoustic analyses, and subjective self-assessment. This was done by comparing
Chapter 7

ADSD patients' pretreatment and posttreatment values and comparing these values with those of normal control speakers. In contrast to most other studies, the posttreatment status was defined as the optimal voice quality as judged by the patient. The aim of the present study was therefore to assess to what extent Botox<sup>®</sup> injections actually improve voice quality and function.

The ADSD subjects rated a significantly improved voice quality and function after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. However, the results were never within normal limits. Perceptually, the characteristic and severely impaired ADSD voice improved, but another "type" of pathological voice was detected after Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment. Acoustic analyses demonstrated a significant improvement, as well. Nevertheless, the "optimally" treated ADSD voice still remained significantly deviant as compared to normal voice production.

Currently, Botox<sup>®</sup> injection is the therapy of first choice for adductor spasmodic dysphonia. Although significant improvement could be measured perceptually, acoustically, and subjectively, the optimal voice that was achieved never fully matched normal voice quality or function.

In **Chapter 5** a study is described in which standardized psychometric tests were used to assess the personality characteristics and psychological and somatic wellbeing in forty-six patients with ADSD. Moreover, the effect of Botox<sup>®</sup> treatment on their well-being was evaluated.

No significant differences could be detected between patients and a representative normgroup concerning seven personality characteristics. Nevertheless, before treatment there were significantly more psychological and somatic complaints. After establishing a normal to near normal voice with botulinum toxin injections, these complaints were reduced to normal levels, suggesting that these phenomena were secondary to the voice disorder. These findings, and the normal personality characteristics, do not support a psychogenic cause of adductor spasmodic dysphonia.

**Chapter 6**. Adductor spasmodic dysphonia, historically seen as a psychogenic voice disorder, may be considered as a focal dystonia. If so, transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) might show evidence of cortical hyperexcitability. Unfortunately, laryngeal muscles are not accessible to TMS. However, bilateral abnormalities have been reported in other focal dystonias, suggesting a generalized hyperexcitability.

TMS was carried out on abductor digiti minimi muscles in 21 patients with adductor spasmodic dysphonia and in 16 controls, matched for age, sex and handedness. Excitability was quantified with latencies, amplitudes, central motor

conduction times, and amplitude ratios over the full range of intensities, i.e., with stimulus-response curves, and with the silent period.

There were no significant differences between both groups. However, latencies were shorter and amplitude ratios higher in the ADSD group. Although suggestive of hyperexcitability in ADSD, this study carries no hard evidence that ADSD should be seen as a dystonia. A possible explanation is that abnormalities of laryngeal control need not extend to hand muscles.

In conclusion, the hypothesis that spasmodic dysphonia is a focal dystonia could not be corroborated, but we did find a trend in this direction.

# Samenvatting en conclusies

Voor de diagnostiek van patiënten met dysphonia spastica is multidisciplinair onderzoek vereist. De KNO-arts, neuroloog en logopedist spelen hierbij een centrale rol. De diagnose dysphonia spastica wordt gesteld op de typische anamnese, lichamelijk onderzoek, perceptieve analyse van de stemkwaliteit, laryngologisch en algemeen neurologisch onderzoek. Een belangrijke rol is hierbij weggelegd voor de perceptieve analyse van de stem. Voor de perceptieve beoordeling van de stemkwaliteit wordt het GRBAS-scoringssysteem het meest gebruikt. Hiermee kunnen echter niet alle perceptieve kenmerken van ADSD worden beschreven. Daarom hebben wij het GRBAS-systeem uitgebreid met zes parameters ("Extended" GRBAS-systeem). In **Hoofdstuk 2** worden de perceptieve kenmerken van ADSD onderzocht met behulp van dit "Extended" GRBAS-systeem en wordt de reproduceerbaarheid hiervan geëvalueerd.

Om het profiel van de stemkwaliteit te kwantificeren werden zevenenzeventig patiënten met ADSD onafhankelijk gescoord door drie ervaren luisteraars. De meest voorkomende kenmerken waren: "strain", "staccato", "asthenia", "vocal fry" en "tremor". Door middel van cluster analyse konden vier verschillende perceptieve "types" van ADSD onderscheiden worden. De overeenstemming (intra- en interbeoordelaar) onder acht minder ervaren luisteraars bleek redelijk tot goed. Uit dit onderzoek is gebleken dat het "Extended" GRBAS-systeem gebruikt kan worden voor een accurate en reproduceerbare perceptieve beoordeling van patiënten met ADSD. Bovendien konden hiermee vier clusters van ADSD geïdentificeerd worden met significante verschillen in stemkwaliteit en demografische kenmerken. Nader onderzoek zal moeten uitwijzen wat de betekenis hiervan is.

**Hoodstuk 3**. De eerste keuze van behandeling van dysphonia spastica is een injectie met botuline toxine (Botox®) in de m. thyroarytenoideus. Tot nu toe was er geen overtuigend bewijs of een één- dan wel een tweezijdige injectie de voorkeur moest hebben. Daarom werd een prospectief onderzoek verricht waarbij de stemkwaliteit, de werkingsduur en bijwerkingen werden onderzocht.

Zevenentwintig patiënten met ADSD werden met percutane botuline toxine injecties behandeld. Bij de eerste behandeling werden 5 eenheden Botox<sup>®</sup> geïnjecteerd in de linker m. thyroarytenoideus. De tweede behandeling vond plaats wanneer het effect van de eerste volledig was verdwenen. Hierbij werden in beide kanten 2,5 eenheden Botox<sup>®</sup> geïnjecteerd. Alle patiënten ondergingen beide behandelingen. Gedurende tenminste 3 maanden werden de duur van het effect en de eventuele bijwerkingen door de patiënten bijgehouden op scoringslijsten.

Het bleek dat er geen verschillen waren tussen beide procedures wat betreft de duur van de stemverbetering en het voorkomen van een hese en zwakke stem. Na een tweezijdige inspuiting werden er door meer patiënten slikproblemen vermeld:

**Hoofdstuk 1**, de algemene inleiding, bestaat uit drie onderdelen. In het eerste gedeelte wordt het belang van een intacte verbale communicatie beschreven voor normale intermenselijke relaties. Dit proefschrift richt zich op een zeldzame stemstoornis, waarbij primair het spreken gestoord is en daarmee de intermenselijke communicatie: adductor dysphonia spastica (ADSD).

In het tweede deel wordt een uitgebreid literatuuroverzicht gegeven, waarin de geschiedenis, symptomatologie, epidemiologie, diagnostiek en therapeutische mogelijkheden beschreven worden. Gedurende tientallen jaren is ADSD beschouwd als een psychogene stemstoornis. Tegenwoordig wordt echter algemeen aangenomen dat het een neurologische aandoening is, waarvan de oorzaak nog onbekend is. Zeer waarschijnlijk betreft het hier een laryngeale dystonie, die gepaard gaat met veel psychische en lichamelijke klachten. De behandeling van ADSD is symptomatisch: injecties met botuline toxine.

In het derde gedeelte van de inleiding worden de doelstellingen van dit proefschrift beschreven:

- > het ten behoeve van de diagnostiek definiëren van perceptieve karakteristieken van ADSD
- > het bepalen van de optimale stemkwaliteit en stemfunctie na behandeling met botuline toxine injecties
- > onderzoek naar het effect van botuline toxine injecties op de kwaliteit van leven
- > onderzoek naar de pathofysiologie van ADSD

Chapter 7

Chapter 7

desondanks prefereerden de meesten een tweezijdige injectie, gezien de subjectief betere stemkwaliteit.

In **Hoofdstuk 4** wordt de werkzaamheid van botuline toxine injecties in patiënten met adductor dysphonia spastica onderzocht aan de hand van drie verschillende modaliteiten: perceptieve en akoestische analyse en subjectieve beoordeling door de patiënt. Hierbij werden de waarden voor en na de behandeling met elkaar vergeleken en de laatste werd vergeleken met de waarden van gezonde vrijwilligers zonder stemklachten. In tegenstelling tot de meeste andere onderzoeken werd de toestand na behandeling gedefiniëerd als het beste stemresultaat dat tot dan toe bereikt werd. Het doel van het onderzoek was om na te gaan in hoeverre botuline toxine injecties daadwerkelijk de stemkwaliteit en functie verbeterden.

Na behandeling met Botox<sup>®</sup> injecties beoordeelden alle patiënten hun stem als significant verbeterd. De resultaten vielen echter nooit binnen de normaalwaarden. Ook perceptief was er een significante verbetering van de stemkwaliteit. Hoewel minder ernstig, bleef de stem afwijkend van karakter na de Botox<sup>®</sup> injecties. Akoestische analyses lieten een zelfde verbetering zien. Desalniettemin bleef de "optimaal" behandelde ADSD-stem significant verschillend ten opzichte van de normale stemgeving.

Tot nu toe zijn botuline toxine injecties de behandeling van eerste keuze voor dysphonia spastica. Hoewel er een significante verbetering is bij zowel perceptieve en akoestische analyse als bij subjectieve beoordeling van de stem, wordt een "optimaal" behandelde ADSD-stem toch niet helemaal normaal wat betreft stemkwaliteit en functie.

Adductor dysphonia spastica is een controversiële en raadselachtige stemstoornis. Algemeen wordt aangenomen dat het een neurologische aandoenig is, waarvan de oorzaak onbekend is en dat het met veel psychische en lichamelijke klachten gepaard gaat. In **Hoofdstuk 5** wordt een onderzoek beschreven waarin met behulp van psychometrische tests enkele persoonlijkheidskenmerken en het psychisch en lichamelijk welbevinden van 46 patiënten met ADSD onderzocht wordt. Tevens wordt het effect van de botuline toxine behandeling op hun algemeen welbevinden geëvalueerd.

Met betrekking tot zeven persoonlijkheidskenmerken werden geen significante verschillen gevonden tussen de patiëntengroep en een representatieve normgroep. Voor de behandeling werden er echter significant meer psychische en lichamelijke klachten gemeten. Nadat de stem met botuline toxine injecties optimaal behandeld was, namen de klachten af tot waarden binnen de normaal waarden. Dit suggereert dat deze klachten secundair waren aan de stemstoornis. Deze bevindingen en de normale persoonlijkheidskenmerken maken de hypothese dat adductor dysphonia spastica een psychogene origine heeft, minder waar-schijnlijk.

**Hoofdstuk 6**. Adductor dysphonia spastica is gedurende lange tijd gezien als een psychogene stemstoornis. Tegenwoordig wordt het beschouwd als een focale dystonie. Met die aanname zouden er bij transcraniële magnetische stimulatie (TMS) aanwijzingen kunnen zijn voor corticale hyperexcitabiliteit. Helaas is de larynxmusculatuur niet toegankelijk voor TMS. Bij andere focale dystonieën, zijn er echter bilateraal afwijkingen gevonden, hetgeen een gegeneraliseerde hyperexcitabiliteit suggereert.

Op basis hiervan is bij 21 patiënten met ADSD en 16 controles, met overeenkomstige leeftijd, geslacht en dominante hemisfeer TMS verricht, waarbij de activiteit gemeten werd aan de m. abductor digiti minimi. De excitabiliteit werd gekwantificeerd met de latentietijd, amplitude, centrale geleidingstijd en amplitude ratio gemeten voor alle intensiteiten aan de hand van stimulus-responscurven en met de "silent-period".

Tussen beide groepen werden geen siginificante verschillen gemeten. De latentie tijden waren echter korter en de amplitude ratio's hoger in de patiënten groep. Hoewel suggestief, kon in dit onderzoek niet aangetoond worden dat ADSD als een focale dystonie gezien zou moeten worden. Een mogelijke verklaring hiervoor is dat de stoornis, die het aansturingsmechanisme van de larynx compromitteert, die van de handmusculatuur ongemoeid laat. Hoewel er geen bewijs werd verkregen dat dysphonia spastica een focale dystonie is, kon deze hypothese met dit onderzoek ook niet ontkracht worden.

## Final comments

On brins hey an it bil 21 caranten mit 4(50 m 10 colorate, m.d. pronest consister exities proverte en commany hantafeor FMS rement weardy in adhibits consister weat and du m obdoclet dign minom. The community war getway these interactions du m obdoclet dign minom. The community war getway these and are brondichet, implifiede, contrale geteichestigt on antipate after comment out of brondichet, implifiede, contrale geteichestigt on antipate after contrale participation and de filmed van attraction reponserum to met do faired out of

Ensure parte property permits per appropriate velocities generating perients for specific filters internet estima within an all braitfacts relative regim to de petienters troop frames religented can word onterview view requirement within the AGSO as the format following permit and tournees within the relative period is that del statemes and her intertaining meeting in any of lines patienters of war to forefrace plantar any frances of the Hotelers' no relative period of war to forefrace plantar any period of the Hotelers' no relative period word with regim of departements and the intertaining meeting is that any of the polytometrics and departement statements per focular contains is start date typologies and dimension and departements and other touchers.



the disorder and tends to invite the ever-convenient label: "psychogenic voice disorder".

A second intriguing observation is the psychological relief that occurred when patients were informed about their diagnosis. For the first time their affliction had been recognized and had been given a name. After so many years they finally knew the origin of their suffering: a chronic, organic disease instead of a psychogenic, stigmatizing disorder. The diagnosis gave substantial psychological relief to many patients before any treatment was given.

A third striking feature is the high success rate of botulinum toxin therapy in relation to the gravity of the disorder. For many years ADSD had been an incurable and devastating voice disorder. With the introduction of botulinum toxin injections in almost all ADSD patients voice improvement could be established. Although a long-lasting, normal voice can never be achieved, most patients can again function as normal individuals. Moreover, although the voice deteriorates in course of time (due to the mode of action of botulinum toxin) the patients' well-being generally will not. It is probable that the prospect of improvement after another injection of botulinum toxin provides therm with enough confidence to remain wellbalanced, both psychologically and physically.

A fourth remarkable phenomenon of ADSD and botulinum toxin treatment is that unilateral and bilateral thyroarytenoid injections both result in the same efficacy. After a unilateral injection the spasms will disappear in the opposite side as well. This cannot be explained by local diffusion of the botulinum toxin into the not injected muscle. This strongly suggests that the beneficial response of the botulinum toxin in the treatment of ADSD, is attributed to modulation of the afferent input to the central nervous system.

The current treatment of choice for spasmodic dysphonia is botulinum toxin injection. On the other hand, the preliminary results of the midline lateralization thyroplasty as proposed by Isshiki (2000) are promising. In this procedure the excessive tight closure of the glottis on phonation is diminished. In the past several (comparable) surgical techniques to reduce the vocal cord overpressure have been employed, without permanent success. Long-term follow-up of Isshiki's midline lateralization thyroplasty is needed to answer the question: "Could surgery ultimately be more successful than botulinum toxin injections?"

Verbal expression, on which normal communication relies, is fundamental for human relationships. Impaired communication often results in withdrawal from social life and isolation. One of the main characteristic features of ADSD is impaired verbal expression and as a result, communication. In addition, many spasmodic dysphonia patients are regarded as having a psychogenic disorder, enhancing their feelings of frustration, depression and anxiety. Due to the botulinum toxin treatment, their voice quality and function was improved and communication restored. The burden of the impaired voice was lifted and the psychogenic stigma resolved. As a result of this symptomatic treatment, patients again perceived themselves as normal functioning, fully integrated members of society.

Reflecting on this bizarre and enigmatic disorder, several striking features can be recognized. First, the differences in clinical presentation. One of the mainstays in the diagnostic process of spasmodic dysphonia is the analysis of perceptual symptoms. Although a strained-strangled, staccato voice is a defining feature of ADSD, four different voice clusters could be identified, all representing adductor spasmodic dysphonia. In addition, from observation it has become clear that the voice also varies during different tasks and in different situations. Patients may whisper or speak in falsetto in an attempt to escape from the strained-strangled, staccato voice, thus masking their dystonia and hampering diagnosis. Therefore, as was already suggested by Drost (1996), spasmodic dysphonia is the chameleon among the voice disorders. This heterogeneity leads to difficulties in identifying

## Acknowledgements

The research presented in this thesis was performed at the ENT Department of the Leiden University Medical Center. I am indebted to all who have contributed to this research project and to the realization of this thesis. I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation especially to:

Marika Voerman and Maya van Rossum,

the staff secretaries: Pauline, Marianne, Simone, and Petra,

the Judges in Chapter 2,

Els Drost, Robert Takes, Jaap Bruynen, Rienk Post, Milène Raming,

those who took the trouble to read and re-read previous versions of the work presented here,

of course 'My' patients,

but above all Denise for her support and patience.

Non to this asympt of the disorder. For many years ADSD had been an incurable and the contains years of locates. With the introduction of both main form limitians in another Al ANSD patients views introduction of the estimated with range a long leading, manual value call needs for activities, must extend on a upon more poor as normal individuose. Moreover, ethicular, the vote obtained in these main poor as normal individuose. Moreover, ethicular, the vote obtained in these main the data to the more of activity of the transmission of a patient of the sector inter (data to the more of activity for the patients) of a patient of the sector with value to the more of activity for with any sector of intervention with the sector of a patient of activity and the products (for with any set of the realistic reprtation of biointains) for the products (for with any set of the contents of the realistic of the production of the products (for with any set of the realistic of the realistic real products) and the products (for with any set realistic of the realistic of the product of the products) and the realistic real call of the realistic production (for with any set).

A fourth remarkable pharements of ADSD and betwinners town treatment is that emborred, and vinctorial threasystemic intervients built react in the same efficance will be a problemal meeting the quarter will treappear in the opportunity and an weafine connect re-expension by look diffusion of the column roads who the total millichet multiple. The decepty regionse that the beneficial responde of the bolickment roads in the final meeting of ADSD, is alterabled at meeting in of the alternation ment roads in the final meeting.

No transitional contract of chains for generations. (represents is bolitimum toom layer too the transition band, one generations of the contract paters (submit the second contract on particle (2000) and particles of the contract on the particles of bill conversed by battle (2000) and particles of entries encodered to the particles of bill converse of the platter on proceeding to entries on order on the particles of the platter of the platter of the platter of the contract on the particles of the platter of the platter of the platter of the contract on the particles of the platter of the platter of the platter of the contract on the platter of the platter of the platter of the platter of the contract of the contract of the platter of the platter of the platter of the contract of the platter of the contract of the platter of the platter

### Curriculum Vitae

Ton Langeveld was born in Leiden on September 29th, 1962. He attended the Fioretti College in Lisse (Gymnasium B). Subsequently, from 1981 he studied medicine at the University of Leiden. After obtaining his medical degree in 1989, he worked as resident at the departments of General Surgery at the Bergweg-ziekenhuis, Rotterdam and the University Hospital Maastricht. From 1991 to 1996 he specialized in Otorhinolaryngology at the University Hospital Leiden. During this time he started the research which is described in this thesis. In 1996 and 1997 he worked as a clinical fellow in head and neck oncology in the Daniël den Hoed Kliniek, Rotterdam. Since then, he has been employed as staff-member at the department of Otorhinolaryngology of the Leiden University Medical Center.

The publication of this thesis was financially supported by:

Allergan BV, GlaxoSmithKline, Carl Zeiss BV, Entermed BV, Van der Tol medische apparaten VOF, Pentax Benelux, Astra-Zeneca BV, Mediprof, EMD Doesburg, Artu BV, Stryker Howmedica, Medtronic Xomed, Janssen-Cilag BV, UCB Pharma BV, Dedato Designers and Architects.

#### Stellingen

behorende bij het proefschrift

Adductor Spasmodic Dysphonia

The publication of this threat with finitearity supported by Abstran BV, GlavoSmithRice, Cell Zose BV, Estermine BV, Will der Schmerzegen assoreten VOT, Ferfax Brimoux, Attre-Zeroca BV, Medipio, CMT, Dos aug, Anto BV, Stoffer Hawmedice, Miniform, Koned, Jahrson-Cilley ZV, 1458 Minime BV, Broute Designers and Armitecte.

- Alle geavanceerde technologieën ten spijt vormt de perceptieve analyse van de stem nog steeds de hoeksteen van de diagnostiek bij dysphonia spastica. (dit proefschrift)
- 2 Het effect van een unilaterale botuline toxine injectie op de contralaterale larynxhelft ondersteunt de hypothese dat bij dysphonia spastica de centrale verwerking van het afferente systeem gestoord is. (*dit proefschrift*)
- 3 Not all bizarre and variable voice disorders should be ascribed to the psyche. *(dit proefschrift)*
- 4 De optimaal behandelde stem van een patiënt met dysphonia spastica is niet normaal. (*dit proefschrift*)
- 5 C'est (le) Ton qui fait la musique. (dit proefschrift)
- 6 Fluisteren is niet slecht voor de stem.
- 7 Stemrust na een stemverbeterende ingreep dient vooral de gemoedsrust van de dokter.
- 8 Op basis van de huidige gegevens is er onvoldoende aanleiding om de techniek van het 'sluderen op de kap' te verlaten.
- 9 Kanker is de keerzijde van de evolutie.
- 10 Although patients are the first and obvious victims of medical mistakes, doctors are wounded by the same errors: they are the second victims. (Albert W Wu, BMJ 2000;320:726-7)
- 11 Het waarborgen van de privacy van de patiënt is een groot goed. Echter, de interpretatie hiervan door regelgevers is een depreciatie van het basale vertrouwen tussen arts en patiënt, een nodeloze hinderpaal voor efficiënte gezondheidszorg en de genadeklap voor diverse vormen van patiëntgebonden wetenschappelijk onderzoek.
- 12 'Collateral damage' is, mits op tijd gesignaleerd en juist geïnterpreteerd, een onmisbare katalysator van vooruitgang van de geneeskunde. (*RJ Baatenburg de Jong, Je stem of je leven, oratie 1999*)
- 13 Tijdens het motorrijden zijn geestelijke vrijheid en lichamelijke kwetsbaarheid in een wankel evenwicht.

© A.P.M. Langeveld, 2001. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form, by photocopy, print, microfilm, or by any means without written permission of the author.

ISBN: 90-9014643-1

Ontwerp: Dedato Europe bv Druk: DrukGoed

© A.P.M. Langeveld, 2001. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form, by photocopy, print, microfilm, or by any means without written permission of the author.

ISBN: 90-9014643-1

Ontwerp: Dedato Europe by Druk: DrukGoed